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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE "STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of ZZ
Technology Group Company Limited F1E R E B (7GR A Al
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

Should there be any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail, except for the business review and outlook under
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, for which the Chinese version shall prevail.
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ZZ Technology Group Company Limited FRIERHTEE R D BRE A
7] (formerly known as Zhongjin Technology Services Group
Company Limited # &R ERBEERHBER A F) (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
"Group”) (Stock Code: 08295) is an investment holding company
with its headquarter based in Hong Kong. It was established in
2010 and is listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Group has acquired KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine")
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “KingNine Group”) on 15
October 2020 (the "Acquisition”), which constituted a very
substantial acquisition and connected transaction of the Company
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The KingNine Group’s
principal activities include the provision of the following services in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"):

(@)  Back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres);

(b)  Comprehensive marketing services; and

(c) Data centre services.

The Group’s another subsidiary, ZZCl Credit Limited, holds a
money lenders licence, where the Group can complement its
financial services capabilities by providing finance against

marketable securities.

Further information about the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.zztech-group.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the 2021/2022 annual report of
7Z Technology Group Company Limited FRiERHSEE RN B A
Al (formerly known as Zhongjin Technology Services Group
Company Limited R &R ERBEBERMDER 2 A]) (the
“Company”),and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year“/the “Reporting Period”).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, the Group completed the following acquisitions:

1. 51% equity interest in both Qingdao Jinliang Technology
Co., Ltd.* (B E&=RHZAR A F]) (“Jinliang Technology”)
at a cash consideration of RMB1.02 million and Jiuqgi
Technology (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.* (JUERHE (M) BRA
A]) ("Jiugi Technology”) at a cash consideration of RMB1.02
million. Jinliang Technology and its subsidiaries principally
engaged in new media advertising business and platform
certification business in the PRC. Jiugi Technology and its
subsidiaries principally engaged in live broadcast operation
and education training business in the PRC. These
companies have been accounted for as subsidiaries of the
Group since the completion of the acquisitions.

2. 20% equity interest in Guangzhou Kunyuan Culture Media
Co., Ltd.* (B3T3 b E RSB R A F]) (“Guangzhou
Kunyuan”) at a cash consideration of RMB6 million.
Guangzhou Kunyuan principally engaged in short video
content production and related services business. This
investment has been accounted for as interest in an
associate of the Group since the completion of the
acquisition.

Subsequently, in order to further integrate the Group's resources,
the Group disposed a certain part of the equity interests in Jinliang
Technology and Jiugi Technology. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group held 15% equity interests in Jinliang Technology and 15%
equity interests in Jiugi Technology.

*  For Identification purposes only
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In addition, for the investment in Guangzhou Kunyuan, the Group
has signed the Equity Sale Agreement, which is expected to be
completed by the end of June 2022. After the completion of the
sale, the Group will hold 3% equity interests in Guangzhou
Kunyuan.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 10 August 2021
published by the Company, it entered into an equity transfer
agreement with certain independent third parties as the
purchasers (the “Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company
agreed to sell, and the Purchasers agreed to purchase the entire
equity interest in Corporate Wise Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, at a total consideration of
approximately HK$17.24 million. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 10 August 2021 for details.
The completion of this transaction had been taken place on 22
October 2021 and since then the Group ceased to have any equity
interest in Corporate Wise Limited.

Save as aforementioned, the Group had no significant investments
held, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the Year.

Profit Guarantee

As disclosed in the announcement dated 10 September 2020 and
the circular dated 18 September 2020 (the “Circular”) published
by the Company, it entered into a share purchase deed on 10
September 2020 (the “Share Purchase Deed”) with regard to the
acquisition of the entire issued capital of KingNine Holdings
Limited (“KingNine"”) (the “Acquisition”). Unless otherwise defined
herein, all capitalized terms used in this report shall have same
meanings as those defined in the Circular.

Mr. Hu Shilong and Ms. Liu Yingying (the “Guarantors”) have
undertaken to the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Deed
that the audited consolidated net profit attributable to the equity
holders of KingNine in accordance with HKFRS for any given profit
guarantee period would not be less than the guaranteed profit in
respect of such profit guarantee period. The Company has
undertaken to the Guarantors that subject to the compliance of all
applicable laws and regulations (including the GEM Listing Rules
and the directors’ fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and
diligence), it would use reasonable endeavours to procure the
directors of Dalian Kingwisoft nominated by it to act in the
interests of the Group as a whole during the entire profit
guarantee period.
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In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April 2019
and ended on 31 March 2020, the audited consolidated net profit
attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with
HKFRS was approximately RMB65.3 million, and is more than the
Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB60
million). In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April
2020 and ended on 31 March 2021, the audited consolidated net
profit attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance
with HKFRS was approximately RMB93.6 million, and is more than
the Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e.
RMB90 million). In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced
on 1 April 2021 and ended on 31 March 2022, the audited
consolidated net profit attributable to the equity holders of
KingNine in accordance with HKFRS was approximately RMB134.3
million, and is more than the Guaranteed Profit in respect of this
Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB120 million).

BUSINESS REVIEW

2021 is a challenging year and an extraordinary year in the post-
pandemic era. We show courage in difficult circumstances, and
hard work leads to success. We actively faced and adapted to the
severe market environment, and insisted on improving client
satisfaction and seeking healthy and sustainable business
development. We focused on key strategic areas of enterprise
services, maintained our leading superiority, enhanced professional
service capabilities and scaled up businesses, reduced costs and
increased efficiency, and continued to innovate and apply
technology to provide clients with more diversified and higher-
quality services.

The revenue and profit from our primary businesses showed a
good growth trend. KingNine Holdings Limited, the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, “KingNine Group”), posted revenue of RMB807.2
million for the Year, a year-on-year increase of 59.5%. The
consolidated net profit attributable to equity holders of KingNine
Group for the Year was RMB134.3 million.
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The back-office services of KingNine Group have been advancing
steadily, with further consolidated leading position in many
advantageous fields, such as the Internet and operators. KingNine
Group saw revenue of RMB694.4 million from back-office services,
accounting for 80.2% of the total revenue. Revenue in the
intelligent data solution business rose 37.3% year on year,
marking a robust growth. In the meantime, we continuously
improved our innovative business and saw an explosive growth in
revenue in integrated Internet marketing business, with the scale
hitting RMB91.3 million.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s top ten clients remained
basically stable. The Group has been keeping moderately growing
business relationships with clients who are leading companies in
sectors, such as Internet mobility, finance & securities, e-commerce
and community group buying. In addition, a world-leading
Internet technology company has become one of its top ten
clients. Meanwhile, the Group has achieved breakthrough in
Internet marketing services. The technology company engaged in
digital content and digital marketing services was ranked among
the top ten clients of the Group. In terms of expansion of new
clients and new businesses, the Group has acquired a number of
clients in the field of Internet marketing services. In the field of
client services, a leading Chinese lifestyle service provider
operating with the OTA model and a world-leading Al high-tech
company have become clients of the Group. Besides, it has begun
to provide diversified client services for a number of joint-stock
commercial banks and city commercial banks. The Group has
established new business partnerships in more cities with a major
Chinese telecom operator that it has been serving for many years.
During the Reporting Period, the number of clients increased by
203 from 125 at the beginning of the year to 328. At the same
time, the Group secured more business orders from existing
clients.

o B s S o3 1T

KingNine &2 Bl /)18 & IR TS £ IS S HEE - LG 5
W EEEERLEL AN EE UL —FE
18 B IRISWA B AR 694,400,000 7T  fhE
BB ARI80.2% « BEE BRI T BREBKAR
BEREERE BREXFREBERT37.3% - AR
BRMMBIFEBNREFERA  EBHAELE
HEBNEESRBERMEE  £KAEREIA
R #591,300,000 T °

WEBA - AEBA T RABPEARERETE - B
THEREODHALT SREF ETREE -
HEEBSEERENELHNNEREFFER
PEAMNEFBERIN —RUERBLEH DB AR
BAREAR+REF 2 - RSARNEBEEEE
FEHREBEISRE - REPANE —KET
NARBFTEHEREOERHEAREBEAR AR
FAR -EHBFPMMERHEIE - AEBE
BEEREHERSESENTZREF  EXFR
A —RP BB EEREIBOTABA D -
—RERELHARERRAREKNALEENE
F - RARAZRBROHBEERIT  HWRERT
REZEENEPREES  LHE-—REED L
REZFNTREEISHBEELHES LM
BTHNEBAE - REHREFEE N 0203
R HFEVINI125RENE 328K @ FF - AEEH
HFEERFtHEE TEZMEIFIE -




77 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED =5 Rk 45 F B4 A B A ] °
2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4 #

Management Discussion and Analysis

Vo 22 kL 2

o P 5t A o

In 2021, amid the ongoing global pandemic, the global economic 20214 » 2EEIBNEHE BE - R HE
recovery lacked momentum, and the external environment B/ H7R2E - 9I\ﬁBf§iﬁEt%§ﬁ?ﬁ)§_§ﬂﬁ%ﬂTﬁE;ﬁ
became more complex, severe and uncertain. The client service  KingNine E BTN R P RGITEMTH T —F

industry in which KingNine Group operates was hit to some
extent. Relying on its deep experience in software development, IT
security and data centre operation and orderly environmental
management capability, KingNine Group actively innovated,
worked closely with clients and followed governments’ pandemic
prevention and control requirements. It took some positive and
effective measures, including pandemic prevention and control in
the workplace, flexible working arrangements (including working
from home) and business interoperability in the workplace, which
help it operate its businesses smoothly. It maintained steady
growth with existing customers while securing new incremental
markets from new customers. The business connotation and value
have been further enhanced. The robust business performance
during the Reporting Period proves that our business model is
extremely resilient and able to quickly adapt to and optimise
operations to promote the long-term sustainable and healthy
development of the Company.

KingNine Group, which has always adhered to independent
innovation and research and development, focuses on the
innovation in artificial intelligence and big data technologies and
their integration with and application in business scenarios, with
positive results achieved. During the Reporting Period, it obtained
29 new software copyrights in client service technology, data
centre operation and maintenance technology, operation
management platform and so forth that are closely related to the
Company’s businesses. KingNine Group obtained 2 invention
patents and 163 software copyrights on an aggregate basis. It
started to work on the strategy of developing quality and
productivity tools in the field of digital marketing. Three
companies, Shenzhen Kingwisoft, Qingdao Nanyou and
Kingwisoft Network, were selected as technology-based SMEs.
Dalian Kingwisoft has been certified as a high-tech enterprise in
2021. It is the third time that it has been certified as a high-tech
enterprise since 2015. Dalian Kingwisoft has also been recognised
for its brand reputation and influence. After winning the title of
Gazelle Enterprise in Liaoning Province in 2019, it was rated as a
20-year Excellent Enterprise in the Software Industry in Liaoning
Province during the Reporting Period, was nominated for the 8th
Dalian Mayor’s Quality Award, and was honoured as a Top 20
Enterprise in the Mature Stage — Innovation Points of Enterprises
in Dalian High-tech Industrial Zone for 2020.
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In addition, KingNine Group built self-operated contact service
centres in Shenyang, Liaoyang, Xi‘an, Lu’an, Puyang and Jinzhou
during the Reporting Period, and expanded such self-operated
contact service centres in Xiangyang, Mianyang, Dalian and other
cities, bringing the total number of completed workstations in 23
self-operated contact service centres to 11,881, an increase of
5,188 workstations compared to 6,693 workstations as of 31
March 2021.

KingNine Group attaches great importance to human resources
management, and its employees are widely dispatched to self-
operated contact service centres. The Group has designed a dual-
channel employee career development approach. Centring on
learners, it drew up appropriate special training programmes to
meet employees’ needs for career development and value
realisation. Through the development of internal talents and the
introduction of external talents, the Company has built a
reasonably-equipped, high-performance and high-quality
professional team to provide talent guarantee to support its
business development. Besides, the Company continuously
optimised and scientifically selected and trained leading talents to
improve its cadre reserve.

During the Report Period, the Group disposed part of shares of
Qingdao Jinliang Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jinliang Technology”) in
order to further integrate the Group’s resources. With the
completion of the disposal, the Group holds 15% of shareholding
in Jinliang Technology.

With the completion of the disposal of the entire equity interests
in Corporate Wise Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, took place on 22 October 2021, the Group ceased to
engage in the provision of corporate advisory services, investment
advisory and asset management services. In addition, the loan
receivables of the Group have been received in full during the
Year. The Group no longer carries on the business of financial
services segment including money lending. The results of the
financial services segment have been classified as discontinued
operations of the Group during the Year and the comparative
information for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been
re-presented accordingly.
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Financial Review
Results of the Group

Following the completion of the acquisition of KingNine Group on
15 October 2020, this is the first year the Group consolidated the
whole year financial results of KingNine Group, whereas the
Group consolidated the financial results of KingNine Group for
around 5.5 months from 15 October 2020 to 31 March 2021 in
the last financial year. As such, income and expenses of the Group
had increased in general compared to the last financial year.

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB865.7 million
for the Year (2021: approximately RMB264.4 million), representing
227% increase as compared to that of last financial year. Such
significant increase was mainly attributable to the revenue
generated from the provision of value-added telecommunication
and related services in the PRC after the completion of the
acquisition of the KingNine Group in October 2020.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services is as
follows:
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During the Year, the Group incurred cost of services of
approximately RMB678.6 million (2021: RMB181.2 million) for the
provision of value added telecommunication and related services
business. Cost of services primarily consisted of staff costs,
subcontracting fees, rental expenses, depreciation and
amortisation.

Net other income for the Year was approximately RMB31.7 million
(2021: approximately RMB35.1 million).

During the year, the Group recorded a gain from derecognition of
financial assets measured at amortised costs at approximately
RMB13.9 million as a customer agreed to settle its accounts
receivable balance by issuing shares of fair value at approximately
RMB13.9 million to the Group.

The Group incurred marketing, research and development
expenses of approximately RMB37.3 million (2021: RMB9.8
million) in aggregate during the Year. Such cost and expenses
were incurred for the provision of value-added telecommunication
and related services business.

Administrative expenses for the Year was approximately RMB87.7
million (2021: approximately RMB60.4 million). The increase was
mainly attributable to the increases in staff costs, amortisation of
intangible assets and depreciation as well as consolidation of the
KingNine Group’s expenses for full year.

During the Year, the Group incurred finance costs of
approximately RMB17.1 million (2021: approximately RMB6.4
million) which mainly consisted of interests on consideration
payable arising from the acquisition of KingNine Group, bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities.

The Group’s income tax expense for the Year was approximately
RMB12.9 million (2021: approximately RMB10.6 million) which
mainly consisted of provision of PRC Enterprise Income Tax of
approximately RMB13.7 million (2021: approximately RMB16.6
million) and deferred tax credit of approximately RMBO0.8 million
(2021: RMB6.0 million).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately RMB80.4 million, compared to the profit of
approximately RMB26.2 million for the last financial year.
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Basic earnings per share for the Year was approximately RMB1.92
cent (2021: approximately RMBO0.68 cent), while diluted earnings
per share for the Year was the same as basic earnings per share of
approximately RMB1.92 cent (2021: approximately RMBO0.68
cent).

The Group's total assets and liabilities increased during the Year
with continued expansion of the Group’s business. On the other
hand, the Group had settled the payment of tranche Il cash
consideration in the amount of RMB70 million for the acquisition
of KingNine Group which reduced both assets and liabilities by the
same amount of the payment. As a result, the Group's total assets
as at 31 March 2022 increased by approximately RMB158.7
million to approximately RMB1,574.1 million as compared with
approximately RMB1,415.4 million as at 31 March 2021. The total
liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2022 increased by
approximately RMB83.0 million to approximately RMB482.8
million as compared with approximately RMB399.8 million as at
31 March 2021. Net assets value as at 31 March 2022 was
approximately RMB1,091.3 million (31 March 2021: approximately
RMB1,015.6 million).

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a current ratio of 2.1 and a
gearing ratio of 12.9% (2021: 3.4 and 2.9%, respectively). The
gearing ratio is computed by dividing the Group’s bank and other
borrowings of approximately RMB140.8 million by the Group’s
equity of approximately RMB1,091.3 million. The Group’s
operation and investments were financed by internal resources
and borrowings.

For foreign currency risk, the Group will continue to monitor its
foreign currency exposure and will consider using hedging
instruments if available in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Capital structure

There was no material change in the Group’s capital structure
during the Year.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB1,071.1 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
approximately RMB999.9 million). This increase was mainly
attributable to profit recognised and the net movement in the
translation reserve during the Year.
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Commitments

The Group and the Company did not have any significant
commitment as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's bank borrowings were secured
by certain assets of the Group. Details of the Group’s pledges of
assets are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2022, the Group had 7,351 employees including
Directors (2021: 4,436 employees). Total staff cost (including
Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB402.2 million. Employees’ remuneration packages are decided
based on their job responsibilities, local market benchmarks and
industry trends. Employee discretionary bonus is distributable
according to the performance of the respective subsidiaries and
employees concerned.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2021: Nil).

Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

The Group will focus on premium corporate clients in the Internet
and finance sectors to diversify its categories of services and
strengthen our customers’ stickness, which in turn help the Group
to generate economics of scale and gain more market share.
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The Group will look into our business development and consider
acquiring or investing in relevant assets which form synergistic
effects with our principal business as and when appropriate.
Through the acquisition and investment, the Group can expand its
services categories and premium customer base and strengthen
our capability in research and development, which in turn identify
and meet demands from customers in a view to raise our core
competitiveness and profitability.

OUTLOOK

In 2022, under the strong leadership of the CPC Central
Committee with Xi Jinping at its core, authorities in all regions
effectively coordinated anti-pandemic efforts with economic and
social development. The country’s economy got off to a steady
start. Since mid-March, some cities in China have experienced
relatively severe COVID-19 outbreaks. Facing the complex situation
of changes unseen in a century and the unprecedented pandemic,
China has seen increasing complexity, severity and uncertainty in
economic development, and faced new challenges in stabilising
economic growth, employment and prices. However, the State
Council issued a circular urging the implementation of a package
of policy measures to stabilise the economy, and authorities at all
levels intensified their efforts and introduced a series of policies to
stabilise economic growth, which will effectively respond to the
downward pressure on the economy, consolidate the foundation
for economic recovery, focus on stabilising market players, and
firmly stabilise the economy. Efforts are made to achieve the
targets set for economic and social development for the year and
keep the economy operating within an appropriate range.

According to preliminary estimates, the GDP in the first quarter
reached RMB27,017.8 billion, a year-on-year increase of 4.8% at
constant prices. In general, China saw continuous economic
recovery in the first quarter and kept economic operations within
a reasonable range. The services sector continuously turned
around in the first quarter. In terms of industries, the value added
of information transmission, software and information technology
services, and the financial industry grew 10.8% and 5.1% year on
year, respectively.
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As KingNine Group's major clients are players from sectors such as
finance & securities, telecommunication operators and Internet,
they are expected to recover rapidly with the continued economic
recovery and the gradual rise of new endogenous momentum,
while the far-reaching impact of the pandemic on people’s
education, mobility and shopping will further promote the
booming development of Internet companies, which are expected
to bring KingNine Group’s business more opportunities for rapid
growth.

In this context, KingNine Group will pay close attention to the
impact of macro policies on its clients’ businesses, and maintain
close communication with clients. It will insist on business
innovation and service improvement with courage, responsibility,
perseverance and wisdom to develop its businesses, and take
diversified measures to make active responses. Meanwhile, it will
actively explore and seek new business opportunities in the
financial industry and livestreaming e-commerce, actively grasp
the good opportunities for business development, effectively
expand its business presence in China, and strengthen the building
of various long-term basic capabilities, so as to bring the Group
more stable revenue and profitability, thereby achieving sound
growth and enhancing shareholder value.

KingNine Group keeps working hard and opening up new
territories in the back-office services field. In addition to the
organic growth of orders from existing clients in the already
penetrated industries due to the business growth of clients, new
orders have been obtained in the operator service field and
traditional financial field, and from new leading Internet
companies. Among them, a major Chinese telecom operator has
started new business cooperation with the Group in several cities.
It has begun to provide diversified client services for a number of
joint-stock commercial banks and city commercial banks.
Meanwhile, a leading Chinese lifestyle service provider operating
with the OTA model and a world-leading Al high-tech company
have become clients of the Group. New businesses have been
launched in an orderly manner. KingNine Group will continuously
promote its participation in project tendering and implementation
to achieve revenue and profit contribution. At the same time,
KingNine Group has completed the construction of its self-
operated contact service centres in Puyang, Xiangyang, Xi‘an,
Jinzhou and other cities to provide support in terms of staff and
spaces for new orders.
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In terms of Internet marketing, KingNine Group is actively making
preparation in the field of livestreaming e-commerce and digital
marketing services, and fully integrating with its existing Internet
marketing promotion capabilities and experience. Meanwhile, the
Group has established technological presence in the field of digital
marketing, and is actively developing merchant quality and
productivity tools in relation to digital life and digital marketing,
becoming KingNine Group’s new growth momentum in B2B
enterprise services and livestreaming e-commerce, which has
helped the Group acquire several service clients, and achieve
constantly growing traffic placement targets month by month.
One technology company engaged in digital content and digital
marketing services was ranked among the top ten clients of the
Group.

As KingNine Group’s major clients are players in finance &
securities, operators and Internet industries, all these sectors will
recover quickly with the sustained economic recovery and the
gradual rise of new endogenous driving forces. Meanwhile, the
pandemic’s profound impact on people’s education, mobility,
shopping and so forth will further boost the vigorous development
of Internet companies, which is expected to bring more
opportunities for rapid growth for KingNine Group.

In this context, KingNine Group will pay close attention to the
impact of macro policies on its clients’ businesses, and maintain
close communication with clients. It will take diversified measures
to make active responses. Meanwhile, it will actively explore and
seek new business opportunities in the financial industry and
livestreaming e-commerce, actively grasp the good opportunities
for business development, and effectively expand its business
presence in China, so as to bring the Group more stable revenue
and profitability, thereby enhancing shareholder value.
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APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank the
management members of the Board and all employees of the
Group for their efforts and contributions to the promotion of the
development of the Group in the past year. We also extend our
sincere thanks to our Shareholders and partners for their
continued support and trust. At the same time, | would like to
express my sincere gratitude for the valuable advice, guidance and
support provided by other relevant organizations.

By Order of the Board

LIU Yang
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2022

o B s S o3 1T

&l

BB HERORHAREESTEEREK
EN2EETREFREEAKERERMTL
MENMELBMER - THRMNBRR LA EE
HREBEHNERIUARRESH S AN TIEE
ARBEBMEHNEESR - HERIFRE
BRAOAE

EEEZMm

HITEF
g%

A 202296 A821H




77, TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED H 48 #4442 B 4 A B A 5]

2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

PN AR B A

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NIU Zhanbin, aged 47, joined the Group in August 2019, is
an executive Director, the Chairman of the Board, the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and the member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He also holds several directorships in
certain other subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Niu is also a chief
operating officer and executive vice officer of Zhongzhi Enterprise
Group Co., Ltd. Zhongzhi Enterprise Group Co., Ltd. is a company
directly or indirectly held as to 76% by Mr. Xie Zhikun. Mr. Xie
Zhikun is the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Niu
also serves as an executive director of Rongyu Group Co., Ltd.
which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Niu worked in the Office of the Cyberspace Administration of
China (BIR BBt 4815 2 A =) from 2014 to 2017. He worked
in China Internet Network Information Centre (1 Bl B B 4848 = &
H L) from December 2017 to July 2019. He had participated in a
number of major research projects and has extensive management
experience in the fields including network infrastructure,
information and communication technology, digital economy and
fund investment in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). Mr.
Niu has been paying close attention to the development of the
internet industry in the PRC for a long time and has a thorough
thought on the development prospect of the industry. He has
established good relationships with well-known experts and
scholars, famous internet companies and major news media. Mr.
Niu obtained a bachelor of laws degree from Renmin University of
China in 1996 and a master of laws degree from China University
of Political Science and Law in 2012.
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Mr. LIU Yang, aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company in June 2022. Mr. Liu
is also a director of Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Liu has more than 10 years of experience in enterprise
management and investment. He has been working in &4 7&K
EIEAMR A A since 2013 and is currently its co-president. Mr. Liu
received a degree in management from Renmin University of
China in 2008.

Mr. WU Hui, aged 39, joined the Group in November 2018 as
the chief operating officer and has been appointed as an executive
Director, the compliance officer, and an authorized representative
of the Company since August 2019. He is also holds several
directorships in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wu has over 10 years of experience in internal control and
management of financial corporates. He has worked in FF1E& 7&K
EEAEMRA7A] since 2016 and is currently holding the post of its
supervisor. He is also the supervisor of EMNFTEARERARA
Al and FAEEABELEERBMR AT He is also the director
of Kang Bank Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited and Tian Xi Capital
Company Limited, the substantial shareholders of the Company.
Mr. Wu obtained a master of management degree from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in 2008.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, aged 68, joined the Group in June
2016 as an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
the chairman of the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Markscheid is chief financial officer of Childwise International,
an early childhood educator training company. He is currently an
independent director of Fanhua Financial Holdings Group,
JinkoSolar Holdings Limited, UGE Inc. and Monterey Capital
Acquisition Corporation. Fanhua Financial Holdings Group and
Monterey Capital Acquisition Corporation are listed on the Nasdaq
Stock Exchange ("NASDAQ"), while JinkoSolar Holdings Limited is
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), and UGE is
listed in Canada. Mr. Markscheid also served as a directorfor
China Integrated Energy Corporation(formerly a NASDAQ listed
company) and China Mingyang Wind Power Group Co., Ltd. (a
former NYSE listed company). He is also a trustee of Princeton in
Asia. From 1998 to 2006, Mr. Markscheid worked for GE Capita
("GE"). During his tenure at GE, he led GE’s business development
efforts in China and Asia Pacific, primarily acquisitions and direct
investments. Before joining GE, Mr. Markscheid worked at Boston
Consulting Group throughout Asia. Mr. Markscheid has worked in
London, Chicago, New York, Hong Kong and Beijing for ten years
with commercial banks Chase Bank and First National Bank of
Chicago, and has many years of professional experience in the
financial services industry. Mr. Markscheid received his Bachelor of
Arts degree from Princeton University in 1976 and his Master of
International Affairs degree from Johns Hopkins University in
1980.

Mr. ZHANG Weidong, aged 57, joined the Group in July 2016 as
an independent non-executive director of the Company, the
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.
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Mr. Zhang was the executive director of OP Financial Investments
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
01140) and a partner of Oriental Patron Financial Group primarily
responsible for private equity investments. Mr. Zhang has over 14
years of experience in the operation and management of
commercial banking, during which he worked in the international
business department of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China Limited (“ICBC") with final position level as deputy general
manager of department, including 3 years in ICBC Almaty Branch,
where he was in charge of treasury, credit lending and office
operations. Moreover, Mr. Zhang has 12 years of investment
banking experience, served as executive director of ICEA Finance
Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC) and managing
director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings, responsible for
corporate finance and sales department respectively. He is also an
independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port Development
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03382) whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and founding partner and
president of Alpha Win Capital Limited. Mr. Zhang holds a master
degree from Renmin University in Economics, a diploma of
Programme for Management Development of Harvard Business
School and held a fellowship from Columbia University in New
York.

Mr. ZENG Liang, aged 48, joined the Group in April 2021 as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company.

Mr. Zeng is a well-known Internet entrepreneur and angel
investor. He has extensive experience in strategic planning,
business development and operation management in industries
such as digital marketing, mobile Internet and artificial intelligence
applications. Mr. Zeng served as senior vice president of Kingdee
International Software Group Company Limited from 2003 to
2010. He worked for Microsoft as vice president of Greater China
Region from 2010 to 2013 and was responsible for the
development of government, education and medical industries in
the region. From 2013 to 2017, he held several executive positions
including vice president of Baidu Inc. and general manager of
Baidu Nuomi. Mr. Zeng obtained Master of Science both in
Management and in Engineering from Georgia Institute of
Technology in USA. In addition, he holds another Master of
Science in Engineering degree from Tsinghua University in Beijing.
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CO-CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. HU Shilong, aged 40, joined Dalian Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd.* (REZEREBERHBRAF) (“DalLian
Kingwisoft”) as legal representative and general manager in
January 2014 and has been appointed as the co-chief executive
officer of the Company since October 2021. He is now a director
and the chairman of the board of Dalian Kingwisoft. DalLian
Kingwisoft became the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary on
15 October 2020. Mr. Hu also serves as a director of certain other
subsidiaries of the Company. He engaged in operation and
management in Shanghai HewlettPackard Co., Ltd. (Dalian
branch)* (B8R EBR AT (KEHAF]) )from 2004 to 2008.
Mr. Hu served as China regional sales manager of Neusoft Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.* CREXERHZABR A F (formerly known as
Neusoft IT Service Co., Ltd.* (REZERIMREARAA)) in
China from 2008 to 2013.

In 2019, Mr. Hu was included as a scientific and technological
innovation and entrepreneurship talent in the Innovative Talents
Promotion Program of the Ministry of Science and Technology of
the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Hu was honoured as an
Excellent Entrepreneur in Liaoning Province in 2020 and one of
the 20th anniversary Outstanding Entrepreneur in Liaoning'’s
Software Industry. He has more than a decade of marketing and
management experience in multinational IT companies. Mr. Hu
obtained his bachelor’s degree in Japanese from Liaoning Normal
University in 2004.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of back-office services (primarily provision of customer
service solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres), comprehensive marketing services and data centre
services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance has been
covered in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section as
well as this Directors’ Report of this annual report. Risk disclosure
sections that follow hereafter should be read in conjunction with
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements. These form part of this
directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Compliance Risk

Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group,
as a client service outsourcer, will obtain a large amount of
personal information from clients. According to the contracts
signed between the Company and clients and in compliance with
the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Regulations on the Protection of Personal Information of
Telecommunications and Internet Users, the Group is responsible
for keeping all relevant information confidential.

Directors’ Report
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Although the Company has implemented strict internal control
procedures to ensure the security and confidentiality of the
database, it cannot guarantee that the personal information of
clients will not be leaked or stolen. Leakage of confidential
information due to employee errors will expose the Group to
claims from clients. At the same time, in the unfortunate event of
leakage of client information, the worst thing is that existing or
potential clients may lose confidence in the Group’s ability to keep
information confidential, which will have a negative impact on the
Group's corporate image and market position in the industry.

The Company’s Awareness of Risks and the Measures
It Has Taken

The Group takes quite strict measures to ensure information
confidentiality, in order to minimise the risk of information
leakage.

The contracts signed between the Company and clients include
confidentiality clauses. It needs to strictly keep project information
confidential in accordance with the contract terms. Once a new
project is established and the Company has signed a contract with
the client, only authorised employees have access to the
information, and other employees is not allowed to access relevant
project information. Service contracts are sent to an independent
file room for safekeeping by a designated person. In general,
service contracts cannot be taken out. If a relevant employee
needs to check the contracts, he/she needs the approval of the
relevant department head. A person shall record the lending of
the contracts. Employees cannot take away confidential
information without authorisation.

In addition, all employees are required to sign a confidentiality
agreement when joining the Company to prohibit unauthorised
disclosure of confidential information of the Company. In case of
any violation, the employee involved will be held liable for legal
and financial consequences.
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The Company has been certified for its information security
system, and has passed the annual review. During the financial
year, the Group has not found any leakage of confidential client
information. The Group attaches great importance to and abides
by the terms of the confidentiality agreement to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Each employee must “punch in and out”. The apps or mini
programmes in the smartphone are used to strengthen employees’
whereabouts record, with a view to reducing the risk of leakage
of confidential information.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Please refer “Contractual Arrangements — Risks
Relating to the Contractual Arrangements” from pages 43 to 44
of this report for details.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources. The Group commits to
maintain awareness within the Group of the responsibility of the
Group and its employees to ensure protection of the environment.
For example, purchasing the environmentally preferable products
with reputable certifications or labels, transmission of bulk
documents through electronic means, marking up of documents
electronically rather than using printed version, double-sided black
& white printing, recycling of printed papers and envelops, and
switching off lights and air-conditioning after working/non-office
hours, public holidays.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules,
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose
challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands, the United
States and The People’s Republic of China, as well as under the
GEM Listing Rules and the Securities Futures Ordinance, Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO").

ZZCl Credit Limited holds a money lender’s licence and is subject
to the provisions of the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163
of the laws of Hong Kong). To provide for the control and
regulation of money lenders and money lending transactions
mainly involves, the Commissioner of Police and Registrar of
Money Lenders. The Group has established and maintained
adequate policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has also
adopted a whistleblowing policy for reporting of wrong-doing
within the Group. The whistleblowing policy can be found in the
Group’s compliance manual which is regularly reviewed and
updated as and when necessary.

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group has developed and implemented a remuneration
structure which is a key for the Group to attract and retain the
best talents. Details of emolument policy and employee benefits
are set out in the section headed “Employees and remuneration
policies” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. There have been no material interruptions to
operations nor any material labour disputes to date. In addition,
the Group encourages and supports employees to attend courses,
seminars and workshops that are relevant to their jobs to obtain
up-skills so as to keep them challenged and engaged as well as
assist the Group's sustainable business success.
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In particular to the COVID-19 virus situation, the Group has also
implemented special arrangement including some special
allowance and practices for the protection of employees’ health
and safety.

The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, company website, financial reports and the
annual general meeting, the Group has significantly improved its
transparency and communication with its shareholders. The
controlling shareholder has also been very supportive and
resourceful in growing the business and mindful of all
shareholders’ interests to see the Company succeed.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 90 to 214 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in June 2019 (the
“Dividend Policy”). The declaration, form, frequency and amount
of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company (the "Articles of Association”). The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. When considering dividend declaration or recommendation,
the Board shall take into account a number of factors, including
but not limited to the Group’s business condition and strategy,
capital requirement; and earnings, financial and cash flow
position, and distributable reserves.

Having considered the factors stated in the Dividend Policy
adopted by the Company, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the Year (2021: Nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 8 August 2022 to Wednesday, 10 August 2022 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 5 August 2022.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and accumulated loss amounted to approximately RMB793.4
million (31 March 2021: RMB840.1 million). Details of the
Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 March 2022 are set out
in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhanbin (Chairman)

Mr. LIU Yang (appointed on 5 June 2022)

Mr. JIANG Yulin (Chief Executive Officer) (removed on 5 June 2022)
Mr. WU Hui (Chief Operating Officer)
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Mr. ZHANG Weidong

Mr. ZENG Liang (appointed on 30 April 2021)

Mr. ZHANG Longgen (resignation effective on 30 April 2021)

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, change in
information of Directors are set out below:

Directors’ Report
wHREFHRN

BYFHITES

Stephen MARKSCHEID %t 4
REREAL

WE A (2021 F4 B30 BEERT)
REEAR e (7220215 4 A 30 HEHE)

BREREENHABREINAFRE20HES
23E -

EENBRBEN
HEEERARETTEAEETTR—FRT
6T A CEE R ERSN) Z R T T AR LM
RAGAH -

ESENEE

BHE GEM EH#RBIE 17.50A1) 1§ - EFERIEE
AT

Name of Director Details of change
EEpng BEFHE
Mr. ZHANG Weidong Appointed as founding partner and president of Alpha Win Capital Limited in
RETR KA May 2020

R2020F5 ARZERTREREANBRRAEIHABAFREER
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Resigned as chairman of Still Waters Green Technology Limited in June 2022
Stephen MARKSCHEID %t 4 72022 4F 6 B BT Still Waters Green Technology Limited & £ J&

Appointed as chief financial officer of Childwise International in February 2020

R2020F2 ARZEREETBRR ZARMBE

Mr. NIU Zhanbin Appointed as executive director of Rongyu Group Co., Ltd. in August 2020
G =P R2020F 8 ARZERRMEEBRNBRAFRITES

Appointed as executive vice officer of Zhongzhi Enterprise Group Co., Ltd. in

May 2022

R2022%5 AEZEATELEEBEGRARITHEIAK

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
directors of the Group during the Year.

ERFRE R

MBERARNRTE  EEARNEERABFNL
HEH TR R DA R R (T E%Tﬂ%)qﬂi&
THRMARRREN —BRAREERAR
BETESRE -RAFEAR AR TE%EEET
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong
("SFO™)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

EENBETBRAERAQAHEM
MBCEE ARG - HERG R EEE
HEVERERRE

MR2022F3A31H  ARRIEERESTHRAR
RAERBISEBEZE (EEREEENEE
FBHREBEEO([FHRBEED]) EXVEE) B
FARD - HERMDKEEEPEFBEREES
NMERE M EXVEE T RESH MBHE RN TR KL
B2 BT (B IR SRR 35 5 R A E 160 B BRI
RBNGIERENERIAR) NERTAE - &
BRI B 5 M H & 161 85 352 1R A 8 7E "% A& AT
MERMA - HERIEGEM EMRREHEESE
1THEAFL HNES.A46 5 5.67 EMAEAND T KB
RETHER SRR I

Long positions in share of the Company RAERBRGHEFRE
Approximate
percentage of
Name of director/ Number of shareholding
Chief executive Capacity shares held in the Company
EARARREN
Ex BETBASHRSE 514 FERAHA BAED
Mr. Hu Shilong (“Mr. Hu") Interest of controlled 274,190,219 6.55%
corporation (Note 1)
AR (TEA%K A D) R EBE RS (Htat1)
Note: et -

1. These shares were held directly by NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGO"). NINEGO
is held by Mr. Hu as to 40.60%. As Such, Mr. Hu is deemed to be interested
in 274,190,219 shares of the Company held by NINEGO by virtue of the SFO.

32

1. % Z %7 i NINEGO Corporation ([NINEGO |) B35 »
NINEGO FH #A5E 35 5 40.60% 1z - BIRIE B A L&
&0+ BA5E £ 4% 18 B NINEGO FT# AR 8 274,190,219
AR B s o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to securities transactions by the Directors to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of shares capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:

Directors’ Report
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B FaiFrIREEE AN - 1A20224E3 A31 8 - #HER
NAIEBEZENZEITBRABRARN R S E AR A=
(E&RFESHREERDIE XY ED) T MG - 48
RO EREETHETMEREESRPER
PIEXVEE T RESDEAME AN T RERZAT(E
FEREEREFES RIS KRIB BIEXER AR
EHAMERIOAR) MiEEZUAR « NERIEE
%&Hﬁ 516191 25 352 16 50 SR 1E 3% 15 ST P it & 7T 1B

HAREGEM EMRAIBBESETESRR
%M%S%ismMﬁﬁ@$®T& 5632 BT B 4
ng/ﬂKEf’

FERRRAQRRG REEBRAF
E’J*Eﬁc&m)a

MB2022F3A31H BEZFAM - THAL(R
NAEIEBRERETTEHRABBRIN RARQ R RN kAE
BARMDTP AR AEEBEREESFRPER
BIEXVEE2 REIDEIEXRARRQ G HEL A
REBEARRRIRERE S LB EKRAE3I36IGKAT
UGEENELMOERIAR  KEEHEEE
BTSRRI AEBER TEAEBERKE R
RIMREAT FRENEAERNBRAEERNS%
A RS
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Long positions in share of the Company RAXBRBEEFRE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
hA DN B R FER
BREE HE 514 RO A BAED
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Beneficial owner 2,409,823,718 57.53%
Limited (“Zhongzhi Xinzhuo") (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company EmEBA
Limited ([ Zhongzhi XinzhuoJ) (Kta£ 1)
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited Beneficial owner 455,820,525 10.88%
(“Kang Bang (HK)") (Note 1)
RAEIE (BE)BR A A EnlEEA
(TR CEE) DM 1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 68.41%
(“Tian Xi Capital”) (Note 1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited ZESEE S
([Tian Xi Capital ) (#7F 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 68.41%
("Ze Yun Capital”) (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited ZIEHLEE R E R
([Ze Yun Capital 1) (Bt7E 1)
Mr. XIE Zhikun* (“Mr. Xie"”) (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 68.41%
fRERSTE ([RREE D (Mfat1) R EE RS
NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGO") (Note 2) Beneficial Owner 274,190,219 6.55%
NINEGO Corporation ([NINEGO |) (K#f7#2) BEREEA
Ms. Liu Yingying (“Ms. Liu”) (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 274,190,219 6.55%

Blemrt ([8LxL])(AE2)

# Mr. Xie passed away on 18 December 2021.
fORRSAE R 202112 A 18 HEHE ©

34
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Notes:

1. Each of Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tian Xi Capital. Ze Yun Capital, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Xie, controls 100% of the voting power at general meetings of Tian Xi
Capital. As such, each of Tian Xi Capital, Ze Yun Capital and Mr. Xie is
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,865,644,243 shares of the
Company held by Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) by virtue of the
SFO.

2. NINEGO is held by Ms. Liu as to 59.40%. As such, Ms. Liu is deemed to be
interested in 274,190,219 shares of the Company held by NINEGO by
virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries or
its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of such ultimate
holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

Directors’ Report
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et

1. Zhongzhi Xinzhuo & EZ H (&%) 3 A Tian Xi Capital 9
2 &M B AT ° Ze Yun Capital (FRELE 2 EHBHIAF])
P2l Tian Xi Capital R R K@/ 2 PR ERE - Bt R
EFEHREE KD - Tian Xi Capital » Ze Yun Capital &
iR 5 448 AT Zhongzhi Xinzhuo R EH (FB) A £#F
BHARRAT2,865,644,243 BRI FHEA R o

2. NINEGO 22z +4% 75 59.40% #Ez% - ARIEE S M T
&0 » B2 T34 B NINEGO Fri AN A 7] 274,190,219
FRARID R HE B fEas o

B SRR EESN  R20224F3A31H £
THBEAMNEMAL(RRAREERESTTBAR
BRON RN A R IR SARRARR D B B IR IR B 5
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr. ZHANG
Weidong and Mr. ZENG Liang who were in service during the
Year, and has received annual confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
These written confirmations also covered the immediate family
members (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers all
of them independent.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The transactions contemplated under the series of contractual
arrangements entered into by, among others, WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft, and Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying, Ms. Zhou Fang
and Changzhou Xiangjia Zhongzhou Investment Centre Limited
Partnership* (FIMNAZH AL E R L (BREH)) (the “Registered
Shareholders”) on 12 June 2020 (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
are non-exempt continuing connected transactions, which are
subject to reporting, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

*  for identification purpose only
[
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For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, and in
particular the definition of “connected person”, the entities we
control through the Contractual Arrangements (collectively, the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”), including but not limited to,
DaLian Kingwisoft, Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.*
(AR EB 4 Z /S BUE RIS AR A 8)), Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd.* (22 EmME R ARAF]), Kunshan Kingwisoft
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (2114 Z{Z BRI ER D7),
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (%411 &Z BRI AR
Ad)), Luzhou Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.* (E/N &2 g%
HIERIE AR AR, Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet Technology
Co., Ltd.* (El52Z2 BRI AR 2AH]), Qingdao Nanyou
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (B &M E{E BH M AR AT,
formerly known as Jt R #{F 2 FMT AR A a]), DaLian
Kingwisoft Internet Service Qutsourcing Co., Ltd.* (KBS Z R
PR RBIMIBBR A R]), Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan Internet
Service Co., Ltd.* (43[5 4 28U BB IRTS AR A 7)) and Dalian
Zhiyin Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (R:E%5 R 5 B BRI AR A
8]), are treated as the Company’s subsidiaries, and their directors,
chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) and their respective associates are treated as the
Company’s connected persons.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

As advised by the PRC legal advisor, in accordance with the
Telecommunication Regulations of the PRC ({ & A R KT E
{Z1&51)) promulgated on 25 September 2000, and most recently
amended on 6 February 2016, by the State Council of the PRC (the
“Telecommunication Regulations”), a service provider is required
to obtain a value-added telecommunication business operating
license ((IZ{EEBZEMLL LTI E)) (“VATS Licence”) from the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (the
“MIIT”) or its authorised local counterpart before commencing the
provision of value-added telecommunication services ("VAT
Services”). Further, under the Catalogue of Telecommunication
Business ( & 15 ¥ 7 % 8 B £%)) promulgated on 28 December
2015, and most recently amended on 6 June 2019, by MIIT (the
“Telecommunication Catalogue”), call centre services is a type of
VAT Services, thus any provider of call centre services in China is
required to obtain a VATS Licence before commencing its
operation.

*  for identification purpose only
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In accordance with the Telecommunication Catalogue:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

call centre services mean business consultation, information
consultation and data query services regarding an entity for
the end-users of such entity through public communication
network by: (a) utilising call centre system which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet;
(b) utilising database technology; and (c) establishing
information base through information collection, processing
and storage;

users of call centre services may: (a) enter into a call centre
system and gain access to the database of the call centre
system through multiple channels such as telephone, fax,
mobile communication terminals and computer terminals;
and (b) receive information consultation services by multiple
means such as voice, fax, email and text messages; and

call centre services also include leasing of call centre system
and workstations of call centre operators.

Furthermore, under the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunication Enterprises ( {SNFI&E £

PEEEITF) ) promulgated on 11 December 2001,

and

amended on 10 September 2008, 6 February 2016, 7 April 2022,

by the State Council (the

“FITE Regulations”) and the

Administrative Measures for Telecommunication Business
Operating Permit ( (BEEBLETTAI BIEHDE) ) promulgated
on 3 July 2017 by MIIT (the “Telecommunication Measures”):

(i)

38

the establishment of a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of any VAT
Services in China must be approved by the MIIT or its
authorised local counterparts;

the holder of a VATS Licence is required to obtain the
approval of the MIIT and/or its authorised local counterparts
if there is any change to the shareholders of such holder;
and
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prior to the effective date of the latest amendments to the
FITE Regulations, which was on 1 May 2022, the main
foreign investor in a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of VAT Services
must satisfy the Qualification Requirement of VATS,
including, a proven track record of good performance, and
operating experience, in carrying on value-added
telecommunication business.

On 7 April 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to Amend
and Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations (the “2022
Decision”), which makes amendments to the FITE Regulations.
The amendments include, among others, removing the good
performance and operating experience for main foreign investors
in a foreign-invested telecommunication enterprise which
conducting VAT Services as set out in the FITE Regulations.

As advised by the PRC legal advisor, the business operated by the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group (the “Dalian Kingwisoft Business”),
comprising the back-office services (primarily provision of
customer service solutions and setting up of contact service system
and centres), can be further categorised into:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

business consultation, information consultation and data
query services on behalf of an entity for the customers of
such entity (such as general enquiry hotlines, customer
service hotlines, post-sale follow-up services and customer
satisfaction surveys) by utilising call centre system (which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet)
and/or database technology (the “Contact Services”);

information processing, business consultation and other
customised business process outsourcing services on behalf
of an entity for the customers of such entity (such as order
processing, audio and video review and image processing)
by utilising call centre system (which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet) and/or database
technology (the “Call Center-related BPO Services”); and

designing, installing, testing and trial-testing contact service
systems and centres which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet for an entity, and
providing software and hardware support for such contact
service system and centres, in each case with a view to, or in
connection with, providing Contact Services on behalf of
such entity for the customers of such entity (the “Contact
Service System and Centres Set-up Services”).

Directors’ Report
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As each of the Contact Services, the Call Center-related BPO
Services and the Contact Service System and Centres Set-up
Services involves the provision of services by the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group on behalf of an entity for the customers of such entity
through public communication network by:

(i) utilising call centre system which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet;

(i) utilising database technology; and

(i) establishing information base through information
collection, processing and storage,

the provision of the Dalian Kingwisoft Business by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group constitutes the provision of call centre services,
one type of VAT Services, by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group.
Therefore, in accordance with the Telecommunication Regulations,
the DaLian Kingwisoft Group is required to hold VATS Licences in
order to operate the DaLian Kingwisoft Business.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of our
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Qualification Requirements

In addition to restrictions on foreign ownership, prior to the
effective date of the latest amendments to the FITE Regulations,
which was on 1 May 2022, there are also regulatory requirements
on the experience and operations of a foreign investor who
intends to operate a value-added telecommunications business in
the PRC.

40

FPA B4R AR 7S - MENY AR O B S AR IN B AR 7S
A B Bt 48 AR 75 R ’f&‘:F'/L\ YRS E B9 K
RNESESEB BEMAETIFARE—
ﬁﬁmﬁwaﬁm%ﬁhfﬁﬁi

(i FMA {5 A8k BB AR S HO R AY AR

/%n T
(i MBBURERM : &

(i) KBEERE NT - FREJELESE

BRECERERUANESEBEBBERBRNES
BEEREMYPORE (—EEBEEERE)
At - RIFBEGD > RESEEEAREERXN
BESEBMAABERERBFAZE -

BHRFBETHRETRIURARBFEFER
2 EI/AET GEM EMARRIE 20 T EHH -
NERIBIBRIERTE

BEHEXR

BrEINERTBEBRGISN - 7220229581 B4N
IR EEEER TS LA A - &
BRPRRELENEEREEBNIIBEREEN
K REBENBEEHTE -




° 77 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED H 45} £ B 4 A B A W]

2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4F- %

According to the FITE Regulations, a foreign investor who invests
in VAT Services business in the PRC must possess the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, while the 2022 Decision repeals the
Qualification Requirements of VATS. However, at the date of this
report, no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules have provided
clear guidance or interpretation about the 2022 Decision. The PRC
legal advisor has advised that, as at the date of this report, (i) the
above-mentioned guidance memorandum issued by MIIT had no
legal or regulatory effect under the PRC Laws, (ii) prior to 1 May,
2022, the Qualification Requirements of VATS were effective and
no applicable PRC Laws, regulations or rules provides clear
guidance or interpretation on the Qualification Requirement of
VATS, and (iii) the Qualification Requirements of VATS will be
abolished with effect from the effective date of the latest
amendments to the FITE Regulations, i.e. May 1, 2022. As at the
date of this report, no applicable PRC Laws, regulations or rules
provides clear guidance or interpretation on the 2022 Decision,
and it remains uncertain as to the interpretation and enforcement
of the 2022 Decision in practice and relevant regulations by
government authorities, and (iv) the MIIT retains considerable
discretion in granting approval of applications for establishing
foreign-invested value-added telecommunications enterprises.

Effects and Actions Under Taken to Comply with
the Qualification Requirements

Despite the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement of VATS and 2022 Decision, the Group
has been gradually building up the track record of overseas VAT
Services operations by undertaking the following steps:

(i) As at the date of this report, the Group has been rewarded
through its cooperation with its international partners, and
commenced working on, certain projects to provide offshore
customer support services in foreign languages, including
Japanese and English. The Group plans to continue
expanding its offshore customer support services business
involving foreign languages in overseas markets;

(i) The Group is strengthening its close cooperation relationship
with its international partners, such as SoftBank, with the
aim of gradually exploring business opportunities and
developing its customer base overseas. The Group also plans
to build up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operation by obtaining overseas projects through
collaboration between its onshore and offshore entities; and
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(i) It is the Group’s strategy to identify suitable offshore
companies with proper value-added telecommunications
services operation and acquire a controlling stake in such
companies in future, in order to build up its track record of
overseas VAT Services operation.

We will continue to actively manage the operation of the Group
and procure the Group to continue carrying out the above steps
for the purpose of being qualified, as early as possible, to acquire
the entire shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft when the relevant
PRC Laws and authorities allow foreign investors to invest and
hold interest in enterprises which engage in VAT Services.

In addition, the Group has taken the following steps with a view
to gradually building up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operations, demonstrating compliance with the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, and being qualified, as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest in the registered capital of DaLian
Kingwisoft when there is clear guidance and interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement of VATS under applicable PRC Laws,
regulations and rules and when, as a matter of regulatory policy
and practice, the MIIT and its authorised local counterparts will
accept and approve applications by the members of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group which engage in the provision of VAT Services
to be converted into foreign invested telecommunication
enterprises which engage in the provision of VAT Services:

(i) the Group is in the process of registering trademarks outside
the PRC for the purpose of promoting VAT Services
operations outside the PRC;

(i) the Group has registered one domain name outside the PRC
for the purpose of introducing VAT Services operations
outside the PRC to users outside the PRC; and

(i)  the Group has obtained a local phone number in Hong
Kong for the purpose of promoting VAT Services operations
outside the PRC.

We will, under the guidance of the PRC legal advisor, make
periodic enquiries with the relevant PRC governmental authorities
to understand whether there is any new regulatory development
and continuously assess whether we meet the requirements
imposed by PRC government authorities, if applicable.

42

(i) AKEHEREHEXFEZLEEERS
LENGERINATE YR ARBBZER
BRI - AR HBSMEEEERG Z
EREERCE

BB EERBEEASEZE WREAKE
EERR EAPE  URPEESERVNBETEDE
RRAPINFFIEREERERFREEERY
MEREIRETHAERARBBAEEEZNDH
Pt

AN AEBCREUT SIS - WE PRI EE
BIMNEEEERBEHNTELE  ERTAE
BEERBELENR  WRERFTEIEE - RH
FRANETARBEEFEREEE Z2RAAMES
LR IR (EERREERME) TEHR
HEm T BRI e FIRIEESE
RIBH A ES B RERE QAR KRB REEREM
EEERENIBREBELENPER - &
FPREMBRBEANESZNEMERN 2 A -

() AKBEEFBRINEMER  AEFEE
St IS EE SRS

(i) AEEDEFBERINEM—EEE - ARF
BIESN A P HEN A BRI IR E B S ARTS
E 3

(i) AKEDBSEBAMERRE - AEPE
BOMERIZEEERIGES -

RESrER AR BERMEE T - EH AR
BB EBPIE B - A T R A A AHEE
ER LB ETERMEEH A BT EBPIHE10
MER (EA) o




° 77 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED H 45} £ B 4 A B A W]

2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4F- %

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
160 to 167 of the Circular.

o Substantial uncertainties and restrictions exist with respect
to the interpretation and application of PRC laws and
regulations relating to the provision of contact services in
China.

o We rely on Contractual Arrangements with the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group and its shareholders for its business
operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

o Any failure by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group or its
shareholders to perform their obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements would have a material adverse
effect on our business, and the domestic shareholder may
have potential conflicts of interest with us.

o Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed,
which could negatively affect our financial condition and the
value of the investment.

o We conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business in the PRC
through the Dalian Kingwisoft Group by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
PRC laws.

o Our exercise of the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of the Dalian Kingwisoft Group may subject to
certain limitation and we may need to expend significant
resources to acquire all or part of the equity interests in the
DaLian Kingwisoft Group from the respective equity holders.

o The WFOE may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group that are material to the
operation of certain portions of its business if the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group goes bankrupt or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.
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o Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the recently passed
PRC Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact the
viability of our current corporate structure, corporate
governance and business operations.

Contractual Arrangements in Place

A brief description of the major terms of the Contractual
Arrangements which were in place during the Year is as follows:

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement was entered into
between the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020,
pursuant to which DaLian Kingwisoft agrees to engage the WFOE
as its exclusive provider of business support, technical and
consulting services, including technical services, network support,
business consultation, intellectual property licensing, equipment
leasing, market consultancy, system integration, product research
and development and system maintenance, in exchange for
service fees. Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the service fees, subject to the WFOE's adjustment, are equal to
the net profit of DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. The WFOE
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, after taking into
account certain factors, including but not limited to the deduction
of necessary costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contribution for the corresponding fiscal year, and may also
include accumulated losses of Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries from previous financial periods. The service fees shall
be transferred to the designated account of the WFOE upon
issuance of payment notification by the WFOE. The WFOE enjoys
the entire economic benefits derived from the businesses of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries, and bears relevant risks of
DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. If DaLian Kingwisoft runs
into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, the
WEFOE will provide financial support to DaLian Kingwisoft.

In line with the services it provides, the WFOE has employed
relevant personnel primarily providing consulting and technical
services to Dalian Kingwisoft. In addition, the WFOE's primary
operating assets will be IT facilities, network and equipment,
which support its provision of services to Dalian Kingwisoft under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. The WFOE and its
subsidiaries also engage in comprehensive marketing services and
data centre services businesses.
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Both the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft have internal control
measures in place, which mainly include measures with respect to
accounts payables and receivables, which require the review and
approval by the relevant department(s) of the WFOE and DalLian
Kingwisoft to confirm the services provided by the WFOE and
received by Dalian Kingwisoft. Further, to ensure that the WFOE
will not engage in the Dalian Kingwisoft Business or any other
restricted business in the PRC, the WFOE has set up an internal
control procedure, which requires the senior staff member of
relevant departments to review the business to be entered into by
the WFOE.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal
course of business of Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
WEFOE will have the exclusive and proprietary rights to all
intellectual properties developed by Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries, given that the WFOE provides consultation services to
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries during the term of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. Part of the economic
benefits generated by Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries will
be intellectual properties developed or created during the normal
business operation of DaLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Though it is not intended to transfer any existing intellectual
property rights held by Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft is required under the Contractual Arrangements to
obtain the WFOE's prior written consent before it transfers,
assigns or disposes of any of the intellectual properties to any third

party.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement is for an initial
term of ten years and shall be automatically extended upon expiry
unless the WFOE confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement

The Exclusive Call Option Agreement was entered into by and
among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders and Dalian
Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020, pursuant to which the WFOE (or
KingNine Holdings Limited or any subsidiary of KingNine Holdings
Limited , the “designee”) has been granted an irrevocable and
exclusive right to purchase all of the shares in and/or assets of
Dalian Kingwisoft at a nominal price, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC Laws request that another
amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase
price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC Laws and regulations, the Registered Shareholders
and/or Dalian Kingwisoft shall return any amount of purchase
price they have received to the WFOE. At the WFOE's request, the
Registered Shareholders and/or Dalian Kingwisoft will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective shareholding in and/
or the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE (or its
designee) after the WFOE exercises its call option. The Exclusive
Call Option Agreement is for an initial term of ten years and shall
be automatically extended upon expiry unless the WFOE confirms
a new renewal term in writing.

In order to prevent the flow of the relevant assets and value of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries to the Registered
Shareholders, during the term of the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement, Dalian Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure
its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any of its assets (exceeding the value of RMB1 million) without
the prior written consent of the WFOE. In addition, Dalian
Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure its subsidiaries not
to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without prior
written consent of the WFOE. In the event that the Registered
Shareholders receive any distribution from DaLian Kingwisoft and/
or its subsidiaries and subject to the PRC Laws, the Registered
Shareholders must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to
the WFOE (or its designee). If the WFOE exercises the call option
all or any part of the shareholding in and/or assets of Dalian
Kingwisoft acquired would be transferred to the WFOE, and the
benefits of the equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable,
would flow to KingNine Holdings Limited and its shareholders.
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As provided in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE, Dalian Kingwisoft shall not,
and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, among other things, (i)
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any manner any of its assets
of more than RMB1 million; (ii) execute any material contract for a
value more than RMB1 million, except any contracts in the
ordinary course of business and any contracts entered into with
any members of the Group; (iii) provide any loan, financial
support, pledge or guarantees in any form to any third party, or
allow any third party to create any pledge or other security interest
over its assets or equity; (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow any
debt that is not incurred in the ordinary course of business of
Dalian Kingwisoft or not disclosed and consented to by the
WFOE; (v) enter into any consolidation or merger with any third
party, or acquire or invest in any third party; (vi) increase or reduce
its registered capital, or alter the structure of the registered capital
in any other manner. The Exclusive Call Option Agreement
provides that the Registered Shareholders and Dalian Kingwisoft
shall procure the subsidiaries of Dalian Kingwisoft to comply with
the above undertakings as if they are parties to the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement. Therefore, due to the relevant restrictive
provisions in the agreement, the potential adverse effect on the
WFOE and the Group in the event of any loss suffered from
Dalian Kingwisoft and/or its subsidiaries can be limited to a
certain extent. In addition, in relation to the above restrictive
provisions specified in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the
asset disposals or value of contracts will be aggregated if such
asset disposals or value of contracts (i) are entered into by
KingNine Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries or the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group with the same party or parties; or (ii) involve the
disposal or contracts which relate to the whole or parts of the
asset or securities or interests in a company or group of
companies. Further, as advised by the PRC legal advisor, any
transfer of shares in Dalian Kingwisoft pursuant to the terms of
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement will need to be filed with
relevant government authorities upon the exercise of the call
option thereunder.
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Share Pledge Agreement

The Share Pledge Agreement was entered into by and among the
WEFOQE, the Registered Shareholders and DaLian Kingwisoft on 12
June 2020, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders pledge as
first charge all of their respective shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft
to the WFOE as collateral security for any or all of the payments due
to the WFOE and to secure performance of their obligations under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement. The Share
Pledge Agreement will remain in effect till the earlier of (i) all
obligation of DaLian Kingwisoft and the Registered Shareholders
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement are
performed in full; (ii) the WFOE exercises its exclusive option to
purchase the entire shareholding held by the Registered Shareholders
in DaLian Kingwisoft and/or the assets of DaLian Kingwisoft pursuant
to the terms of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement when it is
permitted to do so under the applicable PRC Laws; (iii) the WFOE
exercises its unilateral and unconditional right of termination; and (iv)
the agreement is required to be terminated in accordance with
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. In addition, under the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement, none of the Registered Shareholders may
transfer or create any encumbrance on any of their shareholding in
and the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft (including any equity
interests in and relevant assets of the subsidiaries of DaLian
Kingwisoft) without the WFOE's prior written consent. Furthermore,
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the WFOE is
entitled to retain and exercise physical control of company seals and
certificates that are crucial to the daily operation of Dalian
Kingwisoft, which further strengthens the protection of the WFOE's
interests over Dalian Kingwisoft under the Contractual
Arrangements. Should an event of default (as provided in the Share
Pledge Agreement) occur, unless it is successfully resolved to the
WFOE's satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified by the WFOE,
the WFOE may demand that the Registered Shareholders and/or
DaLian Kingwisoft immediately pay all outstanding payments due
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, repay any
loans and make all other payments due to it, and/or dispose of the
pledged shareholding and use the proceeds to repay any outstanding
amount due to the WFOE. The pledges under the Share Pledge
Agreement has been duly registered with the relevant PRC authority
on 12 July 2020 pursuant to PRC Laws and regulations.
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On 16 October 2020, the Registered Shareholders entered into a
capital increase agreement pursuant to which the registered
capital of Dalian Kingwisoft was increased from RMB15,480,000
to RMB100,000,000 contributing from each of the Registered
Shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings (the “Capital
Increase”). Upon the issuance of the 84,520,000 new shares (the
“New Shares”) to the Registered Shareholders and the successful
registration of the Capital Increase, the New Shares will be fully
pledged by the Registered Shareholders as first charge of all of
their respective shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft to the WFOE as
collateral security for any or all of the payments due to the WFOE
and to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement under the existing
terms of the Share Pledge Agreement.

Power of Attorney

The irrevocable Powers of Attorney have been granted by each of
the Registered Shareholders on 12 June 2020 in favour of the
WFOE pursuant to the Authorisation Agreement dated 12 June
2020 by and among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholder and
DaLian Kingwisoft, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
have appointed the WFOE or a director of its offshore holding
company or its/his/her successor (including a liquidator replacing
the WFOE's director) as their exclusive agent and attorney to act
on their behalf on all matters concerning Dalian Kingwisoft and
to exercise all of their rights as registered shareholders of Dalian
Kingwisoft. These rights include (i) the right to propose, convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings; (ii) the right to sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of shares; (iii) the right to exercise shareholders’
voting rights; and (iv) the right to act as the legal representative
(chairperson), the director, supervisor, the chief executive officer
(or general manager) and other senior management members of
Dalian Kingwisoft. The authorised person is entitled to sign
minutes, file documents with the relevant companies registry and
exercise voting rights on the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft on
behalf of the Registered Shareholders. The Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to transfer all assets obtained by
them after the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE at
nil consideration or the lowest price permissible by the then
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. As a result of the Powers of
Attorney, the Company is able to exercise management control
over the activities that have significant impact on the economic
performance of DaLian Kingwisoft.
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The Powers of Attorney also provided that, in order to avoid #BEZETFE - AR P EENRE R HMELK

potential conflicts of interest, where the Registered Shareholders
are officers or directors of KingNine, its subsidiaries or the DaLian
Kingwisoft Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favour of
other unrelated officers or directors of KingNine (the unrelated
directors of the holding company of KingNine).

The Powers of Attorney shall automatically terminate once the
WFOE (or any member of the Group other than DaLian Kingwisoft
and its subsidiaries) directly holds the entire shareholding in and/
or the entire assets of Dalian Kingwisoft permitted under the then
PRC Laws and regulations and the WFOE (or its subsidiaries) is
allowed to conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business under the then
PRC Laws and regulations, following which the WFOE is registered
as the sole shareholder of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Spouse Undertaking

Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying and the spouse of Ms. Zhou
Fang executed an irrevocable undertaking on 12 June 2020,
whereby they expressly and irrevocably acknowledge and
undertake that (i) any shareholding interest held by Mr. Hu, Ms.
Liu and Ms. Zhou in DaLian Kingwisoft do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) they will not have any claim on
the interests of Dalian Kingwisoft obtained through the
Contractual Arrangements in their capacity as spouse; (iii), in
relation to Ms. Zhou's spouse, he has never participated and will
not participate in the operation or management of Dalian
Kingwisoft.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Circular.

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the Year.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the
Year.

For the Year, none of the Contractual Arrangements has been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements has
been removed. As of 31 March 2022, we had not encountered
interference or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in
operating our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities under the Contractual Arrangements.
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We have been advised by our PRC legal advisor that the
Contractual Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC laws
and regulations.

The revenue of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities for the Year
was amounted to approximately RMB696.9 million, which
accounted for approximately 80.4% of the Group’s total revenue.
The net assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities were
approximately RMB435.7 million as at 31 March 2022.

Internal Control Measures

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation of our Group with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements:

1. major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;

3. our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our
annual reports regarding the qualification requirements as
stipulated in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements
— Qualification Requirement of VATS” in the Circular;

4. our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our
annual reports; and

5. our Company has engaged external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of WFOE and
our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.
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The Extent to which the Contractual
Arrangements Relate to Requirements Other
than the Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 298 to 304 of the Circular.

Listing Rule Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) under the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
under the Contractual Arrangements were more than 5%. As
such, these transactions were subject to the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from (i)
fixing the term of the Contractual Arrangements for a period of
not exceeding three years pursuant to Rule 20.50 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and (ii) setting a maximum aggregate annual cap
pursuant to Rule 20.51 of the GEM Listing Rules for the service
fees payable by the Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE under the
Contractual Arrangements, subject to the following conditions:

(@ No Change without Independent Non-executive Directors’
Approval — No change to the Contractual Arrangements
(including with respect to any fees payable to the WFOE
thereunder) will be made without the approval of the
independent nonexecutive Directors.

(b)  No Change without Independent Shareholders’ Approval —
Save as described in “— Renewal and Reproduction” below,
no change to the agreements governing the Contractual
Arrangements will be made without the approval of the
Company’s Independent Shareholders. Once Independent
Shareholders’ approval of any change has been obtained,
no further announcement or approval of the Independent
Shareholders will be required under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules unless and until further changes are proposed.
The periodic reporting requirement regarding the
Contractual Arrangements in the annual reports of the
Company (as set out in “— Renewal and Reproduction”
below) will however continue to be applicable.
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Economic Benefits Flexibility — The Contractual
Arrangements shall continue to enable the Group to receive
the entire economic benefits derived by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through (i) the Group’s option (if and
when so allowed under the applicable PRC Laws) to acquire,
all or part of the entire shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft
for nil consideration or the minimum amount of
consideration permitted by applicable PRC Laws and
regulations, (ii) the business structure under which the entire
profit generated by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group is
substantially retained by our Group, such that no annual cap
shall be set on the amount of service fees payable to the
WFOE by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, and (iii) the Group’s right
to control the management and operation of, as well as, in
substance, all of the voting rights of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Renewal and Reproduction — On the basis that the
Contractual Arrangements provide an acceptable framework
for the relationship between the Company and its
subsidiaries in which the Company has direct shareholding,
on the one hand, and the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, on the
other hand, that framework may be renewed and/or
reproduced upon the expiry of the existing arrangements or
in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the existing Contractual
Arrangements. The directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group may establish will, upon renewal
and/or reproduction of the Contractual Arrangements,
however be treated as connected persons of the Company
and transactions between these connected persons and the
Company other than those under similar contractual
arrangements shall comply with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. This condition is subject to relevant PRC Laws
and regulations and approvals.

()
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Ongoing Reporting and Approvals — the Group will disclose
details relating to the Contractual Arrangements on an
ongoing basis as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Contractual Arrangements in place during each
financial period will be disclosed in the Company’s
annual report and accounts in accordance with the
relevant provision of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors will review the
Contractual Arrangements annually and confirm in the
Company’s annual report and accounts for the relevant
year that: (A) the transactions carried out during such
year have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements,
have been operated so that the revenue generated by
the Dalian Kingwisoft Group has been substantially
retained by the WFOE; (B) no dividends or other
distributions have been made by the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and (C) any new contracts entered into, renewed
or reproduced between the Group and the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group during the relevant financial period
under paragraph (d) above are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditors will carry out procedures in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants on the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and will
provide a letter to the Directors with a copy to the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, at least ten Business Days before
the Company bulk prints its annual report, reporting their
findings whether that the transactions carried out
pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group to the holders of
its equity interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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(iv)  For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected
person”, the Dalian Kingwisoft Group will be treated
as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and the
directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group and their respective associates will
be treated as the Company’s “connected persons”
(excluding for this purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group). As such, transactions between these
connected persons and the Group (including for this
purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft Group), other than
those under the Contractual Arrangements, shall
comply with Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

(v)  Dalian Kingwisoft also undertakes that, for so long as
the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, it will provide the Group’s management
and the Company’s auditors with full access to its
relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be
carried out by the Company’s auditors on the
connected transactions.

During the Year, the Company had complied with the waiver
conditions set out by the Stock Exchange and all necessary GEM
Listing Rules requirements as required by the Stock Exchange.

Confirmations from the Independent Non-executive
Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the
Contractual Arrangements for the Year to which any member of
the Group was a party were entered into by the Group:

(i)  the transactions carried out during such year have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Contractual Arrangements and have been operated so
that the revenue generated by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities has been substantially retained by the WFOE;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;
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(i) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced
between our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the reporting period; and

(iv) the Contractual Arrangements are entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group on
normal commercial terms and are fair, reasonable and
advantageous, so far as our Group is concerned and in the
interests of our Company and the Shareholders of our
Company as a whole.

Confirmations from the Auditor

Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has engaged the auditor to conduct certain procedures in respect
of the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements of the Group for the Year, in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
during the Year:

a) the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements have received the approval of the Board,;

b)  the disclosed continuing connected transactions were
entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements governing such
transactions; and

¢)  no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted connected transaction(s) or
continuing connected transaction(s) under the GEM Listing Rules.
The following set out details of the Contractual Arrangements and
the transactions relating to the Technology Services Contract (as
defined below) which constituted continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of the
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Please refer “Contractual
Arrangements” from pages 36 to 56 of this report for details.

Technology Services Contract

On 12 March 2021, Shenzhen Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.*
ORI ZEREEBIERBAR A E]) (“Shenzhen Kingwisoft”) (an
indirect wholly-owned sub5|d|ary of the Company) and Beijing
Heng Tian Kai Xuan Technology Limited* (1t 18 X SliE Rl AR
73A]) ("Heng Tian Kai Xuan”) entered into a technology services
contract (the “Technology Services Contract”) in relation to the
provision of information technology manpower services and other
related services by Shenzhen Kingwisoft to Heng Tian Kai Xuan.
Details of the Technology Services Contract were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 12 March 2021.

* for identification purpose only
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Heng Tian Kai Xuan is a connected person of the Company by
virtue of being indirectly owned as to 45.13% by Mr. Xie Zhikun,
who is a controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the Technology Services Contract
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual cap
contemplated under the Technology Services Contract were more
than 5% but less than 25% and the total consideration was less
than HK$10,000,000, the transactions contemplated thereunder
were subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements but were exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Directors are not aware of any related party transactions
disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements that
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Group, nor are there any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that require to
be disclosed in this annual report under the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements,
where applicable, in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors was interested in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Mr. Xie, a controlling shareholder of the Company, holding
approximately 68.41% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2022 through Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and
Kang Bang (HK), indirectly holds 100% equity interest in FR{&& 4
EIRABMR A7 (“Zhongzhi Capital”). Zhongzhi Capital’s key
business include private equity investments in the primary market,
private placement, mergers and acquisitions of overseas businesses
and funds which may compete or are likely to compete with the
business of the Group.

During the year, Mr. Xie also holds indirect interests in the
following companies, which are corporations licensed by the SFC
to conduct Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities: (1)
Tang Wealth International Limited mainly provides private banking
services, including providing asset allocation and investment
consultancy services, including agency sales of public funds and
private equity funds, issue of private equity funds or asset
management etc. but is not engaged in traditional investment
services; and (2) Hang Tang International Capital Management
Limited mainly provides asset management and funds distribution
services. Mr. Xie is also the sole shareholder of ZhongTai Financing
(Hong Kong) Limited, which holds a Money Lenders Licence and
conducts money lending business. Nevertheless, since 22 October
2021, the Group has ceased to engage in the provision of
corporate advisory services, investment advisory and asset
management services. In addition, the Group did not conduct new
Money Lenders Licence business during the year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, the controlling
shareholders of the Company or their respective close associates
(as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any direct or indirect
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with
the business of the Group as at 31 March 2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable Donations

During the year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to HKD4,093.
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CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, STOCK SHORT
NAMES AND WEBSITE ADDRESS

As announced on 24 January 2022, the name of the Company
has been changed from “Zhongjin Technology Services Group
Company Limited # &R ERBEEKRGO AR AT to “ZZ
Technology Group Company Limited FRIERI £ DB R A F"
with effect from 7 December 2021. The stock short names of the
Company for trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange have been changed from “ZJ TECH SERVICE” to “ZZ
TECH GP” in English and from " & B RH" to “REEHZ" in
Chinese, with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 28 January 2022. The
website address of the Company has been changed from “www.
zhongjintechnology.com” to “www.zztech-group.com” with
effect from 28 January 2022 to reflect the change of company
name.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Corporate Social Responsibility

Sustainable development and environmental protection are
embedded in our corporate culture. The Group has participated in
a wide range of charitable activities, many of which have been
recognized by various organizations. During the Year, we received
a number of honours or acknowledgments of our work as a
responsible corporate citizen:

— A Caring Company by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service

— A Good MPF Employer with “e-Contribution Award” & “MPF
Support Award” by Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority

— A "Wastesi$e Certificate” & “Energysi$e Certificate” under
Hong Kong Green Organization Certification

— A Happy Company by the Hong Kong Promoting Happiness
Index Foundation and Hong Kong Productivity Council
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 38.1% of the Group’s revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 13.5% of the Group’s
revenue. In addition, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 22.5% of the Group’s cost of services with the
largest supplier constituted approximately 9.2% of the Group’s
cost of services.

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had interest in any of the Group'’s
five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2021 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

The Group did not own any property or property interests as at 31
March 2022.
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INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 215 to
216 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 65 to 81 of this annual
report.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

On 1 April 2022, the board of directors of the Company proposed
to change the name of the Company from “ZZ Technology Group
Company Limited FIEREEERHER AR " to “Kingwisoft
Technology Group Company Limited & ZRHTE@IEHBRE Q7"
(the “Change of Company Name”). On 14 June 2022, the
proposed resolution in relation to the Change of Company Name
was duly passed as special resolution. The Change of Company
Name is still subject to and conditional upon the same being
approved by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 1 April
2022 and 14 June 2022 as well as the circular of the Company
dated 23 May 2022 for details. The Company will make further
announcement concerning the effective date of the change of
Company name and the new stock short names in due course.

On 12 May 2022 (after trading hours), Dalian Kingwisoft
Technology Co., Ltd.* KiESZmEBHE D B R AT, a deemed
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the equity transfer
framework agreement with Sichuan Zhiyuan Fanglue Data
Technology Group Co., Ltd.* FOJI|BUR FEEEERI RSB AR A
A], pursuant to which Sichuan Zhiyuan Fanglue Data Technology
Group Co., Ltd.* WIIBEFBEEREEBFR A A
conditionally agreed to sell and Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co.,
Ltd.* RESERE RN AR A F conditionally agreed to
purchase 40% of the equity interest in Mianyang Kingwisoft
Zhiyuan Internet Service Co., Ltd.* &2f5 S ZBUR BB ARG HR
73 A], a company established under the laws of the PRC with
limited liability, for a consideration of RMB5,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$5,807,500). Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan
Internet Service Co., Ltd.* 4352 BUr MR AR A A is a
60% non-wholly owned subsidiary Dalian Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd.* KBS ERERHERMABMR AR and is principally
engaged in the provision of back-office services (primarily
provision of customer service solutions and setting up of contact
service systems and centres) in the PRC. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 12 May 2022 for details.
The completion of this transaction had been taken place on 10
June 2022 and since then Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan Internet
Service Co., Ltd.* #3[5& 2 BUR BB AR AR 2 7 has become
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co.,
Ltd.* RESEBRE R ERMNBEMR AT and a deemed indirect
subsidiary of the Company.

* for identification purpose only
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Save as disclosed above, there is no material event after reporting
year and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

On 1 December 2020, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned and
BDO Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company.
Details of the change of auditor were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor
of the Group during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of
BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

NIU Zhanbin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2022
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

(9

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “CG Code") throughout the Year.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group’s
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during this Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board compositions

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the chief executive
officer of the Company, monitors the internal control
policies as well as risk management effectiveness, and
evaluates the financial performance of the Group with an
aim to enhancing shareholders’ value. The Board currently
comprises three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board sets
out on pages 30 to 31 of this annual report. Biographical
details of the Directors and the relationship amongst them,
if any, are set out on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.

Four board meetings were held during the Year. The
attendance of the relevant Directors are set out on page 72
of this report.
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Independent non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received the confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr.
ZHANG Weidong and Mr. ZENG Liang, and considers all of
them independent in accordance with the guidelines set out
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance, which
includes formulating business development strategies,
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs, reviewing the
financial statements of the Company, approving quarterly
reports, interim reports, annual reports and announcements
of quarterly results, interim results and annual results,
considering dividend policy, reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and so
on.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.
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The Board also delegates certain necessary powers and
authorities to the subsidiary’s board of directors to review
the corporate advisory services while the Board has an
oversight role.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee authorities to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.

Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by BT Corporate
Governance Limited (the “Internal Auditor”) performing the
internal audit function.

During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
reviewed the Group’s compliance manual; reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board’'s duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he has received during the Year, which is set
out on page 72 of this annual report.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

(F)

68

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company are separated.

Mr. NIU Zhanbin is the chairman of the Company who is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board.

The chief executive officer of the Company (the "CEQ") is
responsible to the Board for managing the business of the
Group. Mr. JIANG Yulin's duty as the CEO was terminated
on 5 June 2022 and Mr. LIU Yang was appointed as the
CEO on 5 June 2022. Mr. HU Shilong is the co-CEO.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are for a period of three years. All of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Mr.
NIU Zhanbin and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZENG Liang (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee included, among other
things, (i) formulating, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and members of senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iii) determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held one
meeting during the Year.

(D) EFRATHAR

(E)

(F)
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group’s remuneration policy and structure, determined the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to the adjustment
of the director fee of the independent non-executive
Directors, having regard to comparable companies and
other relevant factors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Mr. NIU Zhanbin (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee)
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee covered,
among other things, (i) the reviewing of the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates for
directorship; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, reviewed the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting in 2021,
and nominated the appointment of an independent non-
executive Director.

(G)
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According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size, composition and diversity (including the
evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional experience,
cultural and educational background, gender and age of the
Board members and assessment on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Board at least
annually. It is responsible for making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy and succession planning for
the Directors from time to time and selecting suitable and
qualified individuals to become Board members. In
evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the
Nomination Committee considers various factors including
but not limited to: the character and integrity; skills and
expertise; professional and educational background;
potential time commitment for the board and/or committee
responsibilities; and the elements of our Board Diversity
Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination Committee
makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the
appropriate person among the candidates nominated for
directorship. The Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in
accordance with the Articles of the Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of
having a diverse board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable
growth for the Group. A balanced and diversified Board
brings a broad range of views to bear upon discussions and
critical decision-making, and balances against “group
thinking”. Our Board Diversity Policy is multi-faceted
stressing business experience, skill-sets, knowledge and
professional expertise in addition to gender, ethnicity and
age. The said elements have substantially been included in
the current Board composition.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee recognises the importance and benefits of the
gender diversity at the Board level and shall continue to take
initiatives to identify at least one female candidate to
enhance the gender diversity among the Board members.
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(H) AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. ZHANG Weidong
and Mr. ZENG Liang in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29
of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among other things, (i) reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process; (ii) reviewing
internal control as well as risk management systems of the
Group; (iii) reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group;
and (iv) reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of
audit work of the internal auditor and external auditor and
ensure their coordination. The Audit Committee held four
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Internal Auditor, reviewing quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group and providing advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
and made recommendations to the Board for improvements.
The Audit Committee considered and approved the terms of
engagement and remuneration of the external auditor, and
discussed with them the nature and scope of their audits
before the audits commenced. In discharging its duties, the
Audit Committee met with the Group’s management,
Internal Auditor and external auditor several times during
the Year.

At the meeting held in June 2022, among other things, the
Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board’s approval.
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() ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND () EEEEREI
TRAINING
During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at RAFE SEELRFREFTCCE  BRZE
Board Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting, Remuneration Eges FHEZEeew RREEgY
Committee Meeting, Nomination Committee Meeting, the FER20VFREBAFRE RREHNRE -
2021 Annual General Meeting, Extraordinary General PARIEI Z 2080 -
Meeting and their training records are as follows:
Number of meetings attended/held
b/ EhEERE
2021
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual  Extraordinary
Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee General General
Name of Directors during the Year Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
mE
Eze BNZEE  HMzEE RAZEg REEE BREH
AEEEENS &2 &3 g2 &2 - xg il
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. NIU Zhanbin EhELE 44 - n n 1 n /
M. JANG Yulin BEEE

(removed on 5 June 2022) (202256 A5BER) 44 - - - i 1 /
M. LIU Yang )

(appointed on 5 June 2022) (R2022%6A5B%f) - - - - - - -
Mr. WU Hui REXE 44 - - - " /1 /
Independent non-executive Directors: ~ BU#E77EE .

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID £ 44 44 - n 1 n
Mr. ZHANG Weidong FEREE 44 44 /1 i /1 1
Mr. ZHANG Longgen RERLE

(resigned on 30 April 2021) (R 200154 B30BET) - - - - - - -
Mr. ZENG Liang BR%E

(appointed on 30 Apri 2021) (R0 E4ANEZA) 44 44 /1 - 1”1 1 /
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL

The Group places high importance on internal control which
is the foundation of the Group’s reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for supervising a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee was assisted by the Internal Auditor,
to assess and review if a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system are in place at
least once a year. The Internal Auditor reported to and met
with the Audit Committee to review internal audit findings
on enterprise risk and internal control matters.

During the year of 2021, the world has been continuously
facing a critical situation caused by the COVID-19 virus,
giving a significant challenge to all stakeholders in the globe.
The Group has taken a series of appropriate arrangements
to handle the impact throughout this extraordinary period.

)
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Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Internal
Auditor, using risk-based approach, has identified and
carried out review on four areas covering financial,
operational, strategies and compliance.

The approach used by the Internal Auditor comprises the
following phases:

o Obtaining an understanding of the existing
procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group through enquiries and discussion with
management and appropriate personnel;

o Identifying and classifying the key risks faced by the
Group;

. Assessing the likelihood and impact of each risk factor;

J Carrying out review and assessment on the those
critical aspects of the key procedures, systems and
controls of the Group to address the risk factors;

o Evaluating the residual risks with the relevant control
measures taken into account; and

o Making recommendations, based on Internal Auditor’s
observations, documentation and review of the
procedures, systems and controls that could improve
the effectiveness and/or efficiency of the procedures,
systems and controls to mitigate the risks to which the
Group is subjected.

Based on the report done by the Internal Auditor, apart
from the risk in relation to the COVID-19 situation, the
Group has been reminded that the risk in maintaining,
obtaining and renewal of certain qualification certificates,
licenses and intellectual property rights should be carefully
managed since it could materially and adversely affect the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.
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Moreover, any leakage of personal data or client information
could bring a significant risk and impact to the Group’s
business and reputation, and therefore the Group has
implemented strict internal control procedures to safeguard
the security and confidentiality of its databases.

The analysis and opinions from in-depth industry knowledge
and relevant-experienced professional third parties should
be taken into considerations.

Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which are sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Internal Auditor has conducted a review of the Group’s
internal control system by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of the
procedures, systems and controls established by the Group
in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and receipt
cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.

With respect to the internal control review done by the
Internal Auditor, no major issues on control failure is noted
during the Year.

The Board has conducted a review and is of the view that
both risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate for the Group to achieve its
objectives during the Year. The Board will continue to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems taking into consideration of the results of
reviews and audits performed by the Internal Auditor,
external auditor and Audit Committee and making sure that
all significant legal and regulatory requirements are adhered
to.
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Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which sets out guidelines and procedures as well as
measures to handle and disseminate inside information as
well as to establish minimum standards for handling of
material non-public information to protect client-sensitive
data and avoid violating any applicable laws or internal
policies. With these procedures and measures in place, the
Group is able to control and properly discharge its reporting
obligation, especially in relation to inside information
disclosure obligations, in a timely and effective manner and
in accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.

COVID-19 Virus and Business Continuity Plan

COVID-19 virus presents a unique risk and impact to the
globe since the beginning of last year, it creates uncertainty
and anxiety to the global economy and produces critical
damages to some industries. The Group realised that a
traditional business continuity plan such as relocating staff
to a secondary site may be insufficient to mitigate the risk.

The Group has developed a communication plan with staffs
to ensure the coordination and cooperation can be
maintained at a satisfactory level during this extraordinary
period.

Working-from-home practice has been widely adopted in
most of the businesses, the Group has also implemented
such practice to protect our employees.

Besides purchasing epidemic prevention products for our
employees throughout the period, the Company has also
provided various of employees’ benefits and practices to
provide a suitable protection to the employees.

BMAFRHEE

RBEAREREARHEENHIE - A%
EHERERA —BEFARE  ERELTE
WIRE - AKECRABIIES RIEF UK
R NBEMABEREROBRREERF - A
PR BRI EAFFRHAEMNRKEZE - A
RIZE P GURE K Rl 8 RAE B RA R
HAEHR - BREZFIEF NG - AEE
BERIRERERENR - R LA &
HEBTHAREME  LEHRBANARER
MEEER -

2019 B MR m B R EE R 5 A=

EFFYRE - 20198 MREZHE B2 IRET
KRR - TEEEMNTLZZEEZERIR
MR RETEREZEHRERRNBR
MBE - AEERB  EREBTEEN
ZHAIBE T R AR R RE - flinzHE 8
TRRER AR LT -

RTERTEE BOF R HR S 75 KPR
AEMAE AEEFIUTETBEREL
2Zhk

EREERPRONEHRNETEDBEZE
A MAKE R T EEERARERE
MERLE -

BREEMERERREHRERIN AR
AlTRAE B R E R EEN R EA SRR
HEERE -




77 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HvA% 7} 4 45 [ B A B A 7

2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4F- %

Corporate Governance Report

(K) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

(L)

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditor were approximately HK$2.55 million (approximately
RMB2.07 million) and HK$0.05 million (approximately
RMBO0.04 million) respectively. The non-audit services was
related to the professional fees for tax compliance services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The statement of the Company’s auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 82 to 89 of this annual report.

(M) JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

With effect from 17 January 2022, Mr. TUNG Sze Ho Dicky,
who is delegated by an external secretarial service provider,
Angela Ho & Associates, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company in place of Ms. CHAN Sau Mui
Juanna. With effect from 25 March 2022, Mr. HUO Ju was
appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company,
and Mr. TUNG has continued with the role and act as the
other joint company secretary of the Company. Mr. TUNG's
primary contact person at the Company is Mr. HUO, the
joint company secretary of the Company. Mr. TUNG
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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(N) DIVIDEND POLICY (N) REBE

The Board has approved and adopted the Dividend Policy on
21 June 2019 that aims to set out the principles and
guidelines of the Company in relation to the declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends to its
shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of
dividends should be in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. When considering dividend
declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take into
account the following factors:—

(1) business condition and strategy of the Group;

(2) capital requirement for the Group’s existing/potential
project or investment;

(3) earnings, financial and cash flow position and
distributable reserves of the Company and the Group;
and

(4)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to
recommend final dividends to the shareholders for approval;
and to declare or not to declare any other dividends,
including but not limited to interim and/or special dividends,
after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) to
(4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified

and/or cancelled from time to time as the Board may think
fit and necessary.
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(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

(P)

Saved as disclosed in “Change of Company Name, Stock
Short Names and Website Address” in the Directors’ Report
on page 60, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (for the attention
of the Company Secretary), specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the
outcome and an EGM will not be convened as
requested.
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3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Proposing a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary
notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to
be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also notice in writing signed by
the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be
elected.

The written notice must state the full name of the person to
be proposed for election as a Director, as well as the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. Upon receipt of the notice, the
Company will assess whether or not it is necessary to
adjourn the meeting of the election to give Shareholders at
least 10 business days to consider the proposed
appointment.
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(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS

As announced on 24 January 2022, the website of the Company
has been changed from “www.zhongjintechnology.com” to
“www.zztech-group.com” with effect from 28 January
2022 to reflect the change of the Company name.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company encourages all Shareholders to attend general
meetings, which provide opportunities for direct dialogue
between the Board and the Shareholders, and for
Shareholders to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals.

At the annual general meeting held 11 August 2021, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of audit, remuneration and nomination
committees and representatives from the auditor of the
Company, BDO Limited, were present to attend to possible
questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as quarterly, interim
and annual reports. The corporate website maintained by
the Company at www.zztech-group.com provides an
effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders. Shareholders and investors may at any time
send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the
Company Secretary by post at Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden
One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by
email at infohk@zztech-group.com.
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IBDO

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
EEE 1 +852 2218 8288 FATHEER115E
85 : +852 2815 2239 KEAD2548

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZZ TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ZHONGIJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES
GROUP COMPANY LIMITED)

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

REPORT ON THE STATEMENT

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 7Z
Technology Group Company Limited (formerly known as Zhongjin
Technology Services Group Company Limited) (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out
on pages 90 to 214, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (“the Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to note 18 (goodwill) to the consolidated
financial statement

As disclosed in note 5 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had gross carrying amount of goodwill
amounted to approximately RMB581,824,000 as at 31 March
2022, which arose from the acquisition of KingNine Holdings
Limited (“KingNine”) and its subsidiaries (the “KingNine Group”)
in 2020.

Based on the management assessment, no impairment loss on
goodwill was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

Refer to note 18 (goodwill) to the consolidated
financial statement (Continued)

Management engaged an independent valuer to assist in carrying
out the goodwill impairment assessment. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, management considered that KingNine
Group is a cash-generating-unit (the “KingNine CGU") and the
goodwill is allocated to the KingNine CGU. The recoverable
amount of the KingNine CGU was determined based on value-in-
use method. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to
forecast the future cash flows expected to arise from the KingNine
CGU based on the financial budgets approved by management.
Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the
goodwill impairment assessment. These significant judgements
and estimates include the adoption of appropriate method to
perform goodwill impairment assessment and the use of key
assumptions in the value-in-use calculation, which primarily
include revenue growth rate, long-term growth rate and pre-tax
discount rate.

We consider this area to be a key audit matter due to the
significance of the carrying amount of goodwill and the significant
judgements and estimates involved in the goodwill impairment
assessment.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

o We assessed the competency, capability and objectivity of
the external valuer engaged by management;

o We obtained management’s assessment on goodwill
impairment and engaged our in-house valuation experts to
assess the appropriateness of the method adopted by
management to perform goodwill impairment assessment
and the discount rate used by management. We challenged
and assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions
used in the value-in-use calculation with the involvement of
our in-house valuation experts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)
Our response: (Continued)

o We evaluated the reasonableness of the sensitivity analysis
performed by management on the key assumptions to
understand the impact of reasonable changes in assumptions
on the recoverable amount; and

o We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations
of the goodwill impairment assessment.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with audit committee with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

CHOI Kit Ying
Practising Certificate Number P07387

Hong Kong
21 June 2022
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 HI-FE

2022 F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT AREFIT
(Re-presented)
(Fe=3%1))
Continuing operations BESEEK
Revenue A 6 865,670 264,368
Cost of services BRAEAK AN (678,596) (181,207)
Gross profit E 5 187,074 83,161
Other income and losses, net H A REEFE 7 31,655 35,090
Gain from derecognition of financial REENATENCREE
assets measured at amortised costs B LEFT S M E 13,936 =
Recovery of written-off trade receivables U [E] B 5 & 5 FE Uk 2B 5,980 -
Marketing expenses =l ba (9,235) (2,624)
Research and development expenses EEF 2 (28,114) (7,196)
Administrative expenses THRAX (87,654) (60,366)
Provision of expected credit loss on JFEE Ui B R e L A B LS R IR
accounts and other receivables, net EEEEBERETE (12,542) (313)
Finance costs B 765 Ak 2N 8 (17,067) (6,413)
Share of loss of an associate i /NG S = (17) =
Profit before tax BRBSARE R 9 84,016 41,339
Income tax expenses Frig®if X 10 (12,886) (10,648)
Profit for the year from continuing FRFAREER R
operations 71,130 30,691
Discontinued operation ERIERENER
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued A 4R |48 S 7%
operation mAl (E1E) 15 5,825 (3,815)
Profit for the year F R F 76,955 26,876
°
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 20223 A 31 H L FE

2022 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt s AR¥FT ARETFIT
(Re-presented)
(Fe=31))
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hiab2mEWE(5E)
ltems that may be subsequently AgeEFHHIES
reclassified to profit or loss: BmMIEE
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEER
translation of foreign operations b =5 (5,143) (37,719)
Reclassification of translation reserve HE KT B A FIRE X
upon disposal of subsidiaries RENEFHHE (5,265) =
Reclassification of translation reserve B B8 A B 5 S A B
upon deregistration of a subsidiary RENEFHHE 1,259 -
Items that will not be reclassified to TEENIEEEEN
profit or loss: HH
Fair value loss on equity instrument BEATEFAEMEER
at fair value through other WaatEm T AW
comprehensive income NERE 20 = (3,235)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FRNHEMMEEESE
net of tax HERTIE (9,149) (40,954)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FrzmEkE(EE)
for the year AEE 67,806 (14,078)
Profit for the year attributable to: BT ATEEFRET :
Owners of the Company EAREEA
arises from continuing operations REAFELEER 74,525 29,968
arises from discontinued operations RESRIEEERNET 5,825 (3,815)
80,350 26,153
Non-controlling interests =R RS
arises from continuing operations REAFELEERS (3,395) 723
arises from discontinued operations REBKLIERENER = -
(3.395) 723
76,955 26,876
®
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
1y 1H A S LAt 2 i M 4R 3R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 20223 A 31 HIFFE

2022 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Htst AR¥FT AREFIT
(Re-presented)
(Fe=3%1))
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTATEGEZE
attributable to: Wz (E518) 45 -
Owners of the Company EAREEA
arises from continuing operations REAFELE RS 68,596 14,431
arises from discontinued operations KEDKRIERE TS 2,605 (29,232)
71,201 (14,801)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R RS
arises from continuing operations REFBELEER (3,395) 723
arises from discontinued operations REBKLIEEENER = =
(3,395) 723
67,806 (14,078)
Earnings per share attributable to AATEEAELRBREF
owners of the Company
Continuing operation HEKEER
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EAL#E(ARED) 14 1.78 0.78
Discontinued operation ERIRENER
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EANEES (ARED) 14 0.14 (0.10)
Earnings per share for the year FREFIRZF] 14 1.92 0.68
°
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e IR D 3%

As at 31 March 2022 74202243 A 31 H

2022 F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FIT AREFIT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property and equipment E Y& L] 16 70,501 28,068
Intangible assets B EE 17 184,076 184,693
Goodwill [EEES 18 581,824 581,824
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 42,370 28,119
Deferred tax assets FIERIAE B 34 6,917 8,720
Equity instrument at fair value through BAFEGAEMEERES
other comprehensive income MR T A 20 15,564 1,328
Loan receivables FEE R 21 = 12,690
Deposits e 22 672 4
Interest in associate REEL N R AR 28 5,983 -
Total non-current assets FRBEEHATE 907,907 845,446
Current assets REEE
Inventories & 26 1,377 2,080
Accounts receivable FEURBE FX 23 485,259 311,326
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFRIE - e REMEK
receivables RIF 24 88,630 48,393
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEGTAELS (AT
profit or loss (“FVTPL") Bif ABm]HWEmEE 25 4,880 5,061
Tax receivable FEUR A TR = 425
Bank balances and cash WITEHREIR 27 86,047 202,710
Total current assets RBEEHAE 666,193 569,995
Current liabilities pE =R
Accounts payable FERHBR R 29 11,346 10,564
Other payables and accruals H b pE 0B K fEETE B 30 54,157 38,689
Contract liabilities EH8E 31 8,619 1,406
Bank and other borrowings RIT R HEMER 32 140,779 29,000
Tax payables eI TR IR 8,304 7,479
Consideration payables FERHRE 36 70,000 70,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 33 20,962 11,247
Total current liabilities REBEEAE 314,167 168,385
®
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B 3 S 5 IR Dt

As at 31 March 2022 72202243 A 31 H

2022 F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARMT T ARMTF T
Net current assets REEETHE 352,026 401,610
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 1,259,933 1,247,056
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Consideration payables JERHR (B 36 129,499 190,837
Deferred tax liabilities RIET B A& 34 21,195 23,818
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 17,986 16,770
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEATE 168,680 231,425
Net assets EEBE 1,091,253 1,015,631
Capital and reserves EARRHEE
Share capital R& A 35 35,395 35,395
Reserves & 1,035,710 964,509
Equity attributable to owners of the RATEE ANELER
Company 1,071,105 999,904
Non-controlling interests PR 20,148 15,727
Total equity ERBE 1,091,253 1,015,631
On behalf of the directors REREE
NIU Zhanbin WU Hui
& 538 RyE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
= 4
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

/N 3L S
AW SR
For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 20223 A 31 H L FE

Retained
profits/ Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Statutory Revaluation Translation (Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus ~ reserve reseve  reserve losses) ~ Sub-total  interest Total
(ote(i)  (ote (i)  (otefiil)  (note (i)  (note ()
REEH/
Bk RORE HARR  iERE  EHERE  ERXRE  (RHER) Mt FERER @it
(n)  am)  (WeEa) o Ee) ()

RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETT ARETT AREFI ARETT ARETT AREFI AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFR

At 1 April 2020 R2020%4718 29,348 584,350 7944 - - 66,19 (39,708) 648,630 - 648,630

Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - 26,153 26,153 X} 26,876

Other comprehensive loss for the year FREM2EEE - - - - (3235) (31,7119 - (d0954) - (40954

Total comprehensive oss for the year ERREERLE = = = - BBy B9 26153 (14800) 3 (14078)

Transfer between reserves REEEY - - - 7740 - = (7,740) = = =

Isstie of new shares BTk 5547 360,528 - - - - - 366,075 - 366,075
Capital contributions from FERERTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 1,200 1,200

Acaquisition of subsidiaries WEHB AT - - - - - - = - 13804 13804

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RNE3A3NBR

021%E481A 35,395 944,878 7,944 7,740 (3,235) 284717 (21,295 999,904 15727 1,015,631

Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - 80,350 80,350 (3395) 76,955

Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ FREM2EEE - - - - - (9,149) - (9,149) - (9,149)

Total comprehensive income for the year  £R2AREEH = = = = = (9,149) 80,350 71,201 (3395) 67,806

Transfer between reserves BERED - - - 5,136 - - (5,136) - - -
Capital contributions from FERERTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 1,600 1,600

Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAT - - - - - - - - (5.716) (5.716)

Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - - (7,944) - - - 7,944 - 19 11932

At31 March 2022 HanE3A31R 3535 944478 - NS (3% 1938 61863 1071105 20,148 1,091,253
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Y
iR MERR B
For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 HI-FE

Note (i):

Note (ii):

Note (iii):

Note (iv):

Note (v):

96

The Group's share premium represents the proceeds received from share
issuance, net of any directly attributable transaction costs credited to
share capital and/or share premium.

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation prior to the listing, over the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange thereafter.

Statutory reserve represents the amounts set aside from the retained
profits by certain subsidiaries incorporated in People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") and is not distributable as dividend. In accordance with the
relevant regulations and their articles of association, the Company’s
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are required to allocate at least 10%
of their after-tax profit according to the PRC accounting standards and
regulations to legal reserves until such reserves have reached 50% of
registered capital. These reserves can only be used for specific purposes
and are not distributable or transferable to loans, advances, cash
dividends.

Change in fair value of equity instrument in note 20 is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated within the revaluation reserve
within equity. The Group will transfer amount from revaluation reserve to
retained profit when the relevant equity instrument is derecognised.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

BaE ) -

L (i) <

BitaE Giii) -

Bt (iv) -

Hfa () -

AREBEBR BRI BITZ SRR EANE
BEERGRZRZRA)  BIABRERZEHEET -

AEERHARBIEN EHARIBEARBOITER
AR EEBBILRETRIEMEBITNAR R RN
E{ER) B o

EEREEEEDPEARAMNME ((HEDEMRLZE
THEARZRZDEMNTSHATED REREZA
ZHOR o RBABERREASRRAR  ARERTE
AEMACSZ BT A R A iR B & s ERI KR
ERMBRBRENZD10% DEEEERE  EEZX
SREMEITMELRNS0% B - ZERBETA
PNEEME  TADKKEREEN  BFHREM]

B o
B

FiFE20 A s T AR AT EZ B 7 H s 2 ik s i
R WA R ANEGHFEHERNRA - HEREERTA
RITHER  AEESRERAEAREEEEREE
e

MEIGAMBHRERME  AREXB EERAR
THERREREPRERE 2 EREERE SAER
ZEREE(EIARE) - WARZHIAB THRZEH
ZFHERETRE  RIFERRZAREAHRKE
RBRIERR  RIEERT » BIRARRZRZERZHR
TR - ELZERZE(WNA) HREBEEEA
R WHEELHEHER TRERRA o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEBemER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 20223 A 31 H L FE

2022 F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaF AR¥FT ARKFT
(Re-presented)
(F&&E75)
Cash flows from operating activities R EZEFESRERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BELRDER (E51E)
— Continuing operations — R X 84,016 41,339
— Discontinued operations — BRI EET 5,825 (3,557)
Adjustments for: AT FIBVEHFEE
Dividend income Az 2 A 7 (49) (63)
Interest income FE A 7 (1,434) (7,340)
Finance costs BTG RS 8 17,067 6,413
Depreciation of property and equipment  #3 KR 1EITE 16 17,563 8,534
Loss on disposal of property and HEWENREEE
equipment 7 - 217
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEERTE 19 22,437 10,198
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEEE 17 21,919 9,045
Fair value (loss)/gain on investments at BEAFERABENRE
fair value through profit or loss, net RNTHE(EB) W
Pk 7 286 (2,186)
Recovery of written off trade receivables 4 [B] 2 # 45 2 5 FE Y 318 (5,980) =
Provision of expected credit loss on B U BR SR % L i U 3k IE
accounts and other receivables, net TEEEEBERE SR 12,542 313
Share of loss of an associate FE(R—MIEE & A RS 17 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries from HERBFELE X
continuing operations oy NGOl e 7 (6,469) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries from HERBERIKEEE
discontinued operations Ly ol 15 (8,114) =
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries FHIHR B B AR LA T
from discontinued operations g EENGIE o) g =] 1,259 -
Gain from derecognition of financial RE AT EN SR
assets measured at amortised cost BEMKIEAMSREE (13,936) -
Operating cash flows before working EEE S EBATR L E
capital changes BeneE 146,949 62,913
Increase in accounts receivable JE s BRRR3E N (161,326) (41,014)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERFRIA -« ke REAM
deposits and other receivables FEUS ZRIE (3EH0) w4 (56,988) 445,664
Decrease in loan receivables JE s B R 12,690 2,995
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/ () 703 (74)
Decrease in cash held on behalf of clients K& Fi5H 7R E R = 3
Decrease in accounts payable JE A~ BR SRk > (10,998) (1,688)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  E {ih jB{~ ZIA N B+ 2
accruals B CRid) 41,356 (248,523)
Increase in contract liabilities AHAaBEEmMm 7,213 463
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 4 & 27 (FiA) /Fii3R 4 (20,401) 220,739
Income tax paid BAPATEH (12,869) (20,621)
Net cash (used in)/from operating KeESTE (FTA) FiER$
activities TREE (33,270) 200,118
°
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
P =)
OBERER
For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 20223 A31 HILFE
2022 F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaF AR¥TFIT ARKFT
(Re-presented)
(&E5)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFBESRE
Purchase of property and equipment R E Y E 16 (60,893) (11,791)
Proceeds from the disposal of property HEYE NS ERTE IR
and equipment 63 -
Development costs paid B AR 17 (20,025) (7,791)
Purchase of software BEWHY 17 (1,277) =
Interest received EHFIE 7 1,434 7,340
Dividend income received AR B U A 7 49 63
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits REZBEIRITER 4,501 -
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash HENBAR - IRHE
disposed B 15,37 (1,746) =
Acquisition of an associate W B — Bt 25 A &) 28 (6,000) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash WHE B AR - MBRATS
acquired 4 36 725 (344,229)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFAESFEE (83,169) (356,408)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHRSASRE
Interest paid BAFE 39 (1,815) (914)
Proceed from borrowings BEEFERIE 39 182,000 -
Repayment of borrowings EgEtsE 39 (75,500) (26,000)
Repayment of interest portion of lease BEHEAENSES
liabilities 39 (1,311) (811)
Repayment of principal portion of lease ~ EEHEEBEAL IS
liabilities 39 (25,346) (9,807)
Repayment of consideration payables BEENRE 39 (70,000) -
Capital contribution from non-controlling  FEIZEKiER £ &
interests 1,600 1,200
Net cash from/(used in) financing BmMETERE(FFA)
activities R&F8E 9,628 (36,332)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 8% NIREEEBYRE LV F5E (106,811) (192,622)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F#IE& NKIEEEEY
the year 198,209 428,290
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — SME[E R FEHIE S LIRS
on cash and cash equivalents, net LY EFE (5.351) (37,459)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the ~ FXRIBENIELEEY
year 86,047 198,209
Analysis of balances of cash and cash BE&RBRESEEUWERD T
equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 27 86,047 121,383
Short-term bank deposits with original REHAR A=A A A TH
maturity of three months or less 5ERITIF K 27 = 76,826
Bank balances and cash as stated in the ~ ZAIREREXRATIH
consolidated statement of cash flow RITEHREIRS 86,047 198,209
Restricted bank balances ZRRGIRITAE B 27 - 4,501
Bank balances and cash as stated in the 474 BI Sk 2k 1 Frt iy
consolidated statement of financial RITHBEIR S
position 86,047 202,710

98




77 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED H 45} £ B 4 A B A W]

2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4F- %

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f 3 YA 985 e 3 B

For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 H 1L F[E

GENERAL

ZZ Technology Group Company Limited (formerly known as
“Zhongjin Technology Services Group Company Limited”)
(the “Company”) was incorporated in Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered address
and principal place of business of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands and Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong respectively. The shares
of the Company are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™).

As at 31 March 2022, the directors of the Company
("Directors”) considered that the Company’s immediate
holding company is Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited and the Company’s ultimate holding company is
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited. The Company’s
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Xie Zhikun. Mr. Xie Zhikun
passed away on 18 December 2021.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment
holding, provision of back-office services (primarily provision
of customer service solutions, and setting up of contact
service systems and centres), comprehensive marketing
services and data centre services.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed
subsidiaries which were principally engaged in provision of
corporate advisory services, investment advisory services,
asset management services, proprietary investments and
money lending business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

—REH

RERKEERMBER DA (FIME[+F 2R
RIRGEBRNBRAR]) ([RAF]) &R
EBEREBEEEME22ERTE(1961 FEH
E3fft - KA RIEE]) ER S B S MK
VHWERGRBR AT o ANA A M EE
I K F E & E B o Bl & P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands K 75 78 $ # /& 7 18 78 33 5% 7
B —HI1218 1204 F « RQRIRMND N E A
ERGERAF ([BFT]) GEM £ ©

M2022F3A318 ARAIESR([EE])
REBARRAINEZEER AT AZhong Zhi Xin
Zhuo Capital Company Limited & KA Fl#) &
& 42 B% A 8] AZhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital
Company Limited ° AN A Bl & 442 18 7 & iR
BHIRSEE - BEREFN2021F12 18 H
At o

ARBZEBXRBR/REER - HHER A
TENEREER BRHEGRBE (E2R
R P RISERTT R MRS B IR R K
Foly) T SH RS R BUR T LIRS o

REZE2022F3A31BILEFEE  A&EE T
ERETHBAR  ZEMBARETERER
HEEBEERY  KEBEBRE  EEER
k%% - BEEESREREER -

HFEMBHRRAARB(TARKE] 25 M
ARETARNRBNNEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 31 H IFF &

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

RpERVBBREER(FEY
BE|ELER )

(a) Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs (a) BEAFHITRKEITEBUBER

100

(b)

— effective 1 April 2021

Amendments to HKAS Interest Rate Benchmark
39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS Reform — Phase 2
7, HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS Covid-19-Related Rent
16 Concessions
Amendment to HKFRS Covid-19-Related Rent
16 Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

The adoption of new or revised HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the financial year beginning
on or after 1 April 2021 did not have any significant
impact on the Group’s accounting policies, financial
position and financial performance for the current and
prior years and/or the disclosures set out in the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

New/amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group's current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.

(b)

EXA —2021F4 8184

BB FFERIE 39
R BAEMISHRE
EHFE LY - BB
BIS RS ERIE 7
R BEAMBRE
HEBIE 9% M BB
TSRS RIS
1658 (IBRTA)

BB IS HRE %R
F 169 (BETAN)

BB kS R
ERTACHEN)

eSS e

— RBER

BRATERESH
@R

202146 A30
Rz BT
N OpE

B

HMR2021F4 1B 2 BFAKD
B B E 0l ) AE R AT BT SRS BT &
7S B 7S R s AE BIND B Y AR R B E A
FBAFEEMEFEE - BBARRAM
BB RBER /AN EEGE T ERE
e BEAND BT MEATE -

BB R W 2T
IBATE B RS A

WA B M R 3 B A R B R A
RERBZHET GBS
0 B T R R L A B A TR AR
B - A% E B 318 B R AR AN A 8
ERREEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&30 0 5 e 2% B e

For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 H 1L F[E

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. WS EBHEHREER ([ EFHEH
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") B EER |)2)
(Continued)
(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMEEKRERZHT &
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) BT BB EREER (&)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related BRI RE &R Ria &4 RiakEE:
Amendments? F17%
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual Framework' Freyey o Sarteyi-4:1] BASIER Y Bt
E3RUETE)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERUHMELEN REFEEBLNA
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint F10RREES REMECHAMEE
Venture? SHERIZE 2857 HESTE?
({BRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or AR ERNE 1R aBEIEARYIGER
Non-current and the related ({BRTA) BREEREESS
amendments to Hong Kong (20204 ) KAERE(EET 2
Interpretation 5 (2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies? BERSTENE NS SRR’
and HKFRS Practice CHESV &
Statement 2 B EERE
BHE2%
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? BEQITENESR eiffirteTR?
({BRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BEETENFE 12 BE-IFELNEE
Liabilities arising from a Single CCHES) YLl of i
Transaction? 152
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: BEQERE 165 NE BELRE—#
Proceeds before Intended Use' ({/HTM THARNZFEEE!
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling ARSHHERETY BREAD —
a Contract' ({BTA) BITEHZKA
Amendment to HKFRSs Annual improvement to HKFRSs BRMBEERER  BHEMBEREEL2018
2018-2021 cycle! CHES FENFRHF
B!
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 1 R2022F 1 A1 B2 %R 2 FEHM
2022. 2 o
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 H%‘;%23¢1 R1B8z%FABz FEHA
2023. 2 o
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 3 E%\\;-i;i HEIsk 2 B FtA 2 FEEAR AR -
determined.
The directors of the Company are in the process of KRR EB LA EZEH REE
making an assessment of what the impact of these A BBV IEHREER RN R
new or revised HKFRSs is expected to be in the period TEHE HEEAMBEHRRIELRADT
of initial adoption. Up to date when the consolidated EEeHAELREETRA  AQT]
financial statements were approved and authorised for EREWITABZETTHEETER
issue by the board of directors of the Company, the B & SR &5 XE B B9 {E{a] 5 T - 0] A ¥ A
directors of the Company did not aware of any aspect &= F l,iv?é.\ B RENRES 25 A E
of these new or revised HKFRSs which are likely to A

have a significant impact on the preparation or
presentation on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
the consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are account for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

R
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

—  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

—  has power over the investee;

— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

— has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

mMBLEYE (2)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

— deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

— liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

— assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer/acquiree is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement period (a
maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
CGUs).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of
and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

Changes in the Group’s interest in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

4,

FESTHER®)

GEEE )

REEERESELEUNBRASELSE
fARAZ ERSELBMUR  BHEZRE
B ABELEREXBRSENA -
EAEEHLERELBU(HBRSELE
AR R IR & EEBA) AR EFEE - AT
HERBSRERAHERK(BREELE
i) BETREBRECEL BN (KB SELEN
MRl B mRHEEEENE -

FEEREENBAR ZERSH

ol 78 52 B Sk 5 S0 P 8 8 R A A - BIRZH
BRARNEERABEAKIEERER (0F)
SWBUHER o Wat B EN B R - X
() T B A E R ARG ERO D
FENEBEGHARREBARGZHNER
AMEE (BREAE) RAENEREERNE
BAtE - BERZMBRARNEMEZEEA
BRNAASBRDBRARAER L EMN B
NEMBEERBBEARGIR RERE
B BREERMEIRA LA MERSEE
B ERE S S ER) - RKREZEH
REANAMNBRRRENEMERERF
B @RARREFEMBEREELE IR
F(MBEBR)RERARBEREARORF
B BRERMELFRAELENRENK
N o

107




77 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED =5 Rk 45 F B4 A B A ]

2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
»t‘/ﬁ/\ﬂd‘%iﬁi@ Igfj l;lf

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A 31 HI-F/E

108

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associate

Where the Group has the power to participate in (but not
control) the financial and operating policy decisions of
another entity, it is classified as an associate. Associates are
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost. Subsequently associates are accounted for
using the equity method, where the Group’s share of post-
acquisition profits and losses and other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income (except for losses
in excess of the Group’s investment in the associate unless
there is an obligation to make good those losses).

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised only to the extent of
unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The investor’s
share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from
these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of
the associate.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in
the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate has
been impaired the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-
financial assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group
will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Back-office services

For back office services, the Group primarily involves in the
provision of a range of services that help its clients to
support their end-users. This includes primarily provision of
customer service solutions which primarily provides round-
the-clock contact services in multiple languages and
accessible from various channels and provision of solutions
on project-based customer service software and system
development and setup support services.

For the provision of customer service solutions related
services, revenue is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered. The provision of services is billed based on
various measurement mainly taking into account the
number of service staff involved, the quality of the tasks
performed, the service hours provided with fixed hourly
rates and performance based adjustments. The Group has a
right to invoice in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date.
The directors of the Company have assessed that
outsourcing services represent one single performance
obligation and the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs. Therefore, the directors of the
Company considered that the services are satisfied over
time. Revenue from the provision of services is recognised in
an amount to which the Group has a right to invoice.
Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis or according to
agreed payment terms and consideration is payable when
invoiced.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Back-office services (Continued)

For the provision of revenue from setting up contact services
systems and centres, it includes a comprehensive set of
activities in the contract, such as system design,
implementation, installation, trial launch and software and
hardware support, which are highly interdependent and
interrelated. The directors of the Company have assessed
that revenue from provision of the services is recognised at a
point in time when the services are rendered according to
the terms of the agreements which the control of the service
is transferred when the Group has provided the related
services.

Comprehensive marketing services

The Group renders various marketing services including
advertising services to brand owners on various platforms
including apps, social media and websites. Revenue from
provision of the services is recognised when the services are
rendered according to the terms of the agreements which
the control of the service is transferred when the Group has
provided the related services over the service period, the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. Revenue from provision of comprehensive
marketing services is recognised over the period in which
the services are rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Data centre services

The Group provides various corporate data centre services
such as value-added services to internet data centres for
securities houses, including their trading system, quotation
system and data processing system. The revenue is
recognised when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group throughout the contract period.
Thus, the Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time with reference to the actual
service period passed relative to the total contract period.
The portion of services fee received in advance but not
earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected as a
current liability as such amounts represent revenue that the
Group expects to earn within one year.

Performance obligations for the provision of back-office
services, comprehensive marketing services and data centre
services are either for a period of one year or less or bill a
fixed amount for each month of services provided. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Corporate advisory services

Corporate advisory income from providing specified financial
advisory services in relation to type 4 (advising on securities)
and/or type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities within the scope of financial services related
activities, are recognised at a point in time when the reports
are issued under the terms of each engagement and the
revenue can be measured reliably, as only that time the
Group has a present right to payment from the customers
for the service performed. Invoices for the financial services
are issued upon signing service contracts and when research
report is delivered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of staff quarters and office equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

— the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

— an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

— fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

— variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

— amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

—  the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

— payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

With the exception to which the practical expedient for
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions applied (see note2(a)),
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

— the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

— the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Renminbi) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transaction

Share options granted to employees and other
providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment, to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at date of
grant, the fair value of share option granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transaction
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees and other
providing similar services (Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve, if any, will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will continue to be held in share options
reserve.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as accounts and other payables and other non-
current liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial information of the Group and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents included cash in hand, short term bank deposits
with original maturities of three months or less.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

— the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGUs when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of CGU. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of CGU. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group if CGU)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a CGU or a group of CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for account receivable arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial assets or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

— the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

— the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

— the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of equity investment in
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combinations to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is as held for trading if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

— on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

— itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit- impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
OCl and accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group'’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial asset (including
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, loans and receivables, restricted cash, pledged
deposits, and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
counterparties, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix with reference to internal credit rating of
the receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4,

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers the event of default occurs when the
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

In respective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit
impaired were assessed individually. Where ECL is
measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days
past due.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts
and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the asse'ts of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including accounts and other payables
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a part of a single co-ordinated plan
to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned. Where an operation is classified as
discontinued, a single amount is presented on the face of
the statement of profit or loss, which comprises the post-tax
profit or loss of the discontinued operation and post-tax
gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group constituting the discontinued operation.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the directors of the Group are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Fair value assessment of the brand, customer
relationship and technical know-how and
the recognition of goodwiill arising from
business combinations

Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the
fair value assessment of the identified brand, customer
relationship and technical know-how and the recognition of
goodwill arising from business combinations. These
significant judgements and estimates include the adoption
of appropriate valuation methodologies and the use of key
assumptions in the valuation.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU or group
of CGU to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU or
group of CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash flows, a material impairment loss/further impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill is RMB581,824,000. No impairment loss was
recognised during the year. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 18.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable

Accounts receivable with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the
Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the
accounts receivable which are individually insignificant. The
provision rates are based on aging as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix
is based on the Group'’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s accounts
receivable are disclosed in Note 42 and Note 23 respectively.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for PRC income taxes. There are a number of
transactions and calculations for which ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential tax
exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will affect the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"), responsible for
making strategic decisions, allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments. The
reportable operating segments and their results are as
below:

—  provision of value-added telecommunications and
related services (including back-office services,
comprehensive marketing services and data centre
services); and

—  provision of financial services (including corporate
advisory service)

Segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reported
to the Group’s CODM regularly. As a result, reportable
assets and liabilities have not been presented in these
financial statements.

As discussed in Note 15, the Group no longer carries on the
provision of financial services (collectively, the “Disposal
Group”) upon the disposal during the year ended 31 March
2022. The results of this segment have been classified as
discontinued operations of the Group for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(Continued)

Segment results

For the year ended 31 March 2022

WARDHER &)

paiE

HZE2022F3A831HILLFE

Continued Discontinuing
operations operations
BELEER BALBEEK
Value-added
telecommunication Financial
and related services Corporate services Total
REEERARRY s SREE fst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ABBTT AEETT
Revenue WA 865,670 - 903 866,573
Gross profit = 187,074 - 903 187,977
Other income and losses, net Hi A REBFE 22,142 8,913 6,855 38,510
Gain from derecognition of financial ~ KEHER A ENLBEEN
assets measured at amortised costs BB YE 13,936 - - 13,936
Recovery of written-off trade KEBHHEE 5 R E
receivables 5,980 - - 5,980
Marketing expenses EHEEY (9,235) - - (9,235)
Research and development expenses  FEF % (28,114) - - (28,114)
Administrative expenses TRAEZ (51,892) (35,762) (1,933) (89,587)
Provision of expected credit loss on FEYR S R EL A e MR
accounts and other receivables, net  EEIEEEERETE (12,542) = = (12,542)
Finance costs BB (8377) (8,690) - (17,067)
Share loss of an associate el —RBE N RER (17) = = (17)
Profit(loss) before tax BBiATER| /(B8 119,555 (35.539) 5,825 89,841
°
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDIER &)
(Continued)
Segment results (Continued) DEBFE(2)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31HILLEE
Continued Discontinuing
operations operations
SELERK BRIEEREH
Value-added
telecommunication Financial
and related services Corporate services Total
BESERIEERS (> DRRS @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEEFTL ANEEFTL ANEEFTL ANEEFTL
Revenue LON 264,368 - 1,795 266,163
Gross profit EH 83,161 - 1,795 84,956
Other income and losses, net Hi AR EE % 15,774 19,316 108 35,198
Marketing expenses AR (2,624) = = (2,624)
Research and development expenses HEREY (7,19) - - (7,196)
Administrative expenses TBAY (16,848) (43,518) (5,460) (65,826)
Provision of expected credit loss on FRURER 3Rt e WA
accounts and other receivables, net BREEFERETS (313) = = (313)
Finance costs BIFSRCR (1,622) (4,791 - (6,413)
Profit/loss) before tax BHaER/ (B8) 70,332 (28,993) (3,557) 37,782
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARZHER &)

(Continued)
Segment results (Continued) DEBFE(2)
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services are AEFEFBRBWAR DT :
as follows:
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AREFIT
Continuing operations HEREER
Value-added telecommunication and HESEE MEERY
related services:
— Back-office services — & BB
e Provision of customer service solutions* e (2{t= FARFEHRIA T ! 693,776 247,043
e Setting up of contract service systems o FEEAA RIS RGN0
and centres* 663 8,602
694,439 255,645
— Comprehensive marketing services — 2EEHERSE 149,746 931
— Data centre services* — BB O BRTS 21,485 7,792
865,670 264,368
Discontinued operations ERUERENER
Financial services: & BARTS
— Corporate advisory services* — R AR 83 355
— Loan interest income** — B BURA 820 1,440
Total HEt 866,573 266,163
#  Revenue from contracts with customers #* &S 4& 41U A 865,753 264,723
#  Revenue from other sources At 2RI 820 1,440
866,573 266,163
°

145




146

7.7 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED H A5 4 [ it 40 i 2 W) °
2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
22 N\ 2
Fn v A 5 2 B
For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 31 H IFF &
6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition WA TESR RS
Continuing Discontinued
operations operations
BFEREEY BRIERENER
Value-added
telecommunication
and related services Financial services Total
BESEREERE SRR @t
2022 20214 2022 F 20214 2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000
ARKFIT AREFIT AREFT ARETT AR¥FRT AREKTT
At a point in time R, 663 8,602 83 355 746 8,957
QOver time 8 B [ 865,007 255,766 - - 865,007 255,766
865,670 264,368 83 355 865,753 264,723
Geographical information EE R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIBEFHIKA
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTF T
Continuing operations BEREER
The PRC =8 865,670 264,368
2022 & 2021 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Discontinued operations EARIERENER
Hong Kong &5 83 355
The United States of America EFBRERE ([EE])
(the "USA™) 820 1,440
903 1,795
Total BET 866,573 266,163
The revenue information above is based on the P ABR T ERBRFERS
location of the customers. ) o
°
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 H 1L F[E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

(b) Non-current assets

WARDHER &)
HEER(E)

(b) ¥ EBEE

2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT ARMTF T

The PRC A 881,194 820,111
Hong Kong 55 3,560 2,593
884,754 822,704

The non-current asset information is based on the
location of assets and excludes financial instruments
(e.g. equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income, loan receivables and deposits)
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
During the year, revenue from customers individually

contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group are as
follows:

FERBEEERDENEEMEHR -
TEESBT A (R AFHERF AR
PEHNKEMNESTA  BRERKE
&) MREEHIBEE

FEFFEHR

FAEREERWAER10% 2 @R
FPYAT :

2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETT

Customer A ZEA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C BFEC

117,166 32,462
- 29,698
- 29,328

For the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, customers A,
B and C are from value-added telecommunication and
related services segments.

REZE2022FK%2021E3A31ALLEE -
EPA - BRCORBIZESERARMRE D&
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7. OTHER INCOME AND LOSSES, NET 7. HinlW AREEFRE
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARBFT

Continuing operations FEREEK

Net investment (loss)/income RE(FE) WA FEE

Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial BEAFERABR ([FAFER

assets at fair value through profit or ABmHEmEEN R TE
loss (“FVTPL") (E518),Wias 558 (286) 2,186

Dividend income % B A 49 63

Interest income FEWA

Interest income from financial assets at REEKANESREENTIE

amortised costs WA

— Bank deposits — RITHER 962 3,412
Interest income from financial assets at AT EFAERNESBHEEDN

FVTPL FLEMA

— Structured deposit — BT 15 3,916

Interest income from former subsidiaries & & B B A 7189 F 2 UL A 457 -

Other income and losses Hih AR EE

Government grants and subsidies (note (i) B /48 & @ Bh (M5 ) 13,072 3,095

Value-Add Tax (“VAT") refund (note (i) &R ([$SEF ) BEL (K75 (i) 5,418 5,580

Gain/(loss) on exchange differences FEH Z=EEm s (E8) 1,833 9,235

Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - HE kB EERE

equipment = (217)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QK 6,469 -
Others Hip 3,666 7,820

31,655 35,090
Discontinued operations ERIERENER 6,855 108
38,510 35,198

Notes: HtaE -

(i) The government grants and subsidies mainly represented the rent (i) BT A EZERSHE SRt
subsidies, high-tech enterprise subsidies, subsidies related to software e M RB TR - SEm -
and digital innovations enterprise, employment subsidies.

(i) According to the Value-Added Tax Policy for Software Products (Cai (i) BRBEHHEREESRBRKR(MFE2011FEFE110

148

Shui 2011 No. 110), for sale of self-developed software products by a

general VAT tax payer, after VAT is levied at a tax rate of 17%, the

refund-upon-collection policy shall be applied and the portion of the
actual VAT burden that is in excess of 3% shall be refunded.

5 B ARIEEB AT ANE B ERBMHME
i 7% TR B ETNR - BRAERIK
REE TRREBEFEERAEBIB3%NE

5
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FINANCE COSTS

2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFT
Continuing operations HELEEK
Interest on bank borrowings IRITEEF S 1,823 507
Interest on other borrowings HEERL 5,271 407
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGEZNE 1,311 811
Interest on consideration payable FERREZHE 8,662 4,688
17,067 6,413
PROFIT BEFORE TAX b
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFIT
Continuing operations FEREEK
Employee benefit expense (including EEBNAX (BREEME)
Directors’ remuneration) (note 11) (Bta£11)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits — ¥4 HENHMET 379,014 138,440
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIKBFIFTEI 3k
contributions 32,937 7,955
— Amounts capitalised —BRftER (10,892) (6,176)
401,059 140,219
Auditor's remuneration ZE AT BN 2 2,068 1,595
Legal and professional fees FEERBEXEER 4,624 16,271
Depreciation of property and equipment  ¥)% R &I E (st 16)
(note 16) 17,563 8,534
Less: Amount attributable to discontinued i @ B &R IEE L ¥ E(H S 5B
operation (note 15) (Kiat15) (34) (87)
Amounts capitalised BEXR(beRE (241) =
17,288 8,447
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (FiE19)
(note 19) 22,437 10,198
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 17) & EE s (17 17)
— Cost of services — ARFE A AN 4,428 871
— Administrative expenses — THHEX 17,491 8,174
21,919 9,045
'
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 31 H IFF &
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FAIBFHAX
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARBFT
Continuing operations HEREER
Current tax BIHEARH IR
PRC Enterprise Income tax (“EIT") FREEMER(EMER]) 13,706 14,453
Under provision in prior years BEFERETE - 2,127
13,706 16,580
Deferred tax (note 34) IEIERIE (K aF 34) (820) (5,932)
12,886 10,648
Discontinued operations EARIERENER
Current tax BNHEARH IR
Hong Kong Profits tax BBFER - 258
12,886 10,906

150

The basic tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25%
under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and implementation regulations of the EIT Law. For
the current year, certain subsidiaries of the Group qualified
as advanced technology enterprises and have obtained
approvals from the relevant tax authorities for the reduction
of the applicable tax rate to 15%.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill"”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime continues to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

REBCPBEEEMBIE) ([EERETOE])
REEMBBOREMRED] - A& E+ BB
RAIMEARRER25% c- RAFE - AEE
ETHBRARNTARHRMEEER  EE
MHEAN SR A @R R R RME15% °

R2018F 3 A21H » HFNEGBEE(2017
FRBUBE]) (B75%) GHIER) (HEHE
2]) ESIANBRMARST o ZIEFIERR
2018F3 A28 AEEEX B EZEZANEH
FEERTZE - REFSHMEL - GERE
EERENEE2EEBTRaMNIA8.25% T
Y MBBE2ESEB T2 %M 16.5%
HRREER - THEFIEHMARHERNE
BB REHE I EIR16 5% NG — L REH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 H 1L F[E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The Directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FTERIMAX @)

EERE BEONEHMABMALI RS
B HRAMBREAMSLTEK - ZM1E
FENEAMNESHEGEHETTEF D
16.5% =18 °

FAMGHRAX A Eia Ba M EMEmEK
TR Z R AN A BRI T -

2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETT
Profit before tax from continuing R BB EBHBRT AT E A
operations 84,016 41,339
Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued 7K B B4R IF & & 2 i B R BLRT
operations wm A, (E518) 5,825 (3,557)
89,841 37,782
Tax calculated at domestic income tax BTS2 25% (2021 4F ¢
rates of 25% (2021: 25%) 25%) T EHI IR 22,460 9,446
Under provision in prior year BAEFERETR - 2,385
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ HAMRBUA Z TS £
purpose (3,262) (2,405)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  Na[FFIFI S 2 B iE 52 &
tax purpose 7,734 8,863
Tax effect of deductible temporary R AR LR =5 2 T 1S
difference not recognised T = (300)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B AT AR R EIIE B K
recognised (143) (399)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not REER M AE AR IBIB R 25
recognised TE (4,546) -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries E fib Bl A [& & E M B A A1 F &
operating in other jurisdictions TRz & (3,858) (6,370)
Tax effect of 100% relief regarding to BT 100% FH 28
research and development expenses W2 (5.499) (314)
Income tax expense for the year REEFMEMAX 12,886 10,906
®
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A 31 HI-F/E

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERBEESTHRAEMS
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year B 45 i A GEM _E T AR Bl & A &) {6 51 3% 55 /Y
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and FENRETHAEEEHNNOT :

the CO is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2022 BZE2022F3A31BLFE
Retirement
Salaries  Discretionary benefit
Directors’ and other bonus scheme
fee benefits (note (iii))  contribution Total
#eR BMiETa BAER
ok Hit A (B (iii)) HE 5 @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR  ARRTE ARETT AREFZ  ARMTZ

Executive directors (note (i) BITEZ (M)
Mr. NIU Zhanbin EEREE - 2,633 - 15 2,648
Mr. WU Hui (chief operation officer) REBLLE(BEELE) - 636 53 15 704
Mr. JIANG Yulin (chief executive officer) B EMGEE (7B 4851)
(removed on 5 June 2022) (112022%6 A5 HEET) - 2,981 = 15 2,996
- 6,250 53 45 6,348
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
(note (ii)) (B2 (i)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid % 4 247 - - - 247
Mr. Zhang Weidong REREE 247 = = = 47
Mr. Zeng Liang BRES
(appointed on 30 April 2021) (R2021 54 A30HEZT) 27 - - - 27
Mr. Zhang Longgen RERILE
(resigned on 30 April 2021) (202154 A30BEHE) 20 - - - 20
M - - - M
Co-chief executive officer BETHAR
Mr. Hu Shilong Tt ERE
(appointed on 11 October 2021) (R2021F10A 11 REZRT) - 141 - - 141
741 6,391 53 45 7,230
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

1. EERERSTHRAEME &)

BZE2021F3A31BLEE

Salaries  Discretionary Retirement

Directors’ and other bonus  benefit scheme
fee benefits (note (iif))  contribution Total
A il RINER
EEVika HitiE R (a2 (i) EESA @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Executive directors (note (i) HTEZ (M)
Mr. NIU Zhanbin FhuEE = 2,758 = 16 2,774
Mr. WU Hui (chief operation officer) REBLE(EREER) = 673 282 16 971
Mr. JIANG Yulin (chief executive officer) % E#iset (77 4£%)
(removed on 5 June 2022) (R 2022F6 A5 HEET) - 3,026 - 17 3,043
- 6,457 282 49 6,788
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
(note (i) (Hét (i)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid % & 689 = = = 689
Mr. Zhang Weidong REREE 689 - - - 689
Mr. Zhang Longgen REREE
(resigned on 30 April 2021) (R2021%54 A30AFHE) 689 - - - 689
2,067 - - - 2,067
Non-executive director EHTES
Mr. Fu Chi King Johnson HEREE
(resigned on 29 April 2020) (R202054 A 29 BRHT) 17 = - = 17
2,084 6,457 282 49 8,872
Notes: st -

(iii)

The chief executive officer’'s emoluments and executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments shown above
were their services as Directors.

Bonuses are discretionary and are based on the Group's performance
for the year.

0] EXARTREHENRATET M IR EEE
ARRREKBA BT EBEAIEZ R MIEM o

(i)  ERBIFRTEEZHEDREEEEEMR
e

(i) FEAENREEFEERBEBBERTE -
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 11.

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which any Directors
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during both
years.

None of the Directors received or will receive inducement
fees for accepting of office as directors.

Details of the material interests of the Directors in
transactions, arrangements and contracts entered into by
the Group are set out in note 40.

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12.

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2021: two) Directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 11 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2021:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a Director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

EERESTBRAEME @

BELAESNZMEFERELRBNE
Ry 22 B -

MEEEWRRRGUREGIREREE AR E
Ej] o

EERNAKETYNRS  RERAGHTH
EARESFHIEHNHIFE40 -

AuEEHMES

FR - AEBANSESFEMNE TEE2MU
(20215 : 2f)ESE - HEFMFBHR X
MEE11 > £ - 82 F362(20214F : 3fL)3F
ARBIEEREZSTTHRABRSHHES D
BT ¢

2022 & 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2B R EWF = 4,027 4,710
Discretionary bonus E’J IBIEAT 261 193
Retirement benefits SRKAE F) 12 47

4,330 4,950

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

FEFEMSETVHEANZSHIES
AT

Number of employees

EE%HE
2022 F 2021 €
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 & T E 1,500,000 78 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T = 2,000,000 /%8 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T 2,500,000 /87T 1 2
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13. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the

reporting period (2021: nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

14.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data.

HZE2022F3A31 B ILFETERAR T
LB R MR R RE  BREH
R A TR N 4 4R 2 R BT ] AR B (2021 £
7)o

BRER

ARRER ARESREAREERN IR
AT BURRTE -

2022 5 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AE®FT
Earnings: B
Profit for the year attributable to owners ~ ZNA R AJEMEFAE MR B
of the Company arises from
— Continuing operation — REICEEL 74,525 29,968
— Discontinued operations — ERIEEENED 5,825 (3,815)
80,350 26,153
2022 F 20214
Number of shares: RIDEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary M ESREAREERT
shares for the purposes of calculating LBmATINRE T 8
basic and diluted earnings per share 4,188,519,590 3,844,162,104

Diluted earnings per share amount was the same as basic
earnings per share amount as there were no potential
dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for the year ended 31

March 2022 (2021: nil).

BAREZE2022F3A31HILFEWEE
ORTEHELTBRROQIE: &) WER
BERFHEGREARBFER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A 31 HI-F/E

15.

156

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed

5. CDRIEEEHNER

REE2022FE30318ILFE - A&EFEE

subsidiaries which were principally engaged in provision of EETHEBAR  ZEMNBARETEREIR
corporate advisory services, investment advisory services, HEXREERE REBHRS  EETE
asset management services and money lending business. REREEXEL SHRENBARNEER
The net assets of the disposed subsidiaries at the date of B EEFENT -

disposal were as follows:

RMB’000
AR¥FT
Net assets disposed of: EHEEESE :
Tax receivable FEMRRIE 413
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB RIS 9,130
Other payables and accruals HAt eI R Ia R ERTE A (478)
9,065
Cash consideration B&RE 11,914
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE (9,065)
Reclassification of translation reserve upon disposal of HEWNB A RIRSEN FENEFHE
subsidiaries 5,265
Gain on disposal k=l 8,114
Cash consideration received BREREERE 11,914
Cash and cash equivalents disposed EHERSRESEEY (9,130)
Total net cash inflow FIREMALRE 2,784
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 H 1L F[E

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 15. ERLEENERK @)
The comparative figures in the consolidated statement of GEERRHEMEAKERTOLERFE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income have been By ABFH2F|ERILEENER - HE
restated to re-present the discontinued operations. The ARINEZE2022F K 2021 3 A31 HIEF
respective profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 and EHHEHNDRIESmT -

2021 from the Disposal Group is set out below.

2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETT

Revenue WA 903 1,795
Other income and losses, net B A K BB Fe8 (1,259) 108
Administrative expenses TR (1,933) (5,460)
Loss before tax BREBLATES 1B (2,289) (3,557)
Income tax Frisiif sz - (258)

Loss for the year after income tax HRFEBHEAZERERER

expense (2,289) (3,815)
Gain on disposal of discontinued 8BRS E B
operations 8,114 -
Profit/(loss) for the year from ERIBEEBENERRRN,
discontinued operations (E5#8) 5,825 (3,815)
Loss before tax from Discontinued Operations includes the ERIERENEBHRTATBESENT
following:
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBETT

Loss before tax has been arrived at FRAR BT R AR 514578 -
after charging:

Staff costs, including directors’ EIRAN(BIEESME)

emoluments 1,110 3,564
Depreciation of property and equipment ¥ & B #EITE 34 87
Legal and professional fees FEREEEA 280 321
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A 31 HI-F/E

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 15. ERIEERENER &)
(@) An analysis of the cash flows of the Discontinued (a) EBERIELENEBHIRESREDTN
Operations is as follows: T
2022 & 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AR®ETT

Net cash outflows from operating KEEHE ST FEEE

activities (1,030) (3,827)
Net cash inflows from investing REFREE S RAFRE

activities 6,855 12
Net cash inflows from financing REEHRESRAFE

activities - _
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERA/ () #58 5,825 (3,815)

(b)  Related party transactions (b)y BIEARS

The Discontinued Operations did not have any related FRN - BRI SRS (RS
party transactions during the year. BHRS o
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. MEKRRHE

Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold fixtures and and other Motor
improvement  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
HE GH-£EB ETR
MEEE SEL] Hink B AE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTT AREFT AREFT AREFTT AREFZT
Cost R
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 R 1H 252 849 - - 1,101
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB A A 13,326 - 8,260 3,250 24,836
Additions NE 8,893 10 2,426 462 11,791
Disposals HE - - - 412) (412)
Exchange differences [ 5 =58 (19) (64) = = (83)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021463A318 K
1 April 2021 2021 F4/1H 22,452 795 10,686 3,300 37,233
Acquisition of subsidiaries G NG|
(note 36) (ffzt 36) 1,052 - 589 - 1,641
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKHB LA
(note 37) (Hizt37) (2,581) (35) (1,446) - (4,062)
Additions ANE 42,351 178 17,730 634 60,893
Disposals HE (233) - (738) - (971)
Exchange differences ME N =% (22) (40) - - (62)
At 31 March 2022 M20229F3A31H 63,019 898 26,821 3,934 94,672
Accumulated depreciation Z:HTE
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A1H 106 793 - - 899
Provided for the year FREE 6,013 28 2,186 307 8,534
Eliminated on disposal B A = = = (195) (195)
Exchange differences fE N =% (11) (62) = = (73)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3A318K
1 April 2021 202147818 6,108 759 2,186 112 9,165
Provided for the year FNEE 10,483 54 6,294 732 17,563
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBEAR
(note 37) (B#:237) (1,356) 4) (235) = (1,595)
Eliminated on disposal HE T (207) = (701) = (908)
Exchange differences ME N =% (25) (29) - - (54)
At 31 March 2022 2022463 A31H 15,003 780 7,544 844 24,171
Carrying value fREE
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3A31H 48,016 118 19,277 3,090 70,501
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 16,344 36 8,500 3,188 28,068
°
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16. MERRE @)

LS KR AR B IRE AR A N ERIT

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on

160

a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: £
Leasehold improvement Shorter of lease term THEMERE LA 20%
or 20% (s R & A%E)
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  20% to 50% R HEREKRE 20%ZE50%
Electronic and other equipment 33% B REMEE 33%
Motor vehicles 20% AE 20%
17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BREE
Customer  Technology Development
Brand relationship  know-how Patent cost Software Total
Rl
M2 EFHE EE i &7 R BH @5t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANRBTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT
Cost A
At 1 April 2020 R2020E4 418 = = = = = = =
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEM B 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% 16,351 - 185,947
Addition NE = - - - 7,791 - 7,791
At 31 march 2021 and R2021E3A318R
1 April 2021 20214 F1H 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,396 24,642 - 193,738
Redlassification EEip = = - - (24,868) 24,868 -
Addition NE - - - - 20,025 1271 21,302
At 31 March 2022 R2022E3A318 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,396 19,799 26,145 215,040
Amortisation B
At 1 April 2020 R2020F47 18 = = = = = = =
Provided for the year EREE = 3,974 4,043 1,028 = = 9,045
At 31 March 2021 and R2021E3A318K
1 April 2021 202154A1H = 3,974 4,043 1,028 - - 9,045
Provided for the year ENEE - 8,672 8,820 1,368 - 3,059 21919
At 31 March 2022 R2022534318 - 12,646 12,863 2,3% - 3,059 30,964
Carrying value REE
At 31 March 2022 R022E3A318 61,900 48,054 31,237 - 19,799 23,086 184,076
At 31 March 2021 R0211E3A318 61,900 56,726 40,057 1,368 24,642 - 184,693
°
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Development costs in relation to an online training and
certain call centre platforms are internally generated and will
be used in provision of customer service solution business,
which have finite useful lives. Such intangible assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 to 7
years. The remaining items of intangible assets with finite
useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Customer relationship 7 years
Technology know-how 5 years
Patent 5 years
Software 7 years

The brand is considered by the management of the Group
as having indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The brand will
not be amortised until its useful life are determined to be
finite. Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.
The recoverable amount of the brand has been assessed
together with the goodwill acquired on the same business
combination, as set out in note 18.

As at 31 March 2022, the remaining amortisation period of
patent, customer relationship, technology know-how and
software were approximately O year, 6 years, 4 years and 6
years respectively (2021: patent 1 year, customer
relationship 7 years, technology know-how 5 years).

7. BEEE#®)

BRAMR LI A T H L F e mFEEX
ARTIAFEE - LKA EHRET P RBER
NEREY  REBARAERFEY - ZFEF
BEDRESRERSZ7TFHMAN T AR -
RERAEAFHZEBLEEZHTHA N
BEREEREMEAERFREHEET

EFRI% 7E
S PRIk 54
B2 54
/e 15

AEBEEERAmEELERAEREH
AR ERNEERAERASRAF
B arEAFHEERBERZA T8
MR TTE Y - T B S & F ML IR AR
EPR 2150 T BRI TRERIR o Bank
FEI8AAH - MmN E S RERNER
XA HERGHERES TRHE -

M2022F3H318 BF - EFBEF - &
MEEANZLREGORGREERS RN AO
F6F 4F K6F(021F : EHI14F -
BFPHBIRTF - BINEHMFHSF) ©

GOODWILL 18. &
RMB’000
AE®FT
Gross and net carrying amount REAEBERFE
At 1 April 2020 MR2020F4 A1 H -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) W s BT~ 7 (A7 36) 581,824
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2022 R2021F3 A31B&2022F4 A8 1H 581,824

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 36)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)

WEERKT B A (Kfat36) 7,990
HEMB AR (FE37)

(7,990)

At 31 March 2022

M2022%3 A31H

581,824
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18.

162

GOODWILL (continued)
KingNine Group

As at 31 March 2022, the recoverable amount of the
KingNine Group’s CGU has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation and this valuation was performed by
an independent qualified professional valuer. The calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a 5-year period.
KingNine Group's cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a long-term growth rate of 3%. (2021:
3%) This long-term growth rate is based on the KingNine
Group’s historical growth and relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry.

Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as
follows:

Revenue growth rate 7.1%-32.3%
Long-term growth rate 3%
Pre-tax discount rate 23.7%

Revenue growth rate estimates

Rates were estimated ranging from 7.1%to 32.3% (2021:
5.9% to 38.8%) per annum for the CGU throughout the
5-year budget plan. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated by using a steady growth rate of 3% (2021:
3%).

18. & (&)

KingNine £ &

7202243 A31H - KingNine % @ IR & E
BNz AR El e B IRERA BB ERE
ErBEBAEERBLAEARBEGERME
T - Bt ERRREEEMLEZRES
FHUYRBESLE RS RETRA-
KingNine & [ 5 4 AR PR DASNHYIR & it 2 £ A
REIE R E3% (20214F : 3%) #HE - Z K
HA3% K R Ty iR B KingNine S @M E R 2 R &
HEATESREAME - WEBBB AT
ZFHRERE o

AEEREERANIERRAOT

A g K & 71%%232.3%
REfIE R R 3%
F AT AR = 23.7%
WA B REE G

BESFEEFENREELEEVNFEE
KA AT 1% E32.3% (20214 : 5.9% &
388%) AFHEMBE S RENFEREE
HRFE3% (20214 : 3%) MLAHEE -
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18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. & (®)

KingNine Group (Continued)
Discount rate

Discount rate represents the current market assessment of
the risks specific to KingNine Group CGU, taking into
consideration the time value of money and individual risks
of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in
the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is
based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its
operating segment and is derived from its weighted average
cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both
debt and equity. The cost of equity is determined using the
Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”"). The CAPM depends
on a number of inputs reflecting financial and economic
variables, including risk-free rate and a premium to reflect
the inherent risk of the business being evaluated. These
variables are based on the market’s assessment of the
economic variables and comparable listed companies with
business scopes and operations similar to those of the CGU.
The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings
the Group is obliged to service. Company specific risk is
incorporated by valuer’s professional judgement and
experience, including by consideration of unlisted company
risk premium, negative impact from Covid-19 and business
risk in sustaining the future growth.

Such estimation is based on KingNine Group’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development. The pre-tax discount rate reflects the
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

KingNine ££& (%)
BRE

BEIR EAEKingNine RBR £ EA B FE R
REVRITM IS - EPEEIEENEM
BEMRSAREMFTTALES RHEREE
M ERIE R o BRIR R TIRAKE REEED
BB EBRTE - YRMEEMEFHES
A (THAEFIESRA]) - EFHES
ARG MBS N - RERAEBEARE
EEERA(EXEEEERADEE - &
AEEEBEABURR % (B R BRI 15 X 480
HENHABE  BRERRNE KRR
HEEH CBERRRAGEE ZFEENE
REEEEE AR FHEE MG EBLUNR
TELEMNEE LMARGEMESFEM
E o BEERATIREASEAEEEEN
EREERE - ARANEERR B GHEH
BEXRABRERNAZRE  EFEEERAKR
EHRARERGE ERARSRNAEZE
R RIRERNEFRR

B BfEET TR B KingNine R B 2 BERIR K
EEEHMISER ZAHED - HATRRIR X
RREE R R EEMNRTH S R ER
MRESELBVARZEERAR -
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18.

164

GOODWILL (continued)
KingNine Group (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the recoverable amount of the
KingNine Group CGU was RMB879,088,000 (2021:
RMB867,423,000) which has exceeded its carrying amount
of the goodwill and other assets including intangible assets
(note 17) within KingNine Group by RMB25,929,000 (2021:
RMB64,146,000). Accordingly, no impairment of goodwill
has been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Sensitivity of value in use to reasonably possible changes in
key assumptions:
Key assumptions Revenue growth rate;
Discount rate
Possible Changes Further 5% decrease in pre-churn
revenue growth rate;

1% increase in discount rate
Sensitivity An decrease in the pre-churn
revenue growth rate would result in
an decrease in value in use of
RMB37,437,000, and vice versa;

An increase in discount rate would
result in an decrease in value in use
of RMB74,220,000, and vice versa

Based on the sensitivity presented above, the directors
considers it reasonably possible that a 5% decrease in pre-
churn revenue growth rate would result in an impairment of
RMB11,507,000 and a 1% increase in discount rate would
result in an impairment of RMB48,291,000.

18. & (&)

KingNine ££& (&)

7202243 A31H - KingNine % @ IR & E
F BRI E S A AR 879,088,000
0 (20214 + AR¥867,423,0007T) @ i@
EpE R H & E (B 15 KingNine & B ) &
FEEHRNFI17) NEEEARK
25,929,000 7T (20214 = AR ¥ 64,146,000
JC) o AL Bl E2022F3 A3 HIEFET
EIER A ERE -

EREEHERBRROGEREZE BN

=

B2 R

Py
Al RERYEE

A RE
BT %

BEPRARARAIE KR —
5% :
BEERE FF 1%

B RKRATMAE KR TP
SENFEREERD ARE
37,437,0007T * RZINA

BRIR R FASEBEREER
TEEANR¥74,220,0007T
=2 IR

ERNEXAHZYHRE  EFEEAER
B RARABRABEETRES% HEHAR
#11,507,000 LR B - MBRAIR X EF 1% 1%
EE A R# 48,291,000 JTLHE °
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EREEE

Office premises
and
staff quarters
BAEYER
BIRESE
RMB’000
ARET T

Carrying value BREE
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3 A31H 42,370
At 31 March 2021 M2021%3 A31H 28,119
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Additions NE 46,265 6,659
Depreciation charge TEEMA 22,437 10,198
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLAE 30,115 12,654
Expense relating to short term lease BRAGHAEENRZ 3,458 1,931

For both years, the Group leases office premises and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB38,948,000
(2021: RMB28,017,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB42,370,000 (2020:
RMB28,119,000) as at year end date. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

MEE - K‘ila"ﬂ SHREMERBTIRES
FHEE - OCRFBEEHR /I ESFOHHM
64 Tﬂﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁmiﬁiﬁ RETE
HE RSN SAENRER - AEE
FERARMERILET AR ARG HITHH
LI

N RELARRABMEEEHARE

38,948,000 7T (20214 = A R ¥ 28,017,000

JL) R AEEELH AR 42,370,000

7T (20204 : AR #28,119,0007T ) » B &

a"ﬂ/\ﬁﬁﬁa"ﬁiﬁé?%ﬁﬁ%éﬁ\\  HE R

WEEIEAEE HEEETSARNEE
B
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20.

21.

166

EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

The Group has equity interest in certain private entities
established in the PRC as at 31 December 2022. The
directors of the Company have elected to designate the
investment in equity instrument as at FVTOCI as they believe
that recognising short-term fluctuations in the investment in
profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group's
strategy of holding the investment for long term investment
purpose and realising the performance potential in the long
run. The equity instrument was revalued at 31 March 2022.
The valuation was carried out by an independent
professional qualified valuer. The fair value of the investment
is RMB15,564,000 (2021: RMB1,328,000) as at 31 March
2022 and fair value loss of Nil (2021: RMB3,235,000) was
recognised in other comprehensive income.

20. BRAFESFTAHMEEKEZNRE
=T

B

=

MR2022%F 128318 A&EB#HAE TES
B MFLE BEEMMRE - ARFERDIR
ERERTARERETERZATE AHM
2EWE  THRESERENIEBRERRE
MEBEBE T e RNEEFEREERRD
WERBRRERRPEEE DHREE - i
TEBPR2022F3A31B&E} - By HEE
AERMGEME ETHEE K2022F3 A8
31K E RN FE A ARK15564,0005T
(20214 : AR#1,328,0007T) ' AFEE
BAZT(2021F : AR 3,235,0007T) REH
2 U S FERR o

LOAN RECEIVABLES 21. EIRERR
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 & 20214
3A31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Fixed-rate loan receivables JEUE BB - 12,690

On 22 May 2018, the Group has signed an ancillary
transaction agreements with Aretex Capital Partners, LP
("Aretex Capital”) in which the Company agreed to advance
an amount of US$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB13,142,000) for a term of 7 years at an interest rate of
9.5% per annum payable on a quarterly basis to affiliates of
Aretex Capital so that they can make capital contributions in
order to satisfy the requirements of certain fund partnership
agreements for their investments in, among others, the
acquisition of GKD Index Partners, LLC's equity interests
(conducting its business under the name “Alerian”).

20184 5 H22H + AN & B B Aretex
Capital Partners, LP ([ Aretex Capital |) 22 2T B}
BR W% BUAARREZRFENEIS%
M Aretex Capital FUESZ A BN —E BEI7 F
#2,000,000% 7T( # & 1K & A B ¥
13,142,0007T) FRHE » Fl B EIEEFE X T -
EREERTENmERSREERN
ETE2EEMENESR - AR eEKE
GKD Index Partners, LLC HA%#E (JA [ Alerian ]
K BEREITHER) ©
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21. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of loan
receivables amount to RMB 12,690,000. The loan
receivables were secured by the partnership interest in
Aretex Capital. The borrowers were not permitted to sell or
repledge the pledged interest in Aretex Capital and its
affiliates, and Aretex Capital has certain equity interest of
Alerian. As at 31 March 2021, there has not been any
significant changes in the quality of the collateral held for
the loan receivables, the Group has not recognised a loss
allowance for the loan receivables as the amount is
insignificant. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
loan receivables were fully repaid.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 42.

1. ERER @)

R2021F3A31H BREZNEEES
A R #12,690,0007C ° & Ug & X LA Aretex
Capital & BRES(ERIR - BRATBLEE
g B K Aretex Capital & ELH B A B1HY K 3
7 25+ 1M Aretex Capital ¥ & Alerian #) & T
A% HE - 20213 A31H > BiEKERE
ENEFERMEETHETAEAES) AR
SR TEKN @ AEETEFHERERER
BIEE M c HHE2022F3A31HILFE -
ERERCEBHEE -

BAERH AR IS HN M E42 -

22. DEPOSITS 22. ®#¥
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 & 20214
3A31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYMT T ARBFT
Rental and management fee deposits HehEBEBZS 672 =
Others Hith - 4
672 4
°
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 23. FEWEER
31 March 31 March

2022 2021

2022 & 2021 5

3H31H 3HA31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AR®ETT

Accounts receivable JE W BR 3R 488,330 311,636
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses S : T8 AR (= & & B R (3,071) (310)

485,259 311,326
The Group allows a credit period of 3 to 6 months to its AEBHRTERFPIZ6EAMEESR - K
customers. The directors of the Company are in the view NAEERAENEERRIEKXIREN -
that there have been no significant increase in credit risk of TDHERZEFREREARTFEETRLFE
default because the amounts are from customers with good BRNER EEXTEIEF 2R - A%
credit rating and continuous repayment. Before accepting EeltEETFPNEEER  TRAELXE
any new customer, the Group assesses the potential FREERBE BTYTEFPZ2EELREFS
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by He E R o

customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed periodically.

The Group does not hold any collateral or credit REEN RS F A RS ERERSER
enhancements over these balances. A o

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 42. BT ET BRI EE42 o

The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivable, AT RS ImERARIRBHRE B B255
presented based on the date of services rendered at the end JE W BR SR BR R D AT o

of each reporting period.

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
38318 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTT

0 — 60 days 0Z60H 185,244 144,385
61 — 120 days 612120H 121,507 48,793
121 — 180 days 1212 180H 51,909 36,330
Over 180 days 180 HLA £ 126,599 81,818

485,259 311,326
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 23. EWERR (&)

Movement in the doubtful debts:

RELD -

2022 & 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARETT

At the beginning of the year REY] 310 =
Provision for the year FREE 2,761 310
3,071 310

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FANFE - HERHMuEWFEE

RECEIVABLES
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
3A31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT AREFT
Prepayments TArN IR 22,078 21,638
Refundable rental and management fee  FREHE S REEBIZS
deposits - 1,890
Due from former subsidiaries (Note) FE U BT B BB A B RE (B 7E) 33,625 =
Deposits and other receivables e & E bW IE 42,711 24,868
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses  Jg : TEHAE B BB E (9,784) (3)
88,630 48,393

Note: Included in the amounts due from former subsidiaries above is an
amount of RMB23,000,000 which carries interest at fixed rate of 6%
per annum since April 2021, unsecured and repayable on demand
and RMB10,625,000 are interest-free, unsecured, and repayable on
demand.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables for
the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 41.

MiaF: LlEBAMBARREBEPRESEARE
23,000,0007T * B20214 4 ARRIZEEEFF*E6%
A EEMRAEREREERE URARK
10,625,000 T A% B « EEMRARERKEE -

HZE2022F3A31HIEFE - HihElx
B R BTGB H R4 -
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25.

170

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

25. BAFEFAERNERMEE

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
3A31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AREFIT

Hong Kong and the USA listed equity DERFHIEEEZETER

investments classified as held for EE ETRERE
trading, at quoted market price RFTR™ B 4,580 5,061
Unlisted equity investments JEETmRERIRE 300 -
4,880 5,061

These investments include listed securities in Hong Kong of
RMB1,804,000 (2021: RMB2,375,000) and listed securities
in the USA of RMB2,776,000 (2021: RMB2,686,000), which
are level 1 financial instruments and the fair value are based
on the quoted bid prices in an active market. There are no
significant unobservable inputs.

For the unlisted equity investments, is held for sales purpose.
Fair value measurement are level 3 financial instruments and
fair value was carried out by an independent professional
qualified valuer. The fair value of the investment is
RMB300,000 (2021: nil) as at 31 March 2022.

ZEREABERBE LEMESRARK1,804,000
JT (20214 : AR#2,375,0007T) R3EE £
MmEH ARE2776,000L(2021F : AR
#2,686,0007T)  WAFI1ASHBHTEAE @
ERFEDENERMISHRESL - #IE
BANAE 28 A BUE o

HRIELMEREE  BEGFERE - QF
BEAFE-ALRTE  MAFESRBTL
EELSEBGHBEMTE - KR2022F3 A31
H: Zi&ENQTFERARE300000T
(20214 : &) o
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26. INVENTORIES 26. &
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
3H31H 3HA31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT AREFT
Hardware and facilities e 4 K 5% e 1,371 1,829
Accessories, phones and packages B - BRERBE 6 251
1,377 2,080
27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 27. SRITHEBRRAS
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
3A31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT ARBTFT
Restricted bank balances 2R BRI TR = 4,501
Short-term bank deposits REHRERTTIE 30
— with original maturity within — REBEBR=EAR
three months - 76,826
Bank balances and cash RITEB MRS 86,047 121,383
86,047 202,710
Bank balances carried interest at floating rates ranging from RITERILEN T EFF0.01% 2= 1.89% (2021
0.01% t0 2.00% (2021: 0.01% to 1.89%) per annum. F :0.01% E2.00%) KZENFIEET S -
As at 31 March 2021, the short-term bank deposits with an RITFEHRN2021F3A318 » HEIRITE
original maturity of three months or less amounted to FHRZEBHRAE=FEAIAT - BARKE
RMB76,826,000. Term deposits bear interest rates of 0.8% 76,826,000 7 ° & Hi1F FK L& F 0.8% H) 7
per annum. KR o
®
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28. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE 28. REtE DT ER
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 €
3A31H 38318
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBFor
Cost of investment AR AR 6,000 -
Loss for the year FANEE (17) -
At 31 March M3 A31H 5,983 =

In June 2021, the Group acquired 20% interest in [& /I8 7T
XAt & 1% AR 7 B BR A 7] at a cash consideration of RMB6
million pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement. The
Group is able to exercise significant influence over this
investee because it has the power to appoint one out of
three directors of the investee under a shareholders’
agreement/article of association. The Group had accounted
for this investee using the equity method in these financial
statements since June 2021.

M2021F6 A AEERBEEHHNRS
REARYE 6 B & T EM T 3L E R
FRTE A PR A A1) 20% R 5 o 2N 5% [ e 4 &Y

AR ENTTEERTZE

N AREARER

B R B ERANEERRE S =
HEERNEP—F - AEEH2021F6 A
RRZEVBHRER P RAEREARZ NI

B

Detail of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting

period are set out below:

WREMRAEERERRNFFEHIIOT -

Particulars of
issued share

Place of capital/  Attributable of interest
establishment/ registered held by the Group
Name of associate operations capital as at 31 March Principal activities
BRIRE/ M3A318
BENTER R/ EE HAMEAFE  AREAMEEREL  TEER
20225 20215
% %
BT BERBERRE  The PRC RMB1,350,000 20% - Short video content production
and related services business
i AR# 1,350,000 7T RSB A SHE RBBRG

172




° 77 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED H 45} £ B 4 A B A W]
2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4F- 3%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&30 0 5 e 2% B e

For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 H 1L F[E

28. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 28. REt& NEIWNRER (&)
Summarised financial information of the only associate,
adjusted for any difference in accounting policies and fair

B2 A BRF AR E - SRR
S HRE A FEFHBENEMEZRETH

value adjustments made at the time of acquisition: =
31 March
2022
2022 &
3A31H
RMB’000
AR¥Fr
& I 380 T AL SR FR B BR 2 F
As at 31 March M3A31H8
Current assets mMENEE 6,206
Non-current assets IEMENEE 619
Current liabilities mENBE (439)
Non-current liabilities JEmEIBE =
Net assets BEFE 6,386
Group's share of net assets of the associate AEBEREHEARNEEFE 1,277
Goodwiill S 4,706
Carrying amount of Group's interest in associate ~ ANEBERE & A A REE 5,983
Year ended 31 March HE3IAMBLEE
Revenues A 4,238
Expenses M (4,329)
Profit or loss for the year FRE=E (91)
Other comprehensive income HEme2mElas -
Total comprehensive income FHEW =B (91)
Dividends received from associate Uk E A RIAR B =
®
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29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

29. FEJBRRX

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 20214
3A31H 3HA31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFr ARKFT
Accounts payable FEATER K 11,346 10,564
The ageing analysis of the accounts payable based on date & RS BRIRIE RS B B2 2B FE(T AR
of services rendered at the end of each reporting period is REERER DT -
as follows:
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
3A31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETT
0 — 60 days 0Z260H 7,657 5,649
61 — 120 days 61£120H 548 196
121 — 180 days 1212180 H 285 113
Over 180 days 180 HA 2,856 4,606
11,346 10,564
The average credit period on accounts payable is 90 days. FERBR R FHEEER90 R o
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HttENRRERETEH
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 & 20214
3A31H 3A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARHF T ARBETFIT
Other payables Hfh AT RIR 7,737 1,848
Payroll payables ERIE 44,081 30,588
Other tax payables H b EATFRIE 2,339 6,253
54,157 38,689
31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. EERE
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 & 20214
3A31H 3A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT AR®ETT

Contract liabilities from customer arising EEBEREELNEF
from value-added telecommunication EHBE
services

8,619 1,406

The Group received payments from customers based on
billing schedule as established in contracts. Contract
liabilities that are expected to be settled within the Group'’s
normal operating cycle are classified as current based on the
Group's earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to
the customers. Revenue recognised during the year ended
31 March 2022 that was incurred in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year amounted to RMB1,406,000
(2021: nil).

REERBEAEAORIWERERBRAT S
BGRIE - HERRASEERLEBIANS
BENENEE  REASERREFEES R
IRBENREEBHDBARDEE - FYIE&
HBBEEAMEZE2022F3A83MBIEFE

ERRUA B AR 1,406,000 7T (2021 £ -
/) o

175




176

7.7 TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED H 45 4 M 40 A A 7] °
2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 4}
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
g2 I
G o TS W2
For the year ended 31 March 2022 # £ 202243 A 31 HI-F/E
32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. SRITREMER
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 20214
3A31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AE®FT

Bank borrowings repayable (note 1): AEEMRITEE (MiF1)

Within one year —FR 48,500 29,000

Other borrowing repayable (note 2): AEENEMEE (MiF2)

Within one year —FR 65,279 -

Within a period of more than one year ~ —4 LA HE N FRIBRER]

but not exceeding two years HARE 27,000 -
140,779 29,000
Less: Amounts due within one year A AR REIBE T —FAEIE
shown under current liabilities R IE (140,779) (29,000)
Amounts shown under non-current TIRIEREN B E THFIA
liabilities - -

Note: HifeE

1) The carrying amount of the borrowings are at fixed rate and are 1) EENFEEEREEMNEAFENUARERE TR
secured by certain accounts receivables of the Group, certain WEEF - NEE —EH B A M E TIRF RAF
properties owned by and the personal guarantees provided by certain FEREANE TE IR E A BRELT -
current and former directors of a subsidiary of the Group.

2) The carrying amount of the other borrowing from a related company 2) KEAAT—HEEATNEMEE(KEEA
of the Company, with principal amount of RMB60,000,000 are at AR #60,000,000 7T @ iHEFE RN E13.5% 2 -
fixed rate 13.5%, unsecured and repayable within one year and the AEKALEAN—FANER) AREMES (KE
other borrowing with principal amount of RMB27,000,000 are BAARE27,000,0007T 0 AR S~ EBIEHENE
interests free, unsecured and repayable within two years, which RRERNES)ERERSRERERNET(H
contain a repayment on demand clause (and therefore classified as oA TRSHEE) BEHER —FERNEN -
current liability) is expected to be settled within one year.

[
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. RITRHEMBR @)
(Continued)
The effective interest rates of the Group’s bank borrowings REFETEENTRFENT -
were as follows:
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
Effective interest rate (per annum): EEREF X -
Fixed-rate bank borrowings FEERITHEE 4.4% to0 4.85% 4.4% t05.35%
44% £4.85% 4.4% £5.35%
LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HEAE
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
3H31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEEE :
Within one year —F R 20,962 11,247
More than one year but not exceeding —F L E BT HBBME
two years 17,374 8,761
More than two years but not exceeding ~ FIF A BT BIBRF
five year 612 5,933
More than five years AEFEE - 2,076
38,948 28,017
Less: Amount due for settlement with B FIRREBAE IR 12EAR
12 months shown under B HYEERFRIE
current liabilities (20,962) (11,247)
Amount due for settlement after TIRIERBABE TN 12EAR
12 months shown under FIHREEMFIA
non-current liabilities 17,986 16,770
®
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34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34, ELEMIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated R E VR RRFPIIRME - BTELE
statements of financial position, certain deferred tax assets RIEEEHAGEDEE U TNARMBHSRE
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis B B SRR T AR A AT ©

of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes.

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
38318 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Deferred tax assets FEEFIRE E 6,917 8,720
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE (21,195) (23,818)
(14,278) (15,098)

Fair value

adjustment

Fair value of intangible
adjustment assets arising

on accounts from
Unrealised and other acquisition of
profit  receivables  subsidiaries Others Total

EYRESR KBHELT

AtERTE ELNETE
A2Emf WAVERAE ELVERE Rt @zt
RMBO0O ~ RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000
ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

At 1 April 2020 R202054A18 = = - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBATR - 4,057 (25,005) (82) (21,030)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss HABE / MERTIR) 5,488 (825) 1,203 66 5,932
At 31 March 2021 and 75@2021@%]31 AR

1 April 2021 20214 81 5,488 3,232 (23,802) (16) (15,098)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss FAER/ (R Eﬁﬁ%ﬂl"% (369) (1,434) 2,623 = 820
At 31 March 2022 R202293F31H 5,119 1,798 (21,179) (16) (14,278)
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34. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

35.

The Group has unused tax losses of RMB403,336,000 as
at 31 March 2022 (2021: RMB417,910,000) which are
available for offset against future taxable profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised for the tax losses as
at 31 March 2021 and 2022 due to the unpredictability
of future profit stream. Included in unrecognised tax
losses as at 31 March 2022 are losses of RMB460,000,
RMB2,664,000 and RMB7,347,000 and RMB2,333,000 will

expire in 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026 (2021: Nil).

f 3 YA 985 e 3 B

For the year ended 31 March 2022 £ 202243 A 31 H 1L F[E

34. IRIERKIE (&)

AREBRR2022F3 31BN RE A IBEE
8 A K #403,336,000 T (202145 : AR
417,910,0007T ) + H AT K 38 R R FE AR B o
F o R AR EFRA AT TEAME - 722021
FR022F3ANBMERFHEEBEEER
ELEBIBEE - N2022F3 A31Bst AKX
HRHIEE BN EE AR 460,0007T © A
% 2,664,0007T + AR® 7,347,000 7T & A
R % 2,333,0007T #§ 72023 4F + 2024 4F -
2025 F % 2026 FEIHF (2021 4F : £E) »

SHARE CAPITAL 35. A
Number of
shares Amount
BRHEE ot}
RMB’000
AREFIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each Fh%0.01 B T @ AR
Authorised: JETE ¢
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, MR2020F4 18 ~ 20214
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 3H31H 2021%4H1H
202293 A31H 10,000,000 87,661
Issued and fully paid: BBITNRAR
As at 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A1 H 3,550,496,836 29,848
Share issued BT 638,022,754 5,547
As at 31 March 2021 and HZ=2021F3A31HK
31 March 2022 20223 A31H 4,188,519,590 35,395

The ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in
dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up the
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid

on the shares held.

BBRATSFUR -

EBERETRAAZERED
AVIESEENIEvE- 695 &N k- = PN NG

FCEYHER] - I
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
During the previous reporting period

On 15 October 2020, the Company acquired 100% of
equity interests of KingNine Group for a consideration of
RMB1,012,224,000. KingNine Group has been accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group since the acquisition date.
The acquisition was made as part of the Group's strategy to
expand its business.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
KingNine Group as at the date of acquisition was as follows:

36. ¥i5 6t
RE—REHRE

#2020 10 A 158 » A& R 7] W B KingNine
£ B W100%k #E: RE B AR
1,012,224,000 7T ° KingNine 5 B & U 38 A A
REARIAREEWE AR - EITHIK
BRI EEETHERER . —&5 -

KingNine 2B 69 A] & BRI B E M B ER B
B QAT

Notes RMB’000
HiaE ARBETT

Purchase consideration transferred: EEENIERE
Cash consideration ReRE (@) 646,149
Contingent consideration HARE (b) -
Fair value of 638,022,754 ordinary shares RARIEE17638,022,754 I8 &3
of the Company issued AREY A F1E (© 366,075
1,012,224
Fair value: NEE
Plant and equipment R K %A 24,836
Intangible assets B EE 185,947
Right-of-use assets HREEE 26,084
Equity instrument at fair value through BATE AR MEEREAER
other comprehensive income TA 4,563
Deferred tax assets REFTBEE 4,057
Inventories 7E 2,006
Accounts receivable FE U AR 3K 267,412
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K B th R MR IE 289,593
Cash and bank balances e MRTTEH 45,771
Borrowings BE (55,000)
Accounts payable FERTBR K (12,249)
Other payables H A T FRIE (276,766)
Contract liabilities EHEaE (943)
Tax payable FERTFR IR (9,936)
Lease liabilities HEARE (26,084)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 34) EERIB B E (M 34) (25,087)
Net identifiable assets acquired BRI EEFE 444,204
Non-controlling interests FEERR () (13,804)
Goodwill (note 18) 8 (ffat 18) 581,824
Total consideration BRE 1,012,224
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36. ¥%56t=)

During the previous reporting period
(Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

subsidiaries is as follows:

RE—BEHE[ @)

B R EHT B

NEMBRESRESTWT -

RMB’000

AREFT

Cash and cash equivalents paid ENBReRBLEEY (390,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BRERE MREEEY 45,771

Total net cash outflow FIRE T 48 (344,229)

Pro-forma

The acquired business contributed total revenue of
RMB264,368,000 and net profit of RMB65,835,000 to the
Group from their acquisition date to 31 March 2021. Had
these companies been consolidated from 1 April 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income would have shown pro-forma
revenue of RMB507,892,000 and profit for the year of
RMB42,261,000.

Notes:

(a) The valuation of the consideration payables was carried out by an
independent professional qualified valuer. Cash consideration of
RMB390,000,000 was settled at the acquisition date. The remaining
cash consideration of RMB280,000,000 will be settled by the
Company in four instalments of RMB70,000,000 each on 31 July
2021, 31 July 2022, 31 July 2023 and 31 July 2024 as per the sale
and purchase agreement. The fair value of the consideration payables
as at 15 October 2020 is approximately RMB256,149,000, which is
based on the present value of the consideration payables discounted
using the discount rate of 4%.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount is the consideration
payables is RMB199,499,000 (2021: RMB260,837,000), of which
RMB70,000,000 (2021: RMB70,000,000) and RMB129,499,000
(2021: RMB190,837,000) is classified under current and non-current
liabilities, respectively.

#wE

BECEE HWER R E2021F3A4
BSTHEMASEEERM B ARE AR
264,368,000t X 4t & A R # 65,835, ooo
TT o MZZEARIB 202054 A1 B#E&GE

AR ﬂ‘]ﬁéﬁﬁ&ﬁmiﬁuﬁﬁn%Hﬂ%ﬁgﬂ—\ﬁ
Z WA AR 507,892,000 7T M F A% F A
R #42,261,000 7T °

BYEESERGEMEETEMRENGE -
IR & KB AR 390,000,000 7T Ui HER4EE ©
ﬁ%Tiﬁéw A R # 280,000,000 7t #5 1% B & 17
F AR R DM S HE A R % 70,000,000 78 7
2021¢7H31 H 2022467 H318 202347
B318K202447 831 A&t 720204 10 A
15 AENREN R TEN R AR 256,149,000
TC BERRAMREA% BEMEMRENR
BEEH

R202263A31H  BAREZEABEAARE
199,499,0007T(20214 + AR#260,837,0007T) -
H 1 A R #70,000,0007C (20214 : A R #
70,000,000 78 ) F2 A R # 129,499,000 7T (2021 4 :
AR ¥ 190,837,0007T) H Bl 5 4 AR E & & & 3E
MENEE -
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

182

Pro-forma (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Certain founders of the KingNine Group (the “Founders”) have
undertaken to the Company pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement that the audited consolidated profit attributable to the
equity holders of the KingNine Group would not be less than:

(i) RMB60,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commenced on 1 April 2019 and ended on 31 March 2020;

(ii) RMB90,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commenced on 1 April 2020 and ending on 31 March 2021;

(iii) RMB120,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commencing on 1 April 2021 and ending on 31 March 2022;

(iv) RMB 150,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commencing on 1 April 2022 and ending on 31 March 2023;
and

(v) RMB 180,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commencing on 1 April 2023 and ending on 31 March 2024.

In the event that the actual amount of the audited consolidated net
profit attributable to the equity holders of the KingNine Group for any
guarantee period is less than the guaranteed profit in respect of such
guarantee period, the Founders are expected to compensate the
Company by paying the Company an amount in cash equal to
((A-B)/C)xD)-E

Where

A = the sum of: (i) the amount of the guaranteed profit in respect of
such guarantee period; and (ii) the amount of the guaranteed profit in
respect of each guarantee period preceding such guarantee period;

B = the sum of: (i) the actual amount of the audited consolidated net
profit/net loss attributable to equity holders of the KingNine Group for
such guarantee period; and (ii) the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit/net loss attributable to equity holders of the
KingNine for each guarantee period preceding such guarantee period;

C = RMB600,000,000 (i.e. the sum of the amount of the guaranteed
profit in respect of each guarantee period);

D = RMB779,392,971 (i.e. the consideration less the amount of the
consideration paid, or payable, by the Company to Zhong Zhi Xin
Zhuo Capital Company Limited (“Zhongzhi Xinzhuo"), one of the
sellers);

E = the sum of the amount of any such compensation which has been
paid by the Founders in respect of each guarantee period preceding
such guarantee period.

36. ¥56t=)

wBE®)

Mzt - ()
(b)  KingNineS=EEFAIMATBINADERIEER
Wk AN QD A& - KingNine 25355 A JE(R &

EREAENTEER

(i) KingNine &£ 8120194 4 A 1 B £ % 2020
FIANBLEMTBRFENARE
60,000,000 T :

(i) KingNine = [l 1 2020 4 A 1 H #£ % 2021
FIANABUENMHEROARS
90,000,000 7T :

@iy~ KingNine 52 E #2021 4 4 A 1 H £ ZE 2022
FIANBENBBREENARE
120,000,000 7T

(iv)  KingNine( @ 202244 A1 8#8ZE2023
FIABNEB LN BREFEENHARK
150,000,000 7C : &

(v) KingNine 58 B f1 20234 5 1 H2 £ 2024
FIANB LNV BRFEHNARYE
180,000,000 7T °

it (FE T 4R 78 EARE &Y KingNine SR Bl i 5335 5 A JE15
BRERGSENNERSBENZARERBHOR
Faf  FHEMABETAREME - TAA
RARBAR S ZAHEER (((A-B),/CxD)-
ENfEESRE

Hrp

= () R7E R A RER N S5 ¢ H (i) ZRE
Hﬂfﬁw%% SR RF LN SR ;

B = () Z R & B M KingNine R B R #55 A&
HEEZGAMN,/BEFENER S Hi)
% R 58 HA ) A& AR 5B A B9 KingNine #E 25 175 B A
[EILEBZE AR, BRFENER ST :

C = AR# 600,000,000 7T ( BN &R 75 H B A0 1R 3%
wAeE2)

D=ARM¥77932 971 T(BIREBARAE
A 3% F& M Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited ((PHEZE ] - BHZz ) XHHRES
)

E =8l AT N FREDEASREREOERE
RRRESEM -
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Pro-forma (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Subject to the compliance of all applicable laws and regulations
(including the GEM Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code), in the
event that the sum of the actual amount of the audited consolidated
net profit attributable to equity holders of the KingNine for each
guarantee period is equal to or more than RMB1,000,000,000, it is
expected that:

i the Company would pay the sellers an additional consideration
in the amount of RMB150,000,000, subject to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s grant of the approval for the listing of and
permission to deal in the additional shares, and would settle
such payment by issuing additional shares to one of the sellers
on the 10th business day after the date on which the audited
consolidated financial statements of the KingNine Group for
the last guarantee period is approved by the board of directors
of the KingNine; and

ii. such additional shares would be issued at an issue price per
share equal to the volume weighted average closing price per
share for the 30 consecutive trading days up to and including
the last trading day that is five business days immediately prior
to the date on which such additional shares are allotted and
issued.

The valuation of the contingent consideration was carried out by an
independent professional qualified valuer. The fair value of the
contingent consideration as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are
insignificant, on the basis that profit guarantee could be fulfilled by
the KingNine Group in respect of each guarantee period and that the
audited consolidated net profit attributable to equity holders of the
KingNine for each guarantee period equal to or more than
RMB1,000,000,000 could not be fulfilled by the KingNine Group.

The fair value of the shares issued was determined by reference to
their quoted market price of HK$0.66 at the date of acquisition.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The acquisition-related costs of RMB13,391,000 have been expensed
and are included in administrative expenses. The attributable costs of
the issuance of the equity instruments of approximately RMB44,000
(equivalent to HK$50,000).

The gross amount of accounts and other receivables was
RMB566,367,000 and it is expected that certain portion of the
contractual amounts cannot be collected.

36. ¥a6t=)
BE 0z

Hia - (#)

(b)

EESFFAERERRER (B3 GEM £ i Al
RSP B9RTIRT - fid%-4R 35 HAfE &9 KingNine
ERRHE ARLMKERGEEHANNEREE M
EH sk iE A REE 1,000,000,000 7T - TEHH

i RAREME—BEFZNEIMEARE
150,000,000 7T + M 78 48 & 7 Bk 22 B it
BEINRD ETMREE - WEHRREREFS
I KingNine 5 Bl W& B AZ 4R A B B Rk &
KingNineE =& it /E 2 B2 E10AE %8
ERBEITEINRG FE A X ZRE - &

i FZERINR D BIRTRETEET - BT
BERNEFE0ER S AEEEEZSHN
R ics R #1T2 BRI A (E2 X A REK
25 R (BEZR) 8RR ZEIMNEF IR
miE e

BYEELSEREEMEETHARENGE -
R2022F 20213 A31 AR ARENAFE
WAREAK - THER KingNine £ B 7] 3t & 2 R 2R
R FFER M KingNine £ B 855 2 i & 1R
HARA KingNine lE 25 15 5 A E(L (C B IR A 407 55
R ekiBiE AR % 1,000,000,000 7T °

EEITENNAFEDLEL2ERNSE
M5B 0.66 B TLEE °

RUE B HE

AEBEDREBERRAMARTADEREKENE
BRI EEFENC RS RN PIFT BN
JTHIFEE R -

U BEAB R A A R 13,391,000 T E F A S 23
TATHAY - BTESTEREREINEAR
# 44,000 7t (A& 7 50,000 % 7T) °

ERERREMBEMNRBELTAARYE
566,367,000t + B FEBE XK EIE T HHE 4
S o
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36.

184

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)
During the current reporting period

In April 2021 and May 2021, the Group acquired 51%
equity interest in both Qingdao Jinliang Technology Co., Ltd.
(EE42ERBEAR AT (“inliang Technology”) at a cash
consideration of RMB1.02 million and Jiugi Technology
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (SLEZ B £ (W M) B B 2 &) (“iugi
Technology”) at a cash consideration of RMB1.02 million.
Jinliang Technology and its subsidiaries principally engaged
in new media advertising business and platform certification
business in the PRC. Jiugi Technology and its subsidiaries
principally engaged in live broadcast operation and
education training business in the PRC. These acquisitions
were made with the objective to expand the Group’s value-
added telecommunication and related services business and
have been accounted for using the acquisition method. In
November 2021, the Group had disposed of 36% equity
interests for both investees.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

36. ¥%56t=)

R EHA

202148 K2021E5F  REBUR
LHREARK 1,020,000t WEEELEFR
RERAR(£E2RHE]) M51%KkiE - &
LAZE & B AR 1,020,000 7T W B L ER
M) BRAE ([ ERE]) B51% 8%
o SR RENBRAREZEFTEKS
FIREELSEB LT AREBER - NERE
MEWBAREEEFENSHEREES I
BEIIER - #TRSWERENENEE
AAEEMISESEE MABRGES - WE
i FAUBE SR ARR - 2021511 8 » A&EH
BHERIRE K 36% i -

TEMXRNERENARNEERBER

Jinliang Technology and Jiugi Technology as at the date of W BE QB A EEI T
acquisition was as follows:
Jinliang Jiuqi
Technology Technology Total
2ERH NERE #st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AREFIT AR®TFIT AREFIT
Purchase consideration transferred: 2 #E:EUREER(E :
Cash consideration RWEREB 1,020 1,020 2,040
Fair value: NE
Plant and equipment (note 16) = KR (Hfat 16) 1,574 67 1,641
Accounts receivable U BR ZR 14,727 - 14,727
Prepayments and other receivables T8 {< 518 K E h & Ui
FE 695 1,105 1,800
Bank balances and cash RITHHBEIR 2,623 142 2,765
Accounts payable TETBERR (15,285) - (15,285)
Other payables and accruals EL At < TR IE I E AT
ZH (13,716) (3,598) (17,314)
Net identifiable liabilities acquired B UsEE A &I & E)FE (9,382) (2,284) (11,666)
Non-controlling interests AR 4,597 1,119 5,716
Goodwill (note 18) EE (Hat 18) 5,805 2,185 7,990
Total consideration BRE 1,020 1,020 2,040
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An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

subsidiaries is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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36. ¥%&6tw)
RBEHR &)

BRAYENBARMNRSRESNWT

Jinliang Jiuqi
Technology Technology Total
ERE hERE st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARBTFT ARBTFT
Cash and cash equivalents paid ENREREEEEY (1,020) (1,020) (2,040)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired B ERS RES%
=t 2,623 142 2,765
Total net cash inflow/(outflow) FIRERACRh)
k) 1,603 (878) 725
Pro-forma BE

Each of Jinliang Technology and Jiugi Technology
contributed total revenue of RMB77,432,000 and
RMB1,490,000 respectively and contributed net loss of
RMB8,939,000 and RMB3,746,000 to the Group from their
respective acquisition date during the reporting period. Had
these companies been consolidated from 1 April 2021, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income would have shown pro-forma
revenue of RMB78,946,000 and loss for the year of
RMB13,144,000.

SERRENERMESEEREPNESES
BRI ARSI AREE BB AA
R # 77,432,000 7T & A R ¥ 1,490,000 7T BA
L EEEEFEAREKS939,000L AR
#3,746,000 7T ° W2 F A5 820214 B
1THREGAEAR e akEMmEmEK
mRBEREE WA AR 78,946,000 7T
FAEIE AR 13,144,000 7T °
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37.

186

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. HEKWE 2 E
As referred to in note 36, the Group disposed of 36% equity W36l AEERESEREK
interest in Jinliang Technology and Jiugi Technology, for NERE#36% k& - REMBRED 5
cash proceeds of RMB720,000 and RMB720,000, A AR #720,0007T & A R 720,000 7T °
respectively. Upon the disposal of 36% equity interest, the HE36% KRiEE AEEEREZEE K
Group has no right to appoint directors to either investee RETHWES  UHRKRETHTIEHEBE
and have any ceased to have control nor significant AEHIEREATESD - At ARERS
influence over both investees. The Group has accounted for ERBERAER B H R T 15% BRED I A
the remaining 15% equity interest in Jinliang Technology as E‘EEIJT’EE/AQZ@%AEEEEE?@QE&E@
financial assets at FVTPL and Jiugi Technology as equity qzﬁiﬁjkﬁ@i\ﬁ%ﬁ}m%ﬁﬁl% ° 'Z“gt%
instrument at FVTOCI since then. At the time of ceasing @Hq\;aﬂj%ﬁéﬁﬁ CHEREEARS
control, the net assets disposed of, gain on disposal and net RAHEBLT :
cash inflow thereof, were as follows:
Jinliang Jiuqi
Technology Technology Total
TERE hERE #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARETFIT ARETFIT
Net liabilities disposed of: EHEBETE:
Plant and equipment (note 76) B K skt (ffat 16) 1,989 478 2,467
Accounts receivable FEU AR K 5,217 122 5,339
Prepayments and other 815 FRIE Fo EAth fE Ui
receivables FIA 8,130 692 8,822
Bank balances and cash WITHHBRIR S 5,162 88 5,250
Accounts payable ETBRER (2,646) (859) (3,505)
Other payables and accruals E At < R IE R e AT
43 (36,173) (6,551) (42,724)
Goodwill (note 18) 2 (fzt 18) 5,805 2,185 7,990
(12,516) (3.845) (16,361)
Cash consideration IRWERE 720 720 1,440
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAEFEAE 12,516 3,845 16,361
Non-controlling interests IEVERRRE (8,977) (2,955) (11,932)
Fair value of retained interests REBERNHNTE 300 300 600
Gain on disposal &S W e 4,559 1,910 6,469
Cash consideration received 2UWIRERE - 720 720
Cash and cash equivalents disposed B HERERREZ
B4 (5,162) (88) (5,250)
Total net cash (outflow)/inflow FRE ORE),TRA
4% (5,162) 632 (4,530)
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38. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 38. RIRBERIFTEI

Hong Kong

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only
to the maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per
employee, which contribution is matched by the employees.

The PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
PRC government. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs as determined by
respective local government authority to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is
to make the specified contributions under the scheme.

)

ANE B2 EB A SRR FENEM R
20005 12 AR W8l - ZerEla
BEBYNWASREMNEE - AXTAZHN
EeHER -

HAEESTEKEMS AEBIZEBETE
FRAK) 5% MR B a8l - B RE
B 30,0008 TR TEKA AR - Bzt
BERHK—E -

 Efl

AEERTENER SBTERFEENS
LRABHFTEINKE - AEEAREKE
MEEEL B E BT RBAEEN TENX
RV E B D L HFABRNEN - NEEE
RKEMEE T M — B ERREAEEL

B o
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

39.

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flow were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

MBEBHELERENYER

TRANAKERYHADELABENE
B BRASMIFRSEDY - WKEPEL
MEBEERZSFHESRECHRRRERER
ENAKENGARERERDBERUTE
BELBRSRE

Bank and
other Lease Consideration
borrowings liabilities payable Total
RITR
HfaR HEAE EARE Bt
(Note 32) (Note 33) (Note 36)
(K17t 32) (K17E33) (K17t 36)
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTIT AREFT ARETFT ARETFIT
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A1 H = 6,339 = 6,339
Changes from financing cash &R RELH)
flows:
Interest paid 2115 2 (914) (811) - (1,725)
Repayment =% (26,000) (9,807) - (35,807)
Total changes from financing RIEIR &R EEH)
cash flows “aze (26,914) (10,618) - (37,532)
Other changes: Hib &g -
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BB B A &) 55,000 26,084 256,149 337,233
Lease commencement HEM® = 6,660 = 6,660
Exchange difference PE 5 =% - (1,259) = (1,259)
Interest expenses (Note 8) MERx< (Afats) 914 811 4,688 6,413
Total other changes Hih B @z 55,914 32,296 260,837 349,047
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

39. I EEIELEBNERE)

Bank and
other Lease Consideration
borrowings liabilities payable Total
HRITR
Hi g HEEE EARE st
(Note 32) (Note 33) (Note 36)
(H1e%32) (H15%33) (H1a%36)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT AREFT ARETFTT AREKTFIT
At 31 March 2021 and 7R20216F3H31H
1 April 2021 K2021F4H1H 29,000 28,017 260,837 317,854
Changes from financing cash &R EREELDH) :
flows:
Interest paid BT A (1,815) (1,311) = (3,126)
Repayment Bz (75,500) (25,346) (70,000) (170,846)
Addition NE 182,000 - - 182,000
Total changes from financing giE IR &K=& E)
cash flows Rk 104,685 (26,657) (70,000) 8,028
Other changes: E s -
Lease commencement HER® = 46,265 = 46,265
Lease termination MER I - (9,988) - (9,988)
Interest expense (Note 8) MEFZ (Mt 8) 7,094 1,311 8,662 17,067
Total other changes Hib 28485 7,094 37,588 8,662 53,344
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3 B31H 140,779 38,948 199,499 379,226
°
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40.

41.

190

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 32 and 36
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

The executive Directors are the key management personnel
of the Group. Details of their remuneration are disclosed in
Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged over years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash, borrowings and equity attributable to owner of
the Company, comprising share capital, retained profits and
other reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a periodical
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debt.

As at 31 March 2021, a subsidiary of the Group (i.e. ZZCF)
was regulated by the Securities and Futures Commission (the
“SFC") and was required to comply with certain minimum
capital requirements according to the rules of the SFC. The
required liquid capital according to the rules of the SFC was
HK$3,000,000 as at 31 March 2021. The management
monitored ZZCF's liquid capital regularly to ensure it meets
the minimum liquid capital requirement in accordance with
the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules
adopted by the SFC. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group disposed ZZCF.

40. BERFRS

41.

Bara IS HmARMFE32 M36 Azt 5
G REBRE E 2022 F %2021 93 A 31
BIEFEEEEFET TR -

AEBETEEEEABNME

HTEERAEBTIEEHEAR - TEF
EEASHM 2 FBWRBENR A MBRERMN
11

EXEREE

AEBEREEERNURRAS B E R
BREKE  RBEBE(LEBREDER

BRI RSB - SN - AEE S
BBESRS T -

/|

]

AEENEXAEBBRRITERLAS - B
ERARNRHEEARGER  BEEE R
B e A e Eo A i o

EEERRAEARRE - EARNREEN—
Mo BEEEETEARANARBALERER
HEANRR - RIFEZESNEEER - A&E
BB RCR ~ BETTHT A S = R AR D DA B
BITHEXBABRAERE A FHEER
BARGE -

R2021F3A318 * AEE B AT (A
FEEATERE) XEFRBPEEHER
ZEE([FESDRE  BABEHIESH
BEFHETHREEARETE - R2021F3 A
3NH BESRAUFMAEZIRBELRAE
3,000,000 T - EREETHEEFHEER
PEBREZRBEN  UBREBREEZS
Rz (BHRBE (FRER)RAD - M
HERBERBRE - BlE2022F3 A31H
IHFE AEBEHEPHEEATERE -
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The gearing ratio is computed by dividing the Group’s
borrowings by the Group’s equity as follow:

41. EXEREE &)

£ 18 b, 5 42 B 0 5 R DA S L P
SHEmT

2022 & 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Borrowings ETE 140,779 29,000
Total equity VR ARRE 1,091,253 1,015,631
Gearing ratio BELE 12.9% 2.9%
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 42. TR
Categories of financial instruments SRMI AR
2022 & 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Financial assets SREE
Equity instrument at FVTOCI RN EFAHE M2 E RS
ST A 15,564 1,328
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFESFABSENEMEE 4,880 5,061
Amortised cost SR 638,530 553,485
658,974 559,874
Financial liabilities sRasE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R AT ENSREE 442,389 360,854

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise of bank
balances and cash, loan receivables, deposits, accounts
receivable and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
accounts payable, other payables and accruals, consideration
payable, borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risks (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. There has been no change to the types of
the Group’s exposure in respect of financial instruments or
the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

AEENTIEZSRMTABERITEBRLR
& BURER  &RE  BUERREMBER
FE - BAVEAABSNEREE BN
R EREMNFERESER - AR
B BENEERE FHESBTANFE
REMERHE - EZFe R TARBNE
REEmERER(EEERR  FXER&E
ERER)  FERBRERBIERR © A
THHIEAIREZERBROEEK - EEEY
ZERBETERREE  UBRRREEX
HIRBUEE a1k o AR E SR T AMRE
Rk 2 IR E EIE LT ERR 2 77 A E
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 42. €T H(%®)
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEERBE
policies
Market risk % 2 Bz
Currency risk B¥mEpE
The Group's exposure to currency risk attributable to loan REEEGAERERBEEE I EE
receivables, deposits, accounts receivable, other assets and HENEKRER RS  EWER  HME
receivables, bank balances and other payables and accruals ENERFIE - RITEH R EAENFRIE KL
which are denominated in the currencies other than the EAEREANEERR BEEETETE
functional currency of the entity to which they related. The RS - DARRR NS SO EREUE S FE i o

management manages and monitors this exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency RIMEIAR - REBAIINEHENEREE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the rEEaEMNERENT
end of the reporting period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2022 F 20214 2022 & 20214

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTFRE ARETT AR®TT ARETT

US$ ETT - = 10,290 32,350
HK$ BT 7,497 4,391 28,741 84,992
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 42. €T B #@)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
a 5% increase/decrease in functional currency of respective
entities against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in post-
tax profit, where functional currency of respective foreign
entities had weakened 5% against the relevant foreign
currency. For a 5% strengthening of functional currency of
respective entities against the relevant foreign currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit
and the balances below would be negative.

MBEREEBERBEK )

5 E kR ()
BE¥mEp (&)
BB DT

A TSRES T TIRIEAAEER 2SS
HEINE 2 THE, B2 ES% EE 5% &
AEREEEABEANIREINNERR L E
BREMEIINEERSIRBEEBRAMERZ
BUREL R - HREDMEBEAINEGHE
ZHAXNERER - XNHEHIRL5%
ZINBERBERERFIHRE - U TEH
FORBBRENIE N - B ARSI E A
DR E¥ L ABINERES% - AR ERE
DR E¥ HABINETES% - Bl& EEF)
EEXRFENERZEE - MATNERERE -

USs$ HK$
3 BT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBEF T
2022 2022
Decrease in profit for the year F A S F R 429 1,061
2021 20214
Decrease in profit for the year F R ARk 4 1,351 3,365
®
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42.

194

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note 28 for
details). The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and deposits.

The management considers the cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from held
for trading investments. The Group’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity instruments operating in
securities and brokerage and internet industry sectors
quoted in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. If
the equity prices of the held for trading investments had
been 5% higher/lower (2021: 5%), post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 March 2022 would increase/decrease by
RMB191,000 (2021: RMB211,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value.

42. ST H %)

BREREEEERBE &)

5Bk ()
IET S

AEEJE S TR RITERBHENRENR
ENEER(FRHE28) AEENRE
MEFREREBEFRIRITHERREFRE
HEH N R F o

EEERRRFERTEHRARENRERE
MEEBRILTEA - B ELZF AR R
BURE DT ©

Hfth & m bR

AEEHBRRIFEEREELNBRERR -
AEENRERRIBETERTBHRIMR
METER R E SRR A R EBEITEE

HALER o

HEET T

AN RRE T TR IR RS B S AR E A&
B OETE - MEFEEERERE LR T
B£5% (20214 : 5%) r AR AFELHIRE
g HE2022F3A31BIEFENBRTEE
i A A8 A0, 8 A A R B8 191,000 7T (2021
& AR¥211,0007T) °
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group’s major customers are mostly
reputable public entities.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 24% (2021:
23%) of the total accounts receivable was due from the
Group's largest customer and 61% (2021: 62%) of the total
accounts receivable was due from the Group’s top five
customers as at 31 March 2022.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets of the Group as
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position,
respectively best represents the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk for accounts receivable,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, except for items that are subject to individual
evaluation, which are assessed for impairment individually,
the remaining accounts receivable are grouped under a
provision matrix according to internal credit rating based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment
histories for recurring customers and current past due
exposure for the new customers. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
model for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022,
respectively. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set
out below in this note.

42. M IT H %)

MBEREEBERBEK )

1= B B2 K 6l 18 5 1

ERZEAHEPZA > AEESRAAE
EEND ARG EEEEPNEREEER X
RERBFPHEERE RIFEFPZEEL
REFDBFRAMA - HEEEFET
E - AEFRFRBUIRETSHREARER -

AEENEIEEPAZHREERINAR

TE o

M2022F3A318 BREWERRBRRE 2
24% (20214 : 23%) REAEEZ AR
N REUBE FAEEE 7 61% (2021 45 : 62%) 3K
BASBERAEF  HAKBEHEEHREER
[R\Bx o

REREMR - AEEDRINEGE T BN
REJINBHEER TR E ENREERE
ESUNESEIR R -1 ﬁaT—HﬁH% KEI%
XM BRANAKERHEER

AREREEVERZEERR  AEEE
BEERE—XERAEECEERE &
Bz R EMERR R - DA RERENIRETT
BRI HAETS o AN - BB TE RIS
#918 B (EREITRE ) 40 - RIS IR
REREEEERPNERCHRETELNE
B iR - BEEREZEERKREETE
HH A EEFTRRBEER TN ETHA -
AN REBREZE2021F % 20224F3 A
BNALEFESRREBEESHEEEEENE
TRERFE - CEFRBENFBRNAKZET
K o
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables. As such, the directors of the Company
considered the risk over ECL to be immaterial after
considering counterparty financial background and
creditability. Accordingly, the loss allowance of other
receivables is measured under 12-month ECL in respect of
other receivables, amounting to RMB23,000 (2021:
RMB3,000) as at 31 March 2022.

Before granting the loan advances, the management of the
Group has obtained an understanding to the credit
background of the debtors and undertaken an internal
credit approval process. The management closely monitored
the subsequent settlement of the individual loan. The loss
allowance is individually measured at an amount equals to
12-month ECL since as there had been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In determining
the ECL for these assets, the Directors have taken into
account the financial position of the counterparties, the
industries they operate, as well as their latest available
operating results, in estimating the probability of default of
each of these financial assets occurring within their
respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss
upon default in each case. Based on assessment by the
Directors, the loss given default is low by reference to value
of collateral and repayment histories of the debtors. The
Directors consider the 12-month ECL for loan receivables is
insignificant.

. EMIT R

BREREEEERBE &)

1= B B2 K el 1B 51 (4)

MEMEWRIENS @ TEEBERE S ERN
R RBALHR TR RERFEEE M E
WREH R U B - KAAREERAELAEH
ﬁ@ﬁ@l&mlﬁmfﬂ“ EBEBREENZER

o A ARBEBERNERYE F MG
EEREEREAATEHREEEHBRBENR -
Eit - Efib R FIESERER12MAE
HEEREFTE - mEMERZIER 2022
FIAHMNELEHREEEEAAR
#23,0007C (20214 :« AR¥3,0007T) °

ERTERZA - AEEE E%ET%H?%%
ANEEESRIWETAREEEHLERF -
BEETYSRENERNRERLSR - JESTE%;E
ﬁfﬁﬂﬁ”‘ﬁuﬂﬂi‘EHMZﬁJEET@E’]/i\%E
EREE - RERB NS ERAREER

I mERE LTt EC%?EE%%%&E’JE\,HHEE
BN ERCERYFHNTBMRN - K
FREMETERESIHEERE - DAMAERT
EeRMEEAAEBRNGRRKEANE
R - AR EEBRTHEOEE - RiIZ
B Y2EERRNEEREBA
BRELLE  BOBREXRE -EERR
RURERN 12EARBEEERBTERX -
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12-month ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12-month ECL for bank balances is considered to

be insignificant.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

42. M IT H %)

MBEREEBERBEK )

1= B B2 K el B 5F 1 ()

HRZEHF I REBRREERBRTRE

,\%i&ﬁf

BRIFHIRTT

- AL IRITE R Z

EERBER - ARBEZE2EINERTR

HEBMBREERS

TRERBEEOBER

EBHBBENENFGARITESRNI12EATRE
HIEEER - REBFHERE - |RITEHRH
REAEREEBRKESTEK -

AREBENABEEE

Al

B RFHERIEATE

Category Description Accounts receivable Other receivables

51 EL R BR R B b B SR

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL — not 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due credit-impaired
amounts

KRR HFEFNENRARRE BXEEIME 2HEHEEER 2@ AEHEEEE
HASRIE — WEEERE

Watch list The counterparty frequently repays after  Lifetime ECL — not 12-month ECL
due dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired

BRAE HFEFRERIBRREN  HBEE 2HEBEEEBE 2@ ARBEEER
HEE — WEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources

Tr&E FRABEROERN I IORBETE ZHEPEEER S HFEMEEEE
SRk B )T R AR E LN — VB EERE — WEEERIE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired credit-impaired impaired

&8 ERBBRREEHREERE > HIRBEEERE 2 HRBEEER

— WEEERE — EERE
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 42, TERITE (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREEEERBE#)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 B3 Bz R B 71 (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRV AREEBETTEREZEEEBTE M
Group’'s financial assets which are subject to ECL SRMEENEERMRAE
assessment:
Financial assets External Internal Gross carrying amount
at amortised cost Notes credit rating  credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL as at 31 March
REBERATEN
THEE Mzt HBEEFR ABEEIR 2EAR2HEHEEESR R3A31 BEMEEAE

2022 & 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT

Accounts receivable 23 N/A Note Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 488,330 311,636
FEUER X TEA BiEE FHIRHEEEE (REERE)
Deposits and other 22,24 NIA Note 12-month ECL 43,382 26,726
receivables
&E REMERE NiER BsE REAEHEEESR
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 33,625 -

2HENEERR(EERE)

77,007 26,762
Loan receivables 21 NA Note 12-month ECL - 12,690
FEME NiERA BisE REAEBREESE
Bank balances and cash 27 IG* Note 12-month ECL 86,047 202,710
kEE REHR BisE REAEHEESSE
* Investment Grade — The Standard & Poor’s rating of the Group’s S RERE — XEBFERITEFPHIZEELZR
significant bank accounts TR
Note: As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies Wit - (EAREBEERREEN—HD  AEEHRHE
internal credit rating for its customers. The following table provides BREEABASEERL - TRIEEAEKRRR
information about the exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable ARZRE REMERZKE (D RIERZHEHRE
and deposits and other receivables which are assessed based on BB REERE X 128 A EHEE B R RTIE)
lifetime ECL provision matrix and 12-month ECL, respectively. WIEERBREENER -
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 42. €T B #@)

Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEERBE#®)
policies (Continued)
= B EBR R A E T 14 (&)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

31 March 2022
2022%3A318

31 March 2021
2021F3A831H

Deposits Deposits
Average  Accounts  and other Average Accounts  and other
Internal Credit rating REEETR loss rate  receivables receivables lossrate  receivable  receivables
EeRAM Te REM
FUERE  BRER  BRRE TOEBRX RUERR  RYTE
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR# AR# AR# AR ARE ARE
Gross carrying amount RRAE

Receivables carried forward from BB AR
acquired of subsidiaries* B A * - - 82,421 19,196
Low risk N 450,278 43,382 211,595 7,566
Watch list BRE 15,053 - 17,620 -
Doubtful gea 22,999 - - -
Loss BR - 33,625 - -
488,330 77,007 311,636 26,762

Loss allowances EERE

Receivables carried forward from G UEHEAT)
acquired of subsidiaries* FEm R 0.00% = = 0.00% 82 1
Low risk ERR 0.05% 177 3 0.05% 211 2
Watch list BRLE 0.87% 131 - 1.15% 17 =
Doubtful g3 12.0% 2,763 - NATER = =
Loss B 13.8%-100% - 9,761 - -
3,071 9,784 310 3

* The accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables acquired in
a business combination were initially measured at fair value. There is no
material difference had it been carried at gross carrying amount less ECL
allowance since acquisition. Accordingly, no expected credit loss

allowance is recognised for this balance during the year

RSB OHER 0 BRI R %2 R E M JE K
B A TEE B - (KB R ZREAREBRTR
B BEREEIIRATFEEXLA Bt -
F AR BLUL A5 R TE R (LR TR S BT IR AR
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

42. ST H %)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided RMB3,071,000
(2020: RMB310,000) impairment allowance for accounts
receivable, based on the lifetime ECL provision matrix.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided RMB9,784,000
(2021: RMB3,000) impairment allowance for deposits and
other receivables respectively, based on the 12-month ECL.

The following table shows a movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for accounts receivable under the

BREREEEERBE &)

1= B B2 K el 1B 51 (4)

At B R R YRR WG IR B AT F H A H
BECBRENRMT  URBARELE
X AN 3 55 7 BV ] JE 15 /O /TR 14 B BHE
E-gEEeTHRSOME  NEREREE
ERWGRENERER D EF -

R2022F3 318 AEBIRE 2 HTEH
EEEEREERRERERIGIRARE
3,071,000 7T (20204 : A R #¥310,0007T )
RO BB -

MR2022F3A31H AEERE12@AE
HEEBED gz e REAEUE IR IR
AR #9,784,0007T (20214 : AR 3,000
TC) HYRE R o

TRIITEAR A AR 3 T AR
mEBEREEEBNED -

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2 HIFEH 2 HITEH

FEEER FEBR
(X EEERE) (EERE) st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FIT ARBTFT ARBTFT
As at 1 April 2020 M2020F4 A1 H = = -
Expected credit losses recognised B HERTE B EEE 310 = 310
As at 31 March 2021 7R2021%F3 A31H 310 - 310
Provision of expected credit loss AR B SRR 2,761 - 2,761
As at 31 March 2022 M2022%3 A31H 3,071 - 3,071
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 42, TRITE (%)
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEERBE#®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEEEREREFE (EZ)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TRINREMIZ D N E A B R IBRER R E
that has been recognised for deposits and other receivables. BREERNEER
Lifetime ECL
12-month (credit-
ECL impaired) Total
ZHEH
1218 B A58 FEFE
EEER (FERE) e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARBTIT

As at 1 April 2020 M2020F4 A1 R = = =
Expected credit losses recognised 2 HERIEREEEE 3 - 3
As at 31 March 2021 720213 A31H 3 - 3
Provision of expected credit loss JEHA{= B S 1R B 20 9,761 9,781
As at 31 March 2022 R2022%F3 A31H 23 9,761 9,784
Liquidity risk HEE AR

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors REEBRDESRAR AEEERRERE
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed BERAATENRESRESEEYWKE - LA
adequate by the management to finance the Group's AASEZERTEESRFRERSTERE
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash T

flows.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 42. €T H (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREEEERBE#)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBEL R (E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRV AREFBIETESRBEZATEY
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. R - ZRDIRBEMEBGECRURE®
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted MERAEBEHEERNR 2T AR
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date B ZRPIEFMERAKEEHERE °

on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Repayable
Weighted  on demand Total
average or within More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year 1-5 years Syears  cash flows amount
g BRERY RER

FHME R-FARE 1855 SENE RERBER REE
%  RMB000  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
% ARBTL ARBTL ARBTLT ARETT ARKTI

At 31 March 2022 72022%3A31R
Accounts payable BT AR - 11,346 - - 11,346 11,346
Other payables and H b e T8 R et
accruals ZH - 51,817 - - 51,817 51,817
Consideration payable FERHK(E 4 70,000 140,000 - 210,000 199,499
Bank and other borrowings  $R77 Jt E-ftt £ 3% 5.35 140,779 = = 140,779 140,779
Lease liabilities HEAE 5.5 2,115 18,975 - 41,090 38,948
296,057 158,957 - 455,032 442,389
At 31 March 2021 12021%3A31A
Accounts payable FERTERR - 10,564 - - 10,564 10,564
Other payables and H b e 7008 R JE st
accruals ER = 32,436 = = 32,436 32,436
Consideration payable ERH(E 4 70,000 210,000 - 280,000 260,837
Borrowings fEE 5.35 29,000 = = 29,000 29,000
Lease liabilities HERE 5.5 13,765 15,141 2,877 31,783 28,017
155,765 225,141 2,877 383,783 360,854
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

0]

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of the year. The information
about how the fair values of these financial assets are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used) are disclosed in respective notes.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their fair value.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and

Level 3.

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2022

43. €@ T EZ AV EFE

()

AEBBERMEEEUATE
HEZSMEAERSMAMS
AFE

AEBEZETEREENRFRZA
FEME - BRFeMEELTFEN
EEE(LERMAMGETERZ2E)
BRNERBENESHEE

EERREAMBARNRPIREHK
AL EREENTRABBE KA
BEANFERS -

H E2022F K2021E3A318 IF &
E F—MN F_RB/NE=ZH MBI
fEEE o

20223 531 B2 A FEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& ER E=H st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fir AR%Fr AR%®FrT AR%Frn
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL 1R A FEzF ABEH
BRLEE 4,580 - 300 4,880
Unquoted equity BRAFEGFAEMS
instrument at FVTOCI TE L 2 ) 0 ¥
mITHE - - 15,564 15,564
4,580 - 15,864 20,444
®
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2021

43. €T A2 AV EFE®E)

AEEREEHEEEUQFE
AECEREERSHMEEZ
DR EE)

R2021FE3 531 HZ A FEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—H FE_H E=R FEE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETFIT ARKEFT AREFT ARETT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL 1R A {EZF ABZRAY
TREE 5,061 - - 5,061
Unquoted equity BEAFEGFAEME
instrument at FVTOCI T Wi s ) fER SR (B
3%TH - - 1,328 1,328
5,061 - 1,328 6,389
(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) F=MAFEFTEMNLHIER
measurement
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARSFr
Opening balance HRA & 4 1,328 -
Acquired from the acquisition of SR G NG
subsidiary - 4,563
Retained interest in former subsidiaries AT B A FIRIRE RS
(note 37) (Ktat37) 600 -
Arising from settlement of receivables (A4 E fEWFRIAE 4 13,936 -
Total gain or loss Wk B iR
— in profit or loss —Ba - =
— in other comprehensive income — HEmh 2 mEs - (3,235)
Closing balance HR#R At o 15,864 1,328
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF 43. ST Az AVETE#®)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) E=RLAFETENHERZ)
measurement (Continued)
Significant Relationship of
Fairvalueasat  Fairvalue  Valuation technique (s)and  unobservable unobservable inputs
Financial assets 31 March hierarchy  key input(s) input(s) to fair value
TEESHHE
eREE W3IAMNAZATE ATEER #EFERIESH EXTTERESY ATENBE
W2F 20215
RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBFR AREFT
Unquoted equity 1,328 1,328 Level 3 Market approach — in the Market multiples The higher the market
investment at FVTOCI approach, the appraisal value multiples, the higher
— 12.14% equity is based on the market fair value
investment in a private capitalisation of the entities in
company in the PRC similar industries with Discount of lack of  The higher the discount,
consideration of marketability ~ marketability the lower fair value
of discount
BRATESAEMZERK F=H migE—EZAEN  TEE  HEEH mHiEgEs - ATE
RNERERERE ENRERERNITRND HE
— R E-FERAR B E - TR RMENT
A 12.14% iR Vit RemmnEt  BREE ATEWE
Unquoted equity 14,236 - Level 3 Discounted Cash Flow method  Discount rate The higher the discount,
investment at FVTOCI the lower fair value
— equity investment in
3 private company in
the PRC
BRAVESAEMRZER F= ERBReRER gk FREE  ATEEE
BNERERER
E—RPE-BRA
RAMERRE
Unquoted equity 300 - Level3 Discounted Cash Flow method  Discount rate The higher the discount,
investment at FVTPL the lower fair value
— equity investment in
3 private company in
the PRC
BRAVESABRNER F=& ERReRER gk RS ATEEE

[ERERE— NTE
—ARLARRINEER
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44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. ZRABINKE D RFE
COMPANY

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the MEARAEBETENWB A RIAEEE
reporting period are set out below: T:

Particulars of
issued share

Place of capital/  Attributable of interest
establishment/ registered held by the Group
Name of subsidiary operations capital as at 31 March Principal activities
BRITRE/ M3A31R
WEARER R/ EEH HAMERFE  AREMEEREL  TEXR
2022F 20214
% %
Continuing operations
REREER
KingNine Holdings Limited Cayman Islands US$1,548 100 100 Investment holding
KingNine Holdings Limited HERS 1,548 T REER
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.*  The PRC US$10,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(notes 1 and 5)
ERENRARAR i 10,000,000 7T REZR
(Hist1k5)
Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., The PRC RMB100,000,000 100 100 Back-office services
Ltd.* (“DaLian Kingwisoft")
(note 1)
AESERENBEBNERRA H AR%100,000,0007C %8R
(TRELEHE1)
Shenzhen Kingwisoft Data The PRC RMB33,500,000 100 100  Data centre services
Servcices Co., Ltd*
AT ERESBREER o AR 33,500,000 70 SE DO R
NG
Qingdao Nanyou Information The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Back-office services
Technology Co., Ltd* (note 2)
EEEBEARMERAR H AR 10,000,000 70 & B R%
(H:t2)
Dalian Kingwisoft Internet Service  The PRC RMB 100,000,000 100 100  Back-office services
Outsourcing Co., Ltd.*
RECZRERBREINRER B A& % 100,000,000 70 & B R%
NG|
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44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

44. X QTFIKE A RS (@)

COMPANY (Continued)
Particulars of
issued share
Place of capital/  Attributable of interest
establishment/ registered held by the Group
Name of subsidiary operations capital as at 31 March Principal activities
BRTRE/ M3A318
i)z NGRS R,/ EE b IMERFHE  AREMSERGL  TBER
20225 20215
% %
Chengdu Rongzhi Hudong The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Comprehensive marketing
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note 2) services
HEBRE BB AR A FE AR® 10,000,000 7T 2ELHRY
(Hizt2)
Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
BRESERENRERAR g AR™ 10,000,000 7T & A R%
(Hr2)
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100  Back-office services
Ltd.* (note 2)
L2 ERENEARAA F AR® 10,000,0007T ‘e
(Hizt2)
Kunshan Kingwisoft Information ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100  Back-office services
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
BILEEEENRERAR H AR® 10,000,000 7T & AR
(Hiz#2)
Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services  The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note2)
KB ERBEBREEBAR  HE AR® 10,000,0007T ‘A MR%
(Hriz2)
Luzhou Kingwisoft Technology The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
EMEREHBRBERLR HE AR 10,000,000 7T & AR5
(Miz2)
Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Back-office services
Technology Co., Ltd.* (hote 2)
ELeEEHRANEERAT F AR 10,000,000 7T ®akRB
(Hizt2)
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44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. XN THME QR FE @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Particulars of
issued share
Place of capital/  Attributable of interest
establishment/ registered held by the Group
Name of subsidiary operations capital as at 31 March Principal activities
BRITRA/ M3A318
WEARER BRI/ EEH HAMERFE  AREREEREL  FEXRE
2022% 20214
% %
Dalian Zhiyin Internet Technology ~ The PRC RMB28,000,000 60 60  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
(“Dalian Zhiyin”)
AERREMBRURERRAE  F AR 28,000,0007C & e R%
(Ha2)(TREBHR])
Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan The PRC RMB10,000,000 60 60  Back-office services
Internet Service Co., Ltd.*
(note 2)
BHEeENETRBREER  PE AR 10,000,000 & e k%
REI(KaE2)
ZZCI Corporate Services Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Provision of corporate services
PEERPEREERA A 0] 18T REECRREG
Discontinued operations
BRLERENEYR
ZZCI Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,141,140 = 100  Provision of corporate advisory
and investment advisory
services
PEERCERERRAA B30 10,141,140 T R E R RIREBERRG
77 Capital International (US) LLC ~ USA - = 100 Money lending
7Z Capital International (US) LLC - £
Asian Capital (Qianhai) Investment  The PRC US$400,000 - 100 Investment holding
Management Limited* (note 5)
AL TREREESER $E 400,000 7T REER
BBRRA (H7E5)
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44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

note 1:DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries (collectively the “DalLian
Kingwisoft Group”), which are among the entities acquired in the
Acquisition, engage in business of provision of value-added
telecommunications services that is subject to restrictions imposed by
relevant PRC laws on foreign investors of foreign-invested
telecommunication enterprises which engage in the provision of
value-added telecommunications services.

Due to such restrictions under the relevant PRC laws, and as advised
by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, it was not viable for
KingNine to directly hold any equity ownership in the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group. Instead, KingNine, in line with common practice in
industries in the PRC subject to restrictions imposed by the PRC laws
on relevant foreign investors and/or foreign ownership on foreign-
invested enterprises, achieves effective control over, and receives the
entire economic benefits generated by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group
through a series of contractual agreements entered between
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (£ EmMERFHERAF]) (the
“WFOE"), an indirect wholly foreign owned subsidiary of KingNine
established in the PRC, on one hand, and each of the Dalian
Kingwisoft and its registered shareholders, on the other hand (the
“Contractual Arrangements”).

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group, has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the Dalian Kingwisoft Group, and is considered to have control over
the DaLian Kingwisoft Group. Consequently, the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group is considered to be subsidiaries of the Group and the financial
statements of the DaLian Kingwisoft Group are included in the
Group's consolidated financial statements from 15 October 2020, the
date of the Completion.

However, there are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
application of current and future PRC laws and regulations which
could affect the Company’s ability to exercise control over the DalLian
Kingwisoft Group, its right to receive substantially all of the economic
interest generated by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group, and its ability to
consolidate the financial results of the DaLian Kingwisoft Group into
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Company believes
that, based on the legal opinion obtained from the Company’s PRC
legal adviser, the Contractual Arrangements are legally binding and
enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and regulations.

note 2: These are subsidiaries of DaLian Kingwisoft.

note 3: The above summary lists only the subsidiaries which, in the opinion of
the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

note 4. Except for KingNine Holdings Limited, the above principal subsidiaries
are all held indirectly by the Company.

note 5: These are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

note 6: None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.

& English name for identification only

44. RN BIWKHEB D BFE @

Hat -

HiaE2 -

HiaE3 -

Hiat4 -

HiaESs -

Hiate -

RESBREMBAR (G [ KESSEKE))
RUBEETRBNER Y — KRR
EEEREEL YAXAETBEZEHKESE
R{EEEEREMNIIBRETFEROINE
REENRS)

AR AR EERE T BRI RHEAR
B R BEEZRERATE A - KingNine BB R B
KBS EE BT AR T E AT - HiR
BREIPEEAEHEBINEREER SINE
1 EE K INE FT A REHE AN ,2 PR 1 AT AR BR A9 o B 1T
¥ —RIEH - KingNineZBEERERBFHR
NEl([INEBE R E ] - KingNine 1A A BIAK 37 #9
MENEBEMNBAR) BERESEREERD
BRIV —RIEOTE(TEOLTE]) G
HRNESBEENZHRIEGE  WERKES
SEEELSNHDIPLCER -

HAREHNLTH  FEBARZEL2ERNESE
SEMBHAIEESE WHEHNEREHE
SELENE NV EZSOR  BtERE
FIRECEER - At - KESEEERKRA
REEHBAR  BRESEEENTHREK
52020410 A 15 B (W EIH TR B B) 6
AREBIREMBHRERA -

R RATRARRPEDER AR E R E
REETHBRER  JRFEARRTEHAKN
B BEEENENES AR ﬂEEJ:LBZHX
ARECEBEEELEN DR EMNEOER -
RARGRES B E A4 @?)\ZKE@
ZW\EM%E%%E’] EN o ARRRBA - ERAA
ARTEERERABHRERER  aO%H
BEERHRT - At A EERRT
FEDARROAR ©

ZERRRRNES BB A
LA EREI N EERREIBETEASEREA

HEEMNMBAR - iR EmiTE QR
B EFERRAUGEEENTTE -

B KingNine Holdings Limited #h » it 3 Z i} &
NEHBAARRAEERSE -

ZENFRINEBERRE -

S

B R RN E R BT EMEBES
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44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

44. AR TFIKE R RS (@)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material BAEASEIERERIER BB A RHEE
non-controlling interests 15

TRIVREEERFEREENARE S
BB QRS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

210

interests:

Proportion of

Place of ownership (Loss)/profit

incorporation interests and allocated to Accumulated

and principal voting rights held non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business by non-controlling interests interests

FIEBESRH

FEAR 7 3 2 & AN DEEIFERER
il =YNCIEE ] ZEEME, - BREERELL 8 (E518),m A RETIEERAE RS
20214 20214 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT
Dalian Zhiyin Dalian 40% 1,023 12,871
REGR A&
Individual immaterial subsidiaries with non controlling interests (300) 2,856
BAIEEBRER O ERFEERMBA
723 15,727
Proportion of
Place of ownership (Loss)/profit
incorporation interests and allocated to Accumulated
and principal voting rights held non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business by non-controlling interests interests
FERERER
AE R 3 3t B HNEEER IREFERER
(o) PNCECE TEEXBR REELH i (B518) &5 H Rt ERER
2022 F 20225 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Dalian Zhiyin Dalian 40% 2,840 15,711
REBEIR RiE
Jinliang Technology (note 37) Shanghai 49% (4,380) -
S EBRHR (A 37) =
Jiugi Technology (note 37) Dalian 49% (1,836) -
JVERHR (A7 37) RiE
Individual immaterial subsidiaries With non controlling interests (19) 4,437
BAIER RN ERFEAMEA
(3,395) 20,148
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44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44,
COMPANY (Continued)

Summerised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiary that has material non- controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

ARATKE R TFE @)

BRATA EA R et ) A SR E B R 7]
WM BERR T T - AT E R
EHIARFTEERNRRIFLHANTH -

Dalian Zhiyin KEER
2022 F 2021 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Current assets MEBE 39,161 32,835
Non-current assets EMBIEE 5,314 3,566
Current liabilities mBaE (4,892) (4,223)
Non-current liabilities IERBERE (304) =
Equity attributable to owners of the NARHEE ANEERER
Company 23,568 19,307
Non-controlling interests of Dalian Zhiyin A8 %5 I8 JE1& i i 2 15,711 12,871
Revenue WA 58,225 26,398
Expenses fi sz (51,124) (23,841)
Profit and total comprehensive income FRmF R EEWR AR
for the year 7,101 2,557
Profit and total comprehensive income iN/NEIE ¥ SNy DA TR
attributable to owners of the Company ~ #542%8 4,261 1,534
Profit and total comprehensive income AR IR = R A &
attributable to the non-controlling FENEBRE
interest of Dalian Zhiyin 2,840 1,023
Profit and total comprehensive income F RN &R EE
for the year 7,101 2,557
Net cash inflow from operating activities A% & EE)IR &7 A JF 58 1,171 (4,708)
Net cash outflow from investing activities & /&I &7 H 558 (1,510) (552)
Net cash outflow from financing activities Fl& /&8I 7% HF5E (160) =
Net cash outflow MR FEE (499) (5,260)
®
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45. AR F 2 I BERRRKRREE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2022 & 20214
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
k3 ARYMT T ARBFT

Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B RRIMIEE 43 1,012,370 1,032,276
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note) JEUYHIE N BIZRIE (HfaE) 47,241 179,001
Plant and equipment R K 3% 1 23 23 26
Total non-current assets FRBEELEE 1,059,634 1,211,303
Current assets REBEE
Other assets and receivables (note) Hih B E R EWGRE (M) 416 396
Bank balances and cash (note) IRITHEBRIRE (HaE) 11,919 1,092
Total current assets REEEME 12,335 1,488
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HAb eI R BT E A 1,671 919
Amounts due to subsidiaries TERB B A B FIa 741 17,681
Consideration payables FERR(E 70,000 70,000
Total current liabilities REEEREE 72,412 88,600
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (AEFH) EEFE (60,077) (87,112)
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Consideration payables ERRE 129,499 190,837
Total non-current liabilities FRBABEEE 129,499 190,837
Net assets EEZFE 870,058 933,354
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of the AN @B ARGz

Company

Share capital P& A 35,395 35,395

Reserves Tt 834,663 897,959
Total Equity s 870,058 933,354
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45. D8 2 B AR R K i ()

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Note: ECL for amounts due from subsidiaries, other assets and receivables Hiat - FEURFHE A R] - Bt & E R EFIEIA RIRTTHE
and bank balances and cash are assessed on a 12-month ECL basis as HRBESHEHEEBBR12EAEHEERSE
there had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial HAEETIE  RERRBVFERNKEEER
recognition and impairment allowance is considered to be R I R E R E R AL TERX o
insignificant.

Movement in the Company'’s reserves ARTFZ@EEE

Share Contributed

premium surplus  Translation Accumulated

(note) (note) reserve loss Total
R EE AR

(Kfzt) (Kizt) B RiER st

RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTT ARKTT AREFLT ARETE

At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A 1H 584,124 16,655 58,981 (112,238) 547522
Share issued BT’ 360,528 = = = 360,528
Profit and total comprehensive loss £ U3 7l 2 218

of the year ERER = = (17,737) 7,646 (10,091)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 2021463 A318 Rk

2021%4A1H 944,652 16,655 41,244 (104,592) 897,959
Transfer between reserves FRiERER - (16,655) - 16,655 =
Profit and total comprehensive loss 4RI F & 2 EEE
for the year B - - - (63,296) (63,296)
At 31 March 2022 202243 A31H 944,652 - 41,244 (151,233) 834,663
Note: The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair et - ANRRIMEAZBERIER LT RIAR R EH W EE R M
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the BRAARMN AT EBBRILETIRMEEITH
reorganisation prior to the Listing, over the nominal value of the RN B RAD E{E A EREE -

Company’s shares issued in exchange thereafter.
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46.

47.

214

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 12 May 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer
framework agreement with Sichuan Zhiyunan Fanglue Data
Technology Group Co., Ltd. (“the Vendor”) , pursuant to
which the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell and the Group
conditionally agreed to purchase 40% of equity interest in
Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan Internet Service Co., Ltd. (the
“Target Company”) at a consdieration of RMB5,000,000.
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has 60% of equity interest
in the Target Company.

The transaction is completed on 10 June 2022 and the
Target Company became the wholly subsidiary of the
Group.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of the Company on 21
June 2022.

46.

47.

BERRER

M202265H 128 - AEEHETJIBEA
BEBREEER AR ([EF ) FT ik
HZIERGZ  BUBEABKRERAELE -
MASEEEKHREEESRGSEZURTH
HRBBHR AR BZERFRI40% BRHE
R{E & AR% 5,000,000 ° 202243 A
31 H - AEE%S B IZARA60% i -

ZRXFHN2022F6 H10H =K MBEAQ
RAKAREENZEWNB AR -

HEESR S I RER

SEEMBBEREN2022F6 A21 BERR
REFe & MRETEE -
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEBRNBEREFREE 2 EXENREE &
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,  RIEFEAREZHE (HiEtEE O T3 2 R EZIT T
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and ¥Rk @ WK F5|FHHE (WER))HN T :
re-presented/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

2021/22F 20202149  2019/20%  2018/194F  2017/184
Re-presented Re-presented Re-presented Re-presented
&7 RED RE7 &7

(Note)

(Hzt)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

RESULTS B4

Revenue ON 865,670 264,368 15,096 3,367 224,368
Profit (loss) before tax BA AR A (E518) 84,016 41,339 1,583 (242,925) 22,757
Income tax expense FriSHiFx (12,886) (10,648) (170) (696) (5,108)

Profit (loss) for the year from FREBEREEK

continuing operations m (E18) 71,130 30,691 1,413 (243,621) 17,649
Profit/(loss) for the year from FREKEEEN
discontinued operations ¥%mr,/ (E7) 5,825 (3,815) = = -
Profit/(loss) for the year FRRF(ER) 76,955 26,876 1,413 (243,621) 17,649
Attributable to: AN AZRE(
Owners of the Company VUNCIE 2N 80,350 26,153 1,413 (243,621) 17,649
Non-controlling interests I e (3,395) 723 - - -
76,955 26,876 1,413 (243,621) 17,649
'
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

As at 31 March
M3A31H
2022 F 20214 20204 20194 20184
Re-presented Re-presented Re-presented Re-presented
r53| RE7 S==p ] 3=y
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Total assets BEE 1,574,100 1,415,441 668,692 613,220 809,723
Total liabilities Bafd (482,847)  (399,810) (20,062) (8,322) (16,154)
Net assets BETE 1,091,253 1,015,631 648,630 604,898 793,569
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company AATHEA 1,071,105 999,904 648630 604,898 793,569
Non-controlling interests FEVEIRIE RS 20,148 15,727 - - -

1,091,253 1,015,631 648,630 604,898 793,569

Note: The financial services segment has been classified as discontinued operations /st © @ RRE D HEREZE 2022F3 A31 B ILFE S FAN
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has re-presented SEMNEBRIEGCENER  AEEE R ET 202021
the comparative information in 2020/21 in this regard. FEMLBRER -
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